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FormFactor, the FormFactor logo and its producttecinology names, including ATRE, BladeRunner, Bddst, Harmony,
MicroSpring, MicroForce, RapidSoak, SmartMatrix, SRIT Matrix 100, TouchMatrix, OneTouch, Takumi, TREueScale and TrueScale
Lite, MicroProbe, the MicroProbe logo, QiLin, Mx#&Pitch, Vx-MP, Vx-RF and Apollo are trademarksewyistered trademarks of
FormFactor, Inc. in the United States and othentrges. All other trademarks, trade names or sermarks appearing in this Annual Repor
Form 10-K are the property of their respective omsne

Throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we réfeFormFactor, Inc. and its consolidated subsieaas "FormFactor,” "we," "us,"
and "our". Our fiscal years end on the last Satuiddecember. Our last three fiscal years endeDerember 25, 2010 , December 31, 2011
and December 29, 2012 .




Table of Contents

NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwarddimg statements within the meaning of the Se@siExchange Act of 1934 and
the Securities Act of 1933, which are subject $sgiand uncertainties. The forward-looking stateém@rtiude statements concerning, among
other things, our business strategy (includingcipdited trends and developments in, and managepteerd for, our business and the marke
which we operate), financial results, operatingiltss revenues, gross margin, operating expensedygts, projected costs and capital
expenditures, research and development prograes, &ad marketing initiatives and competition. dme cases, you can identify these
statements by forward-looking words, such as "mawpjght,” "will," "could," "should," "expect," "pla," "anticipate," "believe," "estimate,"
"predict," "intend" and "continue," the negativepbural of these words and other comparable tertogyo The forward-looking statements are
based on information available to us as of thadiliate of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and @urent expectations about future events,
which are inherently subject to change and invoisies and uncertainties. You should not place undliance on these forward-looking
statements. We undertake no obligation to updatefthese statements for any reason. Actual evamnssults may differ materially from
those expressed or implied by these statementsdigious factors, including but not limited teetmatters discussed below, in the section
entitled "lItem 1A: Risk Factors", and elsewheréhis Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Our operating results have fluctuated in the padtae likely to continue to fluctuate. As a reswi believe you should not rely on
period-to-period comparisons of our financial résals indicators of our future performance. Somta@important factors that could cause out
revenues, operating results and outlook to fluetdiam period-to-period include:

e customer demand for and adoption of our prod
» market and competitive conditions in our industhng semiconductor industry and the economy as de;

e our ability to improve operating efficiency tohaeve operating cash flow break even in the ctitbesiness environment and to
better position our company for long-term, profieagrowth;

» our ability to realize the benefits of certain dedd tax attribute

» the timing and success of new technologies andyetadtroductions by our competitors and by

e our ability to work efficiently with our customeos their qualification of our new technologies gmdducts

» our ability to deliver reliable, costffective products that meet our customers' tegstigirements in a timely mann

e our ability to transition to new product arclaitgres and to bring new products into volume pr¢idnoon time and at acceptable
yields and cost

» our ability to implement measures for enablifficeencies and supporting growth in our desigrplagations, manufacturing and
other operational activities;

« our ability to integrate successfully and effitfly the operations of Astria Semiconductor Hajgininc., including its major
subsidiary, MicroProbe Inc. (together "MicroProhe")

» the reduction, rescheduling or cancellation of csd® our customet

e our ability to collect accounts receivables owechy customer

* our product and customer sales mix and geograpsatas mix

e areduction in the price or the profitability ofrquroducts

» the availability or the cost of components and mialte utilized in our product

e our ability to efficiently optimize manufactugrcapacity and to stabilize production yields asessary to meet customer demand
and ramp production volume at our manufacturingifess;

e our ability to protect our intellectual propedgainst third parties and continue our investnmrentsearch and development and
design activities;
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» any disruption in the operation of our manufactgtiacilities
» the timing of and return on our investments in agske and developme
* macroeconomic events that impact global buyingeinggal and the semiconductor industry in partic@ac

» seasonality, principally due to our customers' pasing cycle:

The impact of one or more of these factors mighseaour operating results to vary widely. If oureeues, operating results or outlook
fall below the expectations of market analystsnwestors, the market price of our common stockatdekline substantially. You should
carefully consider the numerous risks and uncdrtsmlescribed above and in such sections.

PART |
Item 1: Business

We design, develop, manufacture, sell and suppedigion, high performance advanced semiconducademprobe card products and
solutions. Semiconductor manufacturers use ournyafibe cards in the front-end of the semiconductanufacturing process to perform sort
and test on the semiconductor die, or chips, amaiconductor wafer. A wafer probe card is mounted prober, which in turn is connected to
a semiconductor tester. The wafer probe card id asan interface to connect electrically with tesl individual chips on a wafer. Using our
wafer probe cards to test at this stage of the faatwring process, our customers can reduce tbsiraf test by identifying defective chips
prior to incurring the time and costs of packagiedective chips after singulation. We work closelth our customers on product design, as
each wafer probe card is a custom product thaidsific to the chip and wafer designs of the cugiom

We were incorporated in 1993 and we introducedficstrwafer probe card based on our MicroSpring@iiaonnect technology in 1995.
Historically, sales for wafer probe cards for tegtDynamic Random Access Memory, or DRAM, devicagehmade up the majority of our
revenues. In October 2012, we completed the admuisdf Astria Semiconductor Holdings, Inc., inclnd its subsidiary MicroProbe, Inc.,
(together "MicroProbe acquisition"). The majoritiyMicroProbe's revenue is made up of sales of warfelbe cards for testing System-Ghip,
or SoC devices.

Our business is generally subject to the cycligalftthe semiconductor industry. In fiscal 2008thgh 2012, our financial performance
was negatively impacted not only by semiconductdustry specific events, but also by global maaronomic issues and by product transi
and other business execution challenges. In f2@@8, our revenue declined 55% from our fiscal 2@¥&nue level, as the global economic
crisis was accompanied by a collapse in demandeiariconductor chips in general, and for DRAM chippatrticular. In fiscal 2009, we were
late in our development and introduction of a cotitipe next-generation wafer probe card for memaeyices and our revenue declined 36%
from our fiscal 2008 revenue level. These drantaienue drops were accompanied by gross margitealgak resulting in operating losses in
both fiscal 2008 and 2009. In fiscal 2010, our maeincreased by 39% over fiscal 2009, but theuat@in and qualification of our Matrix
architecture-based wafer probe cards took longar e anticipated at many customers, which nedgtirgacted demand and revenues from
our DRAM and Flash memory wafer probe cards. We adslized an operating loss in fiscal 2010.

In fiscal 2011, total sales for the global semiagetdr market were relatively unchanged comparezDid. The moderate growth in St
and NAND Flash devices was offset by substantidlicéons in DRAM and NOR Flash devices. The DRAM &0OR weakening was severe
in the second half of 2011 due to the impact ofiléhd flooding on personal computer output andrsglprice erosion for DRAM
semiconductor devices. In Fiscal 2012, DRAM devigzerienced a continued weakening, particularhesecond half of the year, due to
lower personal computer demand and falling semiaotadt prices. Our sales declined 10% in fiscal 26drhpared to fiscal 2010, and declined
6% in fiscal 2012 compared to fiscal 2011, exclgdime impact of the MicroProbe acquisition. We imed operating losses in both fiscal
years.

We acquired MicroProbe to better address the chgmdgmand in the type of semiconductor devicesishasulting from the structural
change in the computing industry from a PC focus toobile computing focus. The acquisition of Mrobe enables us to leverage the
combination of two advanced wafer probe card maniufars and expand our SoC product portfolio tediify our business. Since our
acquisition of MicroProbe, we have been workingaingle worldwide organization to combine our ¢alitées in technologies. The
acquisition created the largest probe card supjlifre semiconductor industry. Combined we belieeehave the broadest portfolio of
products and the largest customer service and supgm@nization in the industry.
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With the acquisition of MicroProbe, we can now assemiconductor manufacturers in bringing new gaiens of SoC devices to
market faster and more economically. SoC devicelsidie microprocessors, graphic processors, mo&i®frequency ("RF"), and analog and
mixed-signal products - imperative drivers of todagophisticated, multi-functional consumer mob#wices.

MicroProbe experienced steady growth from 20080tb22and in 2011, was ranked as the number oneisupplhdvanced non-memory
probe cards by VLSI Research, Inc. This growth atadbutable to two factors including the acceledabverall market migration to advanced
probe cards for SoC chip testing, along with tmersj adoption of MicroProbe's advanced MEMS-baseduyrts at leading edge mobile SoC
chip manufacturers.

Products

Our products are based on our proprietary techimedogncluding our MicroSpring interconnect teclowpt and design tools. Our
MicroSpring interconnect technology, which includesilient spring-like contact elements, enabletoyzroduce wafer probe cards for
applications that require reliability, speed, psami and signal integrity. We manufacture our M&pang contact elements through precision
micro-machining and scalable semiconductor-likearédbrication processes. Our MicroSpring contaotssprings that optimize the relative
amounts of force on, and across, a bond pad dthiantest process and maintain their shape andgositer a range of compression. These
characteristics allow us to achieve reliable, eleak contact on either clean or oxidized surfageduding bond pads on a wafer. MicroSpring
contacts enable our wafer probe cards to make bdedif thousands of touchdowns with minimal maiatee for many device applications.
The MicroSpring contact can be attached to manfases, or substrates, including printed circuitrdeasilicon wafers, ceramics and various
metalized surfaces.

We are continually improving our proprietary tectogies in order to respond to our customers' irgingarequirements to test smaller,
faster and more complex semiconductor devices. d¥érwe to invest in research and developmentitiesvaround our interconnect
technologies, including our microelectromechansyaitems, or MEMS technology, as our MicroSpringtaots need to scale in size with the
continuing evolution of semiconductors.

Our MicroSpring contacts include geometrically psedip structures. These tip structures are thegbaur wafer probe cards that come
into physical contact with the devices being teséell are manufactured using proprietary micro-riméiet), semiconductor-like processes.
These tip structures enable precise contact withlldsond pad sizes and pitches. Our technologywalifor the design of specific geometries of
the contact tip that deliver precise and prediegabéctrical contact for a customer's particulgliaption.

Our wafer probe cards are custom products thadesigned to order for our customers' unique wadsigths. For high parallelism
memory test applications, our products requiredangea contact array sizes because they must acmtatentens of thousands of simultaneous
contacts. Our current technology, including ourppietary advanced tester resource enhancemenfTREAechnology, enables probe cards
certain applications to be populated with over @6,6ontacts. This requirement poses fundamentéecigas that our technology addresses,
including the planarity of the array, the force de@ to make contact and the need to touch all padd with equal accuracy. We have
developed wafer probe cards that use array singgn@ from 23 mm by 23 mm up to array sizes suitdbt contacting all die on a 300 mm
wafer simultaneously.

We have invested and intend to continue to invessiderable resources in our wafer probe card desigls and processes. These tools
and processes enable automated routing and tnagth ladjustment within our complex multi-layer ped circuit boards and greatly enhance
our ability to rapidly design and lay out compleainped circuit board structures. Our proprietargida tools also enable us to design wafer
probe cards particularly suited for testing tod&ys voltage, high power chips, which require simepower supply performance. Our
MicroSpring interconnect technology is used to jmewa very low inductance, low resistance electpeth between the power source and the
chip under test.

Because our customers typically use our wafer poalés in a wide range of operating temperatueepaosed to conducting wafer
probe tests at one predetermined temperature, wedesigned complex thermal compensation charatitsrinto our products, including our
proprietary RapidSoak thermal compensation teclyyold/e select our wafer probe card materials afieeful consideration of the potential
range of test operating temperatures and desigwafar probe cards to provide for a precise matith the thermal expansion characteristics
of the wafer under test. As a result, our wafebproards are able to accurately probe over a famgge of operating temperatures. This feature
enables our customers to use the same wafer pastidar both low and high temperature testing witha loss of performance. In addition, for
those testing situations that require positionaligacy at a specific temperature, we have desigrader probe cards optimized for testing at
such temperatures.

With the acquisition of MicroProbe, we deliver atewf advanced vertical or flip chip (area arrpayducts including vertical MEMS,
Cobra-style vertical and Spring-pin vertical praiaeds, and cantilever probe cards. Our verticadlpets are primarily used to probe SoC
semiconductor chips with advanced packages inayrialy layout. Examples of the advanced

5
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packages include Wafer-Level-Packaging (WLP), dliflp and copper pillar packaging technologies. €hleshnologies have diverse wafer
requirements. To address these test requiremeatsffer a wide range of propriety probe designsmethllurgy choices, individually
optimized for the targeted applications. Cantilgmexducts are primarily used to probe periphenabla pads on wire-bonded SoC chips. Our
products help our customers to increase wafethestighputs and achieve optimal test yield.

Through on-going investments in our technology,se&le our products to meet customers' future teehmadmap requirements for
performance and geometry shrinks. Our high-precis&rtical MEMS probe technology enables the nenggsitch shrinks to achieve sub-
90nm grid-array layouts. These MEMS probes incafea composite (multi-material) structure that\al for independent optimization of
probe metallurgy choices for both electrical ancthamical characteristics. This enables ultra-lowtact resistance during probing which
enhances wafer test yield, especially in emergihgadckaging materials like copper pillars and Shamps.

Customers

Our customers include manufacturers in the DRAMskland SoC markets. Our customers use our wafbe mards to test DRAM
chips, including DDR, DDR2, DDR3, SDRAM, PSRAM, niebDRAM, and Graphic DRAM; NOR and NAND flash memchips; and SoC
devices, including serial data devices, chipsetstaprocessors, microcontrollers, graphic processoobile RF, analog and mixed-signal
devices.

Two customers accounted for 41.8% of our reveruidis¢al 2012 , three customers accounted for 3¥etr revenues in fiscal 2011
and three customers accounted for 44.8% of ounte&in fiscal 2010 , as follows:

Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010
SK hynix (1) 29.4% 16.2% 12.&%
Elpida Memory (2) * * 20.C
Samsung (3) 12.4 11.2 12.C
Micron Technology(4) * 10.z *
Total 41.8% 37.1% 44.%

(1) Includes SK hynix and its consolidated subsidiafyhfgnix Semiconductor (China) L1

(2) Includes Elpida Memory Inc. and its consolidatebdssdiary Rexchip Electronics Corporati

(3) Includes Samsung Semiconductor and its consolidatbdidiary Samsung Austin Semicondu

(4) Includes Micron Technology, Inc. and its cdidated subsidiaries, including Micron Semicondudsia Pte. Ltd., Micron
Semiconductor Italia S.r.L., Micron Semiconductenakl Ltd. and Micron Japan Ltd.

* Less than 10% of revenu

The percentages above reflect customers and thesotidated subsidiaries as of December 29, 2@tr period consolidated
subsidiaries have been updated to reflect the muctestomer compositions.

Information concerning revenue by geographic regiod by country based upon ship to location appgadsr "ltem 7: Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &webults of Operations—Revenues—Revenue by Geogr&#gion" and Note 15—
Operating Segment and Geographic Information ofNbtes to our Consolidated Financial Statements;iwére included elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Backlog

Our backlog was $27.0 million at December 29, 26d@pared to $14.6 million at December 31, 20We manufacture our wafer prc
cards based on order backlog and customer comnisimanaddition, due to our customers' short dejivene requirements, we at times begin
production of our products, or order product comgaua from third party suppliers, in anticipationre€eiving orders for our products.
However, backlog includes only orders for whichttern authorizations have been accepted and shiptlaged within 12 months have been
assigned. In addition, backlog includes servicenexe for existing product service agreements tedoeed within the next 12 months.
Customers may delay delivery of products or canoeérs prior to shipment, subject to possible chatten penalties. Due to possible changes
in delivery schedules and cancellations of ordaus backlog on any particular date is not necelysadicative of actual sales for any
succeeding period. Delays in delivery schedulegaaradreduction in backlog during any particularipe could have a material adverse effect
on our business and results of operations.

Manufacturing

Our wafer probe cards are custom products thatesgyd and manufacture to order for our customeigue wafer designs. Our
proprietary manufacturing processes can generallgitided into a front-end process, which includé® bonding, photolithography, plating
and metallurgical processes, dry and electro-dépaospick and place assembly and complex intereatian system design, and a back-end
process, which includes assembly. The criticalsstepur manufacturing process are performed itaa<C100 clean room environment.

We depend upon suppliers for some critical comptsnehour manufacturing processes, including cecasubstrates and complex
printed circuit boards, and for materials usedunmanufacturing processes. We also rely on suggpiceprovide certain contacts and
interconnects incorporated into our products. Sofrteese components and materials are suppliedsiygée vendor, and some are subject to
certain minimum order quantities. Generally, wg @ purchase orders rather than long-term corstraith our suppliers, which subjects us to
risks, including price increases and componenttaes. We continue to evaluate alternative sowtespply for these components and
materials.

Our primary manufacturing facilities are located.imermore, San Jose and Carlsbad, California. 8@ gerform certain probe card
manufacturing operations in our facility in Suzh@lina. We also have a small manufacturing faciligt builds semiconductor test
equipment, but not wafer probe cards, in Carsoy, Gievada.

We maintain repair and service capabilities in binere, San Jose, and Carlsbad, California, UnitateS; Carson City, Nevada, United
States; Austin, Texas, United States; Gyeonggidaith Korea; Yokohama City, Japan; Hiroshima, JaBaahou, China; Jubei City and
Hsinchu, Taiwan; and Singapore.

Research, Development and Engineering

The semiconductor industry is subject to rapid nedbgical change and new product introductionsemtthncements. We believe that
our continued commitment to research and developarahour timely introduction of new and enhancedewrprobe test solutions and other
technologies related to our MicroSpring intercorraaw vertical probe technologies are integral &ntaining our competitive position. We
continue to invest considerable time and resourcesating structured processes for undertakiagking and completing our development
projects, and plan to implement those developmiatdsnew product or technology offerings. We couéno allocate significant resources to
these efforts and to use automation and informa&ohnology to provide additional efficiencies ur sesearch and development activities.

Research and development expenses were $40.1mfdlidiscal 2012 , $43.5 million for fiscal 201hé$55.4 million for fiscal 2010 .

Our research and development activities, includingproduct engineering activities, are directedrialjviduals with significant
expertise and industry experience.

Sales and Marketing

We sell our products utilizing a proprietary saiesdel that emphasizes the customer's total castvoérship as it relates to the costs of
test. With this sales model, we strive to demomstnaw test costs can be reduced by simulatingdktomer's test floor environment, includ
testers and probers, utilizing our products andpamng the overall cost of test to that of convemdil and competitive wafer probe cards.

We sell our products worldwide primarily througle@mbination of a global direct sales force, indefgen sales representatives and
value added resellers.



Our sales and marketing staff, located in the Wn8&ates, China, Germany, Italy, Japan, SingaSmeth Korea, and
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Taiwan, work closely with customers to understdredrtbusinesses, anticipate trends and define ptsdiat will provide significant technical
and economic advantages to our customers.

We utilize a highly skilled team of field applicai engineers that support our customers as thegratie our products into their
manufacturing processes. Through these custonaiamhips, we develop a close understanding dbmesr and product requirements,
thereby accelerating our customers' production amp

Environmental Matters

We are subject to U.S. federal, state and local fareign governmental laws and regulations regatonthe protection of the
environment, including those governing the dischafpollutants into the air and water, the manag@nand disposal of hazardous substance
and wastes, the clean-up of contaminated siteshanchaintenance of a safe workplace. We believietbacomply in all material respects with
the environmental laws and regulations that applys, including those of the California Departmefitoxic Substances Control, the Bay A
Air Quality Management District, the City of Livenre Water Resources Division, County of Santa Aepartment of Environmental Hea
County of San Diego Hazardous Materials Divisiod &mcino Water District, and the California Divisiof Occupational Safety and Health.
We did not receive any notices of violations of iemwmental laws and regulations in fiscal 2012 @1 2. In fiscal 2010 we did receive one
notice of violation from the City of Livermore regling a violation of certain applicable waste watischarge limits. For the notice received,
we promptly investigated the violation, took what believed to be appropriate steps to addressatimef the violation, and implemented
corrective measures to prevent a recurrence. Nagioo has been made for loss from environmentakidiation liabilities associated with our
facilities because we believe that it is not prdedbat a liability has been incurred as of Decena® 2012 .

While we believe that we are in compliance in aditemial respects with the environmental laws awgdlagions that apply to us, in the
future, we may receive additional environmentalation notices, and if received, final resolutidrtiee violations identified by these notices
could harm our operations, which may adversely rhpar operating results and cash flows. New lamésragulations, stricter enforcement of
existing laws and regulations, the discovery of/jmesly unknown contamination at our or othergsivr the imposition of new cleanup
requirements could also harm our operations orestilojs to monetary liabilities, thereby adverseipacting our operating results and cash
flows.

We are also subject to new SEC rules that will ireqdiligence, disclosure and reporting on whettetain minerals and metals,
known as conflict minerals, used in our productginate from the Democratic Republic of Congo adpbiming countries. Among other thing
the implementation of these rules could adversigcathe sourcing, availability and pricing of reirals we use in our products, will require us
to incur additional costs to comply with the distice requirements and we may face difficultiesaitis§ying customers who require that all of
the products are certified as conflict mineral free

Competition

The highly competitive wafer probe card market cdegs many domestic and foreign companies, andhisexrically been fragmented
with many local suppliers servicing individual custers. Our current and potential competitors irvthéer probe card market include
Advantest Corporation, Aehr Test Systems, AMST Cul,, BucklingBean Solutions, Cascade Microtedit, | Feinmetall GmbH, Korea
Instrument Co., Ltd., Japan Electronic Materialsgooation, SV Probe, Inc., Micronics Japan Co., kdicrofriend Inc., TSC MEMSYS
Corporation, Technoprobe Asia Pte. Ltd., Tokyo @dthLaboratory Co., Ltd., Tokyo Electron Ltd., TSE., Ltd., Wentworth
Laboratories, Inc., and Will Technology Co., Ltdh@ng others. In addition to the ability to addresder probe card performance issues, the
primary competitive factors in the industry in wihiwe compete include product performance quality ratiability, price, total cost of
ownership, lead times, the ability to provide prarapd effective customer service, field applicasisupport and timeliness of delivery.

Some of our competitors are also suppliers of diyyes of test equipment or other semiconductoipegent and may have greater
financial and other resources than we do. We expetiour competitors will enhance their currenfexg@robe products and that they may
introduce new products that will be competitivehwdtur wafer probe cards. In addition, it is possithiat new competitors, including test
equipment manufacturers, may offer new technoloiiasreduce the value of our wafer probe cards.

Additionally, semiconductor manufacturers may inmpdmt chip designs that include built-in self-tesgpabilities or similar functions or
methodologies that increase test throughput andiredite some or all of our current competitive adagas. Our ability to compete favorably
may also be adversely affected by (1) delays ififigation of our new products, (2) low volume ordaéhat do not meet our present minimum
volume requirements, (3) very short cycle time regaents which may be difficult for us to meet, [@)g-standing relationships between our
competitors and certain semiconductor manufactumeds(5) semiconductor manufacturer test strateéfatsnclude low performance
semiconductor testers.
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Intellectual Property

Our success depends in part upon our ability tdilcoe to innovate and invest in research and dewedmt to meet the semiconductor
testing requirements of our customers, to mairdaih protect our proprietary technology and to cahdur business without infringing on the
proprietary rights of others. We rely on a combimabf patents, trade secrets, trademarks andaainal restrictions on disclosure to protect
our intellectual property rights.

As of December 29, 2012 , we had 707 issued patefnghich 489 are United States patents and 248aaeign patents. The expiration
dates of these patents range from 2013 to 2@R1r issued patents cover many of the featuresiointerconnect technology, as well as son
our inventions related to wafer probe cards antihgswafer-level packaging and test, sockets asemblies and chips. In addition, as of
December 29, 2012 , we had 260 patent applicafiending worldwide, including 65 United States apagiions, 188 foreign national or
regional stage applications and 7 Patent Cooperatieaty applications. We cannot provide any asseahat our current patent applications,
or any future patent applications that we may filél, result in a patent being issued with the seo the claims we seek, or at all, or whether
any patents that we may obtain will not be chalézhgr invalidated. Even if additional patents ased, our patents might not provide
sufficiently broad coverage to protect our proguigtrights or to avoid a third party claim agaiose or more of our products or technologies.

We have both registered and unregistered trademadtsding FormFactor, ATRE, DC-Boost, MicroSprirdicroForce, RapidSoak,
SmartMatrix, SmartMatrix 100, TouchMatrix, OneToudlakumi, TRE, TrueScale, TrueScale Lite, the Fantér logo, MicroProbe, the
MicroProbe logo, QiLin, Mx-FinePitch, Vx-MP, Vx-R&nd Apollo.

We routinely require our employees, customers, lsengpand potential business partners to enterdatdidentiality and non-disclosure
agreements before we disclose to them any sensitigeoprietary information regarding our produtéshnology or business plans. We req
our employees to assign to us proprietary inforomtinventions and other intellectual property teesate, modify or improve.

Legal protections afford only limited protectior faur proprietary rights. We also may not be susftésn our efforts to enforce our
proprietary rights. To date, for example, we hagerbunsuccessful in our efforts to enforce cexthivur patent rights and obtain injunctive
relief for violation of those rights in South Koresnd through U.S. courts and the U.S. Internatidrede Commission, or ITC.
Notwithstanding our efforts to protect our propaigtrights, unauthorized parties may attempt toy@gpects of our products or to obtain .
use information that we regard as proprietary. Ftiome to time, we have become aware of situationsrey others are or may be infringing on
our proprietary rights. We evaluate these situat@sthey arise and elect to take actions agdiesetcompanies as we deem appropriate.
Others might independently develop similar or cotimgetechnologies or methods, design around owerpst or attempt to manufacture and
sell infringing products in countries that do nwbagly enforce intellectual property rights or ¢hahvalid our intellectual property rights. In
addition, leading companies in the semiconductdustry have extensive patent portfolios and othiilectual property with respect to
semiconductor technology. Actions have been fitethe U.S. Patent and Trademark Office and patiices in other countries, challenging
the validity of certain of our patents. In the ftguwe might receive claims that we are infringimigllectual property rights of others or that
patents or other intellectual property rights anealid. We have received in the past, and may vedeithe future, communications from third
parties inquiring about our interest in licensimgtain of their intellectual property or more gaalridentifying intellectual property that may
be of interest to us.

We have invested significant time and resourcesiintechnology and as a part of our ongoing effarfsrotect the intellectual property
embodied in our proprietary technologies, we magpe actions to enforce our intellectual propeights against infringing third parties.

For a description of the material patent-relatamtpedings in which we are involved, see "ltem 3jdlé’roceedings".

Employees

As of December 29, 2012 , we had 1,021 regulaitiimé employees, including 238 in research and ldgweent, 121 in sales and
marketing, 90 in general and administrative funtdicand 572 in operations. By region, 737 of ouplegees were in North America, 78 in
Singapore, 76 in China, 42 in Japan, 41 in Soutte&040 in Taiwan, and 7 in Europe. No employeesarrently covered by a collective
bargaining agreement. We believe that our relatwitis our employees are good.
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Available Information

We maintain a website http://www.formfactor.comWe make available free of charge on our website®mnual Reports on Form 10-
K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, current reportd=orm 8-K and amendments to those reports fitddraished pursuant to Section 13(a)
or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, as soon as reasonahbbticable after we electronically file such metlewith, or furnish it to, the United State
Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC. Tleeaefe to our website does not constitute incotjporéy reference of the information
contained at the site.

The public may also read and copy any materiakwiedile with the SEC at the SEC's Public RefeeeRoom at 100 F Street N.E.,
Washington, D.C. 20549. The public may obtain infation on the operation of the Public ReferencerRbyg calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-
0330. The SEC also maintains an Internet websitedbntains reports and other information regariisgers, such as FormFactor, that file
electronically with the SEC. The SEC's Internet sitehis located atttp://www.sec.gov

Directors and Executive Officers

Directors. The names of the members of our board of directbeir ages as of December 29, 2012 and theieruoccupations are set
forth below.

Name of Director Age Current Occupation

G. Carl Everett, Jr.(1) 62 Venture Partner at Accel LLP

Lothar Maier 57 Chief Executive Officer and Director of Linear Tectogy
Corporation

Thomas St. Dennis 58 Chief Executive Officer and Director of FormFacting.

Edward Rogas, Jr. 72 Director of Vitesse Semiconductor Corporation angnéni
Technologies Pvt Ltd

Michael W. Zellner 57 Director of FormFactor, Inc.

Richard DeLateur 54 Director of FormFactor, Inc.

(1) Mr. Everett became the Chairman of our Board o&E&tiors on December 26, 20

G. Carl Everett, Jrhas served as a Director since June 2001 and airn@m since December 2010 and served as ournnt@hief
Executive Officer from May 2010 to September 20d®Dywell as our Executive Chairman from Septemb&026 December 2010. Mr. Everett
founded GCE Ventures, a venture advisement firrgrl 2001. Mr. Everett has served as a venturénga at Accel LLP, a venture capital
firm, since 2002. From February 1998 to April 20D, Everett served as Senior Vice President, PalsBystems Group of Dell Inc. During
1997, Mr. Everett was on a personal sabbaticamFr878 to December 1996, Mr. Everett held sevemlagement positions with Intel
Corporation, including Senior Vice President anch&al Manager of the Microprocessor Products Graand,Senior Vice President and
General Manager of the Desktop Products Group BMerett currently serves on the board of directdthree privately held companies.

Mr. Everett holds a B.A. in business administratma an honorary Doctorate of Laws from New Mex@tate University.

Lothar Maierhas served as a Director since November 2006. Mieivhas served as the Chief Executive Officerantember of the
board of directors of Linear Technology Corporatidiasdaq: LLTC), a supplier of high performancelagantegrated circuits, which is a
publicly traded company, since January 2005. Radhat, Mr. Maier served as Linear Technology's&€Bperating Officer from April 19991
December 2004. Before joining Linear Technology, Maier held various management positions at Cy8esmiconductor Corporation, a
provider of high-performance, mixed-signal, prognaable solutions, from 1983 to 1999, most recerglganior Vice President and Executive
Vice President of Worldwide Operations. Mr. Maietds a B.S. in chemical engineering from the Ursitgrof California at Berkeley.

Thomas St. Denntsas served as our Chief Executive Officer and adar since September 2010, when he joined our aagnp
Mr. St. Dennis previously held various position#\aplied Materials, Inc. from 1992 to 1999 and agfapom 2005 to 2009. His most recent t
at Applied Materials, Inc. was the Senior Vice Rtest and General Manager of the Silicon SystenmurHe also worked at Novellus
Systems, Inc. as the Executive Vice President fsSand Marketing from 2003 to 2005. From 1999G62Mr. St. Dennis was the President
and CEO of Wind River Systems, Inc. Mr. St. Derlofds a B.S. in Physics and a M.S. in Physics, rotnh UCLA.

Edward Rogas, Jrhas served as a Director since October 2010. BigaR currently serves on the Boards of Vitesse &erductor
Corporation and Vignani Technologies Pvt Ltd. Mogas served as a Director of Photon Dynamics, fraam May 2006 to October 2008.
Mr. Rogas held management positions at Teradymefdn over 30 years, including serving as SenimeWresident from 2000 through 2005.
Mr. Rogas holds degrees of M.B.A. (with distinchidrom Harvard Business
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School and B.S. from the United States Naval Academ

Michael W. Zellner has served as a Director since April 2011. Milnge, has over 25 years of financial experiencthahigh tech
industry, most recently as the CFO of PMC-Sierrardh 2001 - November 2012). Prior to joining PMi&f&, Mr. Zellner was Senior Vice
President of Finance and Administration and Chie&Rcial Officer at Wind River Systems, Inc., a idevsoftware solutions provider to the
electronics industry.

Richard DelLateuhas served as a Director since May 2011. Mr. Dalraterved as Chief Financial Officer of FormFactoc, from
May 2010 to May 2011. Mr. DeLateur is a 20-yeaevan of Intel's finance team, where he held varpmsitions, including the role of Vice
President and Group Controller of Worldwide Teclggland Manufacturing. Mr. DeLateur more recendgved as Chief Financial Officer at
the private companies Fluidigm Corporation and Tro@orporation. Mr. DelLateur had also served asradibr at Numonyx Corp., a leading
manufacturer of Flash memory, which is now pamafron Technology, Inc.

Executive Officer®Our executive officers, their ages and their posgiwith our company as of December 29, 2012 drimgh below.

Name Age Position

Thomas St. Dennis 5¢ Chief Executive Officer

Michael M. Ludwig 51 Chief Financial Officer

Stuart L. Merkadeau 51 Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Segretar

Michael M. Ludwidhas served as our Chief Financial Officer since @¥y1. Mr. Ludwig has also served as our Vice Eerdi Financ
from December 2009 to May 2011, was a consultanutaccompany from February 2009 to December 2008 sarved as our Vice President
and Corporate Controller from April 2001 to Aprd@7. Mr. Ludwig has also held senior level finaacel accounting positions at Force 10
Networks, Inc., a privately held company that bsiidgthd secures high performance networks, and aiatig of Tyco Electronics and Beckm
Coulter. Mr. Ludwig holds a B.S. in accounting fr@alifornia State Polytechnic University, Pomona.

Stuart L. Merkadeahas served as one of our Senior Vice Presidents €hctober 2003 and as our General Counsel anét8scsince
October 2002. Mr. Merkadeau previously served @&sadrour Vice Presidents from October 2002 to Saptr 2003, and as our Vice Presiden
of Intellectual Property from July 2000 to Octo2€02. From 1990 to July 2000, Mr. Merkadeau practiaw as an associate and then a
partner with Graham & James LLP, where he speeidlim licensing and strategic counseling in intglial property matters. Mr. Merkadeau is
admitted to practice in California and registeregtactice before the U.S. Patent and Trademarik@®fir. Merkadeau holds a B.S. in
industrial engineering from Northwestern Universatyd a J.D. from the University of California atsLAngeles.

Item 1A: Risk Factors

In addition to the other information in this AnniRéport on Form 10-K, you should carefully consither risk factors discussed in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K in evaluating FormFaeted our business. If any of the identified risktually occur, our business, financial
condition and results of operations could be mallgradversely affected. The trading price of oamenon stock could decline and you may
lose all or part of your investment in our commuock. The risks and uncertainties described inAmsual Report on Form 10-K are not the
only ones we face. Additional risks that we curiyedb not know about or that we currently beliesébe immaterial may also impair our
business operations.

We have incurred and will continue to incur signdant costs related to our acquisition of Astria Sewnductor Holdings, Inc., including its
subsidiary MicroProbe, Inc., and the acquisition maot be successfu

On October 16, 2012, we completed our acquisitiodstria Semiconductor Holdings, Inc., including gubsidiary MicroProbe, Inc.
(together "MicroProbe acquisition™), which is ouosh substantial acquisition to date. See NotetBddConsolidated Financial Statements
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on ForrK1fdr a more complete description of the acquisiti Astria transitioned from being a
standalone privately-held corporation to a wholyred subsidiary of a public company. This comboagntails many changes, including the
integration of MicroProbe, its personnel and itsteyns with those of FormFactor. These transitigividies are complex and we have incurred
and will continue to incur significant costs retate the acquisition, and the commercial and fimgrsiccess of the acquisition is subject to
many risks as set forth below:
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*  We might not be successful in integrating Miamhe's employees, products and technology withegisting business, and such
integration may divert significant management ditenfrom our existing business;

* We may realize greater expenses than we anticifiagadthe combination of the two compan

* We may fail to realize synergies that we anticigdtem the combination of the two compan

 We may fail to retain key MicroProbe executives antployees, which could reduce the likelihood afcass of the acquisitic
* We may encounter difficulties in the assimilatidremployees and corporate cultu

e The combination of the two companies may noitvéelto our customers the benefits that we havieigated, including a broader
range of products, improved product service angpsti@nd enhanced R&D programs, and our customaysreduce their aggregate
spending on MicroProbe and FormFactor products;

 We may assume unforeseen legal, regulatory, ictabé property or other liabilitie

« We will have less cash available for other purppsesuding acquisitions of technologies or busges

If any of these factors impairs our ability to igtate our operations with those of MicroProbe'seasfully or on a timely basis, we may
not be able to realize the anticipated synergiesiness opportunities and growth prospects frombioimg the businesses. In addition, we may
be required to spend additional time or money ¢egration that otherwise would be spent on the ldgweent and expansion of our business.

In addition, the market price of our common stockyrdecline if the integration of the businesseBaimFactor and MicroProbe is
unsuccessful, takes longer than expected or faégshieve financial benefits to the extent anti@day financial analysts or investors, or the
effect of the business combination on the finan@allts of the combined company is otherwise pasistent with the expectations of finan
analysts or investors.

We may make additional acquisitions and investmenthich could put a strain on our resources, causenership dilution to our
stockholders and adversely affect our financial tdts.

Integrating newly acquired businesses, productsaimologies into our company could put a straimenresources, could be expensive
and time consuming, may cause delays in produstatgland might not be successful. Future acqoisitiand investments could divert
management's attention from other business conesthexpose our business to unforeseen liabilitiesks associated with entering new
markets. In addition, we might lose key employe&denintegrating new organizations. We might noshecessful in integrating any acquired
businesses, products or technologies, and mighacioeve anticipated revenues and cost benefitestments that we make may not result in .
return consistent with our projections upon whiagbtsinvestments are made, or may require additionaktment that we did not originally
anticipate. In addition, future acquisitions corggult in customer dissatisfaction, performancél@ms with an acquired company, potentially
dilutive issuances of equity securities or the inence of debt, contingent liabilities, possiblgairment charges related to goodwill or other
intangible assets or other unanticipated eventroumstances, any of which could harm our business

If goodwill or other intangible assets that we racbin connection with the MicroProbe acquisition beme impaired, we could be required
take significant charges against earnings.

In connection with the accounting for the MicroPeaixquisition, we have recorded a significant arhofigoodwill and other intangib
assets. Under U.S. generally accepted accountingiples, or GAAP, we must assess, at least annaalll potentially more frequently,
whether the value of goodwill and other indefirliteed intangible assets have been impaired. Fihigsd intangible assets will be assessed for
impairment in the event of an impairment indicamy reduction or impairment of the value of goolliiwr other intangible assets will result
a charge against earnings, which could materialyeesely affect our results of operations and dtotders' equity in future periods.

Our delay in qualifying our next generation produgtat certain of our customers could result in thesk of market share at those customers,
which could negatively impact our business and fim@al results.

We may suffer from delays in qualifying our nextageation products at our customers. As an exampfescal 2010 we transitioned
customers from our Harmony platform products to $omartMatrix and TouchMatrix product lines and
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notified our customers of our end-of-life plans fmr Harmony products. Although we believe our r&wartMatrix and TouchMatrix products
enable our customers to lower their cost of owriprahd we completed the qualification phase of ttd@asition, we were late to market with
these new products and lost market share as we thizdgroduct transition. This share loss was éseilt of the time required for SmartMatrix
and TouchMatrix product qualifications and of oustmers' manufacturing lead times as they mowad fjualification volumes to full
commercial production volumes, which resulted intoowied lost opportunities for us and negativelpatted our business, financial and
operating results. Because of this market timing,products were not used by certain of our custenmetheir high volume production runs
certain devices, which resulted in our losing fa#lon orders for those devices, which had a negéatiyact on our business and financial
results.

In fiscal 2011 we engaged with certain customera aext-generation, or evolution, of our SmartMagmioduct which enables greater
parallelism, and also with a SoC customer on a-gereration vertical probe technology. In the fipsarter of our fiscal 2013, we announced
that we suspended development activities spedfaf bur next generation Matrix platform and witirssolidate our technologies and
development to extend the capabilities of the eurkéatrix platform. If this consolidation is noteeessful, or does not extend the capabilities
of our products as anticipated, we may lose saldsar financial results will be negatively impatté is also possible that our efforts focused
on our next-generation vertical probe technologly mat be successful, which could negatively impaat revenues.

Periodic global economic and semiconductor industtgwnturns could continue to negatively affect ohusiness, results of operations, ai
financial condition.

The recent and historical global economic and senauactor industry downturns negatively affected aodld continue to negatively
affect our business, results of operations andhire condition. We may experience continued dedim demand for our probe cards resulting
from our customers continuing to conserve cashutyng production, postponing the implementationiaafling cycles and delaying the ramp
of new technology nodes in response to slow derfancbnsumer and other products incorporating devtested with our wafer probe cards.
We may experience continued pricing pressure diaiceof our products, which may reduce our grossegima. A protracted downturn could
cause additional customers to file for bankruptetgction as occurred in 2009 with our customem@nSpn and Qimonda, and in 2012 with
our customer Elpida, resulting in our loss of raxerin the past environment, customers were seaktended payment terms or delaying
payment for our products past their original duteslawhich could impact their payment historiesittésy in our deferral of revenue and which
could increase our potential bad debt exposure.

We may also experience the insolvency of key sepglieading to delays in the development and shiyprof our products, increased
expense and loss of revenue. In addition, we mpgrance increased impairment charges due to @scimthe fair values of marketable debt
securities, or charges based upon underutilizatiaur factory.

We derive a substantial portion of our revenuesrta small number of customers, and we could congnio experience significant declines
in our revenues if any major customer does not pacancels, reduces or delays a purchase of oudpigis, or does not pay us, or delays or
extends payment for our products past their origirtue dates.

A relatively small number of customers have accedfiibr a significant portion of our revenues in @ayticular period. Two customers
represented 42% of total revenues in fiscal 2Gh2ee customers represented 38% of total revemuigscal 2011 and three customers
represented 45% of total revenues in fiscal 20hCiscal 2012 , 2011 and 2010, our ten largestamers accounted for 78% , 80% and 82%
of our revenues, respectively. We anticipate thissof our products to a relatively small numifesustomers will continue to account for a
significant portion of our revenues. Consolidatioithe semiconductor industry may increase thiceatration. As a result of the global
economic and semiconductor industry downturns, awelexperienced significant declines in our revenlrethe future, the cancellation,
reduction or deferral of even a small number othases of our products could significantly redugerevenues in any particular period.
Cancellations, reductions or deferrals could refsath a delay in the recovery of the semiconduatdustry, a weaker than anticipated
recovery, another downturn in the semiconductoustiy, or from manufacturing delays, quality oiability issues with our products, or from
interruptions to our customers' operations duérép hatural disasters or other events. Furtherptmeause our probe cards are custom pro
designed for our customers' unique wafer designscancellations, reductions or delays can reautgnificant, non-recoverable costs. In
some situations, our customers might be able toetar reduce orders without a significant penalty.

Our customers could also fail to pay all or paraofinvoice for our products. If a customer failpay us or delays payment for our
products, we may be unable to recognize revenudijrmancial condition and liquidity could be advelsimpacted and we may incur additio
charges for bad-debt reserve to the extent cevfadnir customers continue to face financial diffi@s during this downturn. It is also possible
that if we make the decision to initiate legal predings against customers to seek payment of adtatareceivables that it will negatively
impact a customer relationship and result in lesgenues in the future. Customers with financididaifties may be forced to materially reduce
or discontinue operations, file for bankruptcy tner relief, or may be acquired by one of our othestomers, any of which would further
reduce our
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customer base.
The markets in which we participate are competitiaad if we do not compete effectively, our opengtresults could be harmed.

We are experiencing increased competition in thiemarobe card market and we expect competitiantensify in the future. Increased
competition has resulted in, and in the futurékisly to result in, price reductions, reduced gnoesgins or loss of market share. Competitors
might introduce new competitive products for thmeamarkets that our products currently serve. These@ucts may have better performance,
lower prices and/or broader acceptance than owtugts. Competitive products may not have betteiopmance, lower prices and/or broader
acceptance than our products, but may be able ¢b sherter delivery times required by customersrasdlt in the loss of revenue for us. In
addition, for products such as wafer probe camisiconductor manufacturers typically qualify mdnan one source, to avoid dependence on
single source of supply. As a result, our customersld likely purchase products from our compestd@urrent and potential competitors
include Advantest Corporation, Aehr Test SystemdSA Co., Ltd., BucklingBean Solutions, Cascade Miech, Inc., Feinmetall GmbH,
Korea Instrument Co., Ltd., Japan Electronic MalsrCorporation, SV Probe, Inc., Micronics Japan Cul., Microfriend Inc., TSC
MEMSYS Corporation, Technoprobe Asia Pte. Ltd., y@Cathode Laboratory Co., Ltd., Tokyo Electron.LTiSE Co., Ltd., Wentworth
Laboratories, Inc., and Will Technology Co., Ltth@ng others.

Many of our current and potential competitors hgkeater name recognition, larger customer base® egtablished customer
relationships or greater financial, technical, nfanturing, marketing and other resources than weAd@ result, they might be able to responc
more quickly to new or emerging technologies arahges in customer requirements, devote greateun@soto the development, promotion,
sale and support of their products, and reducegtic increase market share. Some of our competiteo supply other types of test equipmn
Those competitors that offer both advanced wafeb@icards and needle probe cards might have steaigging relationships with our existing
customers or with potential customers. It is pdssibat one or more of our competitors may be &blacrease their sales to with mutual
customers, resulting in a loss of revenue sharadott is further possible that existing or newngeetitors, including test equipment
manufacturers, may offer new technologies thateedhe value of our wafer probe cards.

If we fail to protect our proprietary rights, ourampetitors might gain access to our technology, efhcould adversely affect our ability
compete successfully in our markets and harm oueogting results.

If we choose not to protect our proprietary righitgail in our efforts to protect our proprietaights, our competitors might gain access
to our technology. Unauthorized parties might afteta copy aspects of our products or to obtainus®linformation that we regard as
proprietary. Others might independently developilsinor competing technologies or methods or desigrund our patents. In addition, the
laws of many foreign countries in which we or ousiomers do business do not protect our intellépagperty rights to the same extent as the
laws of the United States. To date, we have nat lseecessful in our efforts to enforce our propmgtights and obtain injunctive relief for
violation of those rights in South Korea and in thated States. As a result, our proprietary rigiagld be compromised, our competitors
might offer products similar to ours and we migbt he able to compete successfully. We also caasmire that:

e our means of protecting our proprietary rights Ww#él adequat
» patents will be issued from our pending or futyspleations

e our existing or future patents will be sufficién scope or strength to provide any meaningfotgetion or commercial advantage to
us;

e our patents or other intellectual property will hetinvalidated, circumvented or successfully @mjed in the United States or fore
countries; or

» others will not misappropriate our proprietagglinologies or independently develop similar tetdies, duplicate our products or
design around any of our patents or other intellegbroperty, or attempt to manufacture and séfinging products in countries that
do not strongly enforce intellectual property right

We have spent in the past, and may be requiregetadsin the future, significant resources to maraied protect our intellectual
property rights. We presently believe that it kely that several of our competitors are using meétthogies or have implemented structures
certain of their products that are covered by anmare of our intellectual property rights. We hawvehe past brought claims to protect our
rights.

In certain cases, our competitors have initiatedx@mination proceedings in the USPTO and invaligibceedings in foreign patent
offices against certain of our patents. Any litigat whether or not resolved in our favor, and veeinitiated
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by us or by a third party, could result in sigrédfitt and possibly material expense to us and dilieréfforts of our management and technical
personnel. In addition, while patents are terréloaind a ruling on a certain given patent doesiroéssarily impact the validity or enforceab

of a corresponding or related patent in a diffecenintry, an adverse ruling in one country migtgaterely impact our ability to enforce the
corresponding or related patent in other countfésally, certain of our customer contracts confaiovisions that require us to defend and/or
indemnify our customers for third party intelledtpeoperty infringement claims, which would increale cost to us of an adverse ruling in
such a claim. An adverse determination could aéggatively impact our ability to license certainonir technologies and methods to others, ar
result in our competitors being allowed to sellgarots with, or add to their products, features laewefits contained in our products, thereby
reducing our competitive advantages over these etingpproducts.

If we do not innovate and keep pace with technolmdidevelopments in the semiconductor industry, guoducts might not be competitiy
and our revenues and operating results could suffer

We must continue to innovate and to invest in neteand development to improve our competitive fomsiand to meet the testing
requirements of our customers. Our future growibedes, in significant part, upon our ability to waffectively with and anticipate the test
needs of our customers and to develop and supparpnoducts and product enhancements to meet tleesks on a timely and cost-effective
basis. Our customers' testing needs are becoming challenging as the semiconductor industry coesrto experience rapid technological
change driven by the demand for complex circuig$ #ire shrinking in size and at the same timeram@asing in speed and functionality and
becoming less expensive to produce. Examples ndsrdriving demand for technological research andkbpment include semiconductor
manufacturers' transition to 2x nanometer DRAM tedbgy node, Flash and SoC fabrication processsyddnsition to higher gigabit density
memory and lower-power multi-core processors, apidradoption of advanced IC packaging types, sisolvafer-level packaging, flipchip,
Cu Pillar, and Through-Silicon-Via (TSV) technolegi Our customers expect that they will be ablategrate our wafer probe cards into any
manufacturing process as soon as it is deployeer€eftre, to meet these expectations and remain etitimp, we must continually design,
develop and introduce on a timely basis new pradact product enhancements with improved features.

We may also work collaboratively with one or mdned parties in the development of new technologies improvements to our
existing technologies. It is possible that thed&@aborations may be delayed, or even ultimatelywpronsuccessful, by matters outside of our
control, such as the financial condition of thedtparty. It is possible that our internal devel@mhefforts and engagements with third parties
regarding the development of manufacturing equifrhaming similar functionality may have a lengthgveélopment and ramp up time and
negatively impact our ability to complete new prouand realize revenue from those products.

Successful product design, development and intidmiuon a timely basis require that we:

» design innovative and performaneehancing product architectures, technologies aatiifes that differentiate our products from tl
of our competitors;

e in some cases engage with third parties who paviicular expertise in order to complete one oreraspects of the design and
manufacturing process;

« transition our products to new manufacturing tedbgies

» identify emerging technological trends in our tangarkets

e maintain effective marketing strateg

» respond effectively to technological changes odpob announcements by others;

« adjust to changing market conditions quickly aondteffectively

Not only do we need the technical expertise to @npnt the changes necessary to keep our techmologrieent, but we must also rely
heavily on the judgment of our management to grdiel future market trends. If we are unable to lfrpeedict industry changes or industry
trends, or if we are unable to modify our produmtslesign, manufacture and deliver new producta timely basis, or if a third party with
which we engage does not timely deliver a compooeservice for one of our product modificationsew products, we might lose customers
or market share. In addition, we might not be ablecover our research and development expendjtutgich could harm our operating
results.

Changes in test strategies, equipment and processefd cause us to lose revenues.

The demand for wafer probe cards depends in laageaupon the number of semiconductor designs, #ee pf technology and
architecture transitions in chip designs and oveshiconductor unit volume. The time it takesdstta wafer
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depends upon the number of devices being testedoitmplexity of these devices, the test softwaogiam and the test equipment itself. As
test programs become increasingly effective arndthesughput increases, the number of wafer praidscrequired to test a given volume of
devices declines. Therefore, advances in the teseps could cause us to lose sales. Further,sapstonductor manufacturers are
implementing chip designs featuring built-in sedétt or BIST, capabilities or similar "design festability", or DFT, functions or
methodologies that increase test throughput anaceethe cost of test. These efforts include stiasep reduce the technical requirements on
test equipment, or to improve data about devicéopmance early in the manufacturing process, @esbthe device later in the life of the
product for quality assurance purposes. In somes¢c&ST or DFT can create opportunities for oghtelogies. In other cases BIST or DFT
can reduce requirements for wafer level test addae our opportunities. Although we seek to worthwaiur customers to show ways that our
technologies can be applied together with BIST RR@ approaches to create opportunities to furtbduce the cost of test, the overall impact
of BIST and DFT technologies, as they exist today as they may be developed in the future, cowld she migration to wafer level testing
and adversely affect our revenues.

Similar results could occur if new chip designsiarplemented which we are unable to test efficiertl if semiconductor
manufacturers reduce generally the amount or degfreafer test they perform. We incur significaesearch and development expenses in
conjunction with the introduction of new producthitectures and platforms. Often, we time our prbditroductions to the introduction of
new test equipment platforms or to enable a matwfacs test roadmap when it elects to retain igdest platforms but requires certain test
throughput. Because our customers require bottetpspment and wafer probe cards, any delay ouplism in the introduction of new test
equipment platforms would negatively affect ourvgtio.

Changes in customers' product roadmaps and the fimes associated with those roadmaps could negdyis@pact our product developme
effort and new product introductions, which could iturn, cause us to lose revenues.

The demand for wafer probe cards depends in laageupon the demand for semiconductor devices andustomers' product
roadmaps. For example, the DRAM market continudaktimpacted negatively in the fourth quarter s€dil 2012 as secular changes in the
personal computer markets significantly lowered aedifor commodity DRAM. This negative 2012 trendsviarecasted to continue through
2013 and into 2014 by some of our customers, wiashlted in certain customers planning lower inwestt in DRAM test and lower spending
on DRAM probe cards for commodity DRAM applicatidks a result we may make changes to our operatmmRE&D activities to reduce the
breadth of our investments in certain market segsa&or example, in the first quarter of fiscal 20#%ve announced that we suspended
development activities specific to our next gerieraMatrix platform and will consolidate our techogies and development to extend the
capabilities of the current Matrix platform. Thedenges were implemented in light of the lower desrfar commodity DRAM. If this
consolidation is not successful, or does not exteadtapabilities of our products as anticipateelmay lose sales and our financial results wil
be negatively impacted.

We have recorded significant restructuring, invemyowrite-offs and asset impairment charges in thagh and may do so again in the future,
which could have a material negative impact on dusiness.

We recorded material restructuring charges relttedir global workforce reductions and impairmemrges related to our long-lived
assets in fiscal 2012 , fiscal 2011 , and fiscdl®0As we continue to align our operations withn business requirements, we may implement
additional cost reduction actions, which would riegus to take additional, potentially materiaktracturing charges related to employee
terminations, asset disposal or exit costs. We afsxy be required to write off additional inventdrgur product build plans or usage of
inventory experience further declines, and suctitimhé! write-offs could constitute material chasgén addition, a further decline in our stock
price or significant adverse change in market dion could require us to take additional matdrigdairment charges related to our long-livec
assets. Our long-lived assets, including intangiisteets, are amortized over their respective etginsseful lives using the straight-line and
accelerated methods and are reviewed for impairer@mially, or whenever events or changes in cirtamegs indicate that their carrying
amount may not be recoverable. The valuation of@ng-lived assets requires assumptions and eg@wdtmany critical factors, including
revenue and market growth, operating cash flowsketanultiples, and discount rates. Other advehsmges in market conditions, particularly
if such changes have the effect of changing oritreotritical assumptions or estimates we use irassessment of the recoverability of our
long-lived assets could result in a change to #tienation of fair value that could result in futingpairment charges. We may also incur
charges for factory underutilization depending ugf@ndemand for our products and factory capagity. such additional material charges,
whether related to restructuring, asset impairnoefiactory underutilization may have a material atége impact on our operating results and
related financial statements.
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Our recent restructuring plans may not have propgdligned our cost structure with our business neehd overall semiconductor industry
requirements and even though completed may advgraéiect our business, financial condition, or opeging results.

In each of fiscal 2009 through 2012 and into 20E3cenducted reductions in our work force as padoofipany-wide cost reduction
plans. These plans were intended to help focusemaurces more strategically towards business rematiindustry requirements as part of our
global reorganization activities. We expect toimatost savings from these restructuring actiGns.business, financial condition and
operating results could be materially adverselg@td if we experience unanticipated inefficieneies result of our restructuring activities,
such as impaired customer relationships causeddyced headcount, or delay in ramping the manucfuour SmartMatrix and
TouchMatrix products. We cannot ensure we will madertake additional workforce reductions, that ahgur restructuring efforts will be
successful, or that we will be able to realizedbst savings and other anticipated benefits fronpoevious or future restructuring plans. Any
of these issues could render our restructuring leffective, which could have a material adverffeat on our business, financial condition, or
operating results.

If we do not continue to take steps to optimize gtructure of our operations to position our compgaffior long-term, profitable growth, we
might not succeed.

The timing, length and severity of the cyclical ddgurns in the semiconductor industry are diffidolpredict. This cyclicality affects ol
ability to accurately predict our future operatimegults and plan our business, and could also mtipaivalue of our tangible and intangible
assets. We implemented global cost reduction prarach fiscal year from 2009 through 2012 and @43, and are continuing to pursue
measures to improve our operating efficiency. Suelasures have included workforce reductions, tipbeimentation of a shared service cel
the consolidation of manufacturing capacity andddetralization of support functions to regionadl ghobal shared service centers. If we dc
continue to implement measures for optimizing auaricial model for prevailing market conditionsy @ompetitiveness could be seriously
harmed, our ability to invest in our business faufe growth may be negatively impacted and ourpanmg might not succeed. If we do not
successfully structure our operations by, for examgirengthening our local design, application s@ice capabilities to improve customer
responsiveness, changing our manufacturing streiéturshorter cycle time and improved product delpcapabilities, and realigning our
research and development efforts, and continueotivate and retain our key employees, we may egped continued deterioration in our
business and our company might not succeed. Iniaddas the business environment improves, if keeuaable to proactively and effectively
manage our operations and/or realign our contsyltems and infrastructure to changing businesdittons, we may not be in a position to
boost our personnel, manufacturing capacity, sere@pabilities and productivity, and support groimthesponse to increasing customer
demand for our products, which would, in turn, haveegative impact on our operating results. Advgeneral economic conditions may also
impair the recovery of our business.

Our pricing for our products could result in certai customers deciding to not purchase our produestdich could negatively impact our
business and financial results.

We believe that our pricing guidelines are consistath normal industry cost learning curves, beittain customers may in the future
react negatively to our pricing and elect to natchase our products, to purchase fewer of our ptsdas compared to those of our competi
or to phase out the purchase of our products, iolwtase our business, financial condition and atpeg results could be materially and
adversely impacted.

Changes in our tax rates, inability to realize odeferred tax assets or exposure to additional tembilities could adversely affect our
operating results.

We are subject to income taxes in both the UnitateS and various foreign jurisdictions, and oundstic and international tax
liabilities are subject to the allocation of expen different jurisdictions. The amount of incotages we pay are subject to audits in various
jurisdictions and a material assessment by a govgtax authority could adversely affect our opeigtesults. Our effective tax rate could
adversely affected by changes in the mix of eamingountries with different statutory tax ratecbanges in tax laws. Realization of our
deferred tax assets, which are predominantly inthiéed States, is dependent on our ability to geeesufficient future taxable income. In
2010, we determined that we would not be ableatize some portion of our deferred tax assetserfukture, so we recorded a valuation
allowance against the deferred tax assets thatedsn additional income tax expense. This valratillowance does not limit our ability to
utilize our federal and state deferred tax assetéfset future U.S. profits.

Environmental and other disasters, such as floodjrearthquakes, volcanic eruptions or leakage froraatear reactors, or a combinatio
thereof, may negatively impact our business.

Our business is vulnerable to the direct and irdirapact of environmental and other disastersh siscthe March 2011 earthquake off
the coast of Japan and the resulting tsunami asabdir at certain nuclear power plants in Japan.inStance,
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while our design operations in Tokyo, Japan, andepair facilities in Yokohama, Japan and Hiroshidapan were all not damaged by the
March 2011 disasters in Japan, it is possibledbabperations could be impacted in the futurehgydonsequences of those events or similar
future events. The facilities of certain of ouppliers, including suppliers of our ceramics, otinfed circuit boards and certain of our
mechanical parts, are located in Japan. While applters did not report any significant damagehteirtfacilities and they resumed operations
consistent with the power usage guidelines in tresipective areas, the supply chains for certasuokuppliers were negatively impacted.
Additionally, the flooding in Thailand negativelgnpacted the operations of several disk drive marufars, which created a shortage of disk
drives available for incorporation into personaiguters. This disk drive shortage resulted in aislg of the manufacture of personal
computers and for the DRAM incorporated into peas@omputers. It is possible that future acts oftésm, environmental events or natural
disasters, such as earthquakes and aftershocks)feastructure events arising out of such occuresrand disasters, could negatively impact
our suppliers’ ability to supply components to msaotimely basis. Any such delays in supplyinglelivering components to us could, and any
catastrophic loss suffered by our key supplierslditikely, disrupt our operations, delay productimmd shipments and adversely affect our
revenues and business. Similarly, any catastrdpbgcat our California facilities, such as fromeanthquake, would materially and adversely
affect our business.

Cyclicality in the semiconductor industry is curréy adversely impacting our sales and may do sdéhe future, and as a result we have
experienced and may continue to experience redueagnues and operating results.

The semiconductor industry has historically beetlicgl and is characterized by wide fluctuationpinduct supply and demand. From
time to time, this industry has experienced sigaifit downturns, often in connection with, or inieipation of, maturing product and
technology cycles, excess inventories and declingsneral economic conditions. The global econamit semiconductor downturns have
caused and may continue to cause our operatinggeésulecline dramatically from one period to tfext. Our business depends heavily upon
the development and manufacture of new semicondijdtee rate at which semiconductor manufacturersentransitions to smaller nanometet
technology nodes and implement tooling cyclesytilame of production by semiconductor manufactuaerd the overall financial strength of
our customers, which, in turn, depend upon theetiirand anticipated market demand for semicondsietod products, such as personal
computers and cell phones, that use semicondu&ersiconductor manufacturers generally sharplyadutteir spending, including their
equipment spending, and defer their adoption ofrging technologies during industry downturns argtdrically have lowered their spending
disproportionately more than the decline in theirenues. This is particularly true when therepeiat during an industry cycle in which the
semiconductor manufacturers' costs related to sevdicctor devices approach or exceed the salesqiribe devices. As a result, we would
experience reduced revenues due to the decreagehddor our wafer probe cards by our semicondun@mufacturer customers, which is
what we are experiencing in this current downtéwcordingly, if we are unable to adjust our levelsnanufacturing and human resources or
manage our costs and deliveries from supplierespanse to lower spending by semiconductor manufxst our gross margin may continue
to decline and cause us to experience further tpgrisses.

If we are unable to efficiently manufacture and rgorproduction of our new probe card products, ourdiness may be materially advers:
affected.

We must continuously improve our manufacturing psses in an effort to increase yields and prodeidopmance, lower our costs and
reduce the time required for us to design, manufaaind deliver our products in volume. If we canoar new products may not be
commercially successful, our revenues may be adiyeadfected, our customer relationships and oputation may be harmed and our
business may be materially adversely affectedmifréve our manufacturing processes, we have induared may incur in the future,
substantial costs in an effort to optimize capaaitg yields, implement new manufacturing techn@sgmethods and processes, purchase ne
equipment, upgrade existing equipment and trainrieal personnel. We have experienced, and mayriexpe in the future, manufacturing
delays and other inefficiencies in connection vintiplementation of these improvements and customalifgcations of new processes, and
expansion of manufacturing capacity and ramp oflpction volume to meet customer demand, which lcavsed and could cause in the
future, our operating results to decline. We hdse axperienced, and may experience in the fudifigulties in manufacturing our complex
products in volume on time and at acceptable yiatabcost and installation issues in the field ueomplexity of customer design
requirements, including integration of wafer praaeds with varying customer test cell environmemid testing of semiconductor devices ¢
a wide temperature range. For example, we expexitaallenges transitioning our Harmony architestased products from a lowestume,
engineering-assisted process to a high-volume raahwing process. These problems resulted in miggpdrtunities with customers. While
we ramped commercial volume manufacturing of outrMarchitecture products at a significantly gegaiate than our Harmony architecture
products, design and manufacturing delays relatedit Matrix architecture products resulted in dication at certain customers taking longer
than we anticipated. Delayed qualification causetdi @uld continue to cause lost sales opportunifies increases our vulnerability to our
competitors and the likelihood that our customeitssgek solutions from other suppliers or to depesolutions themselves. If demand for our
products decreases, we could have excess manifgctapacity. The fixed costs associated with exoeanufacturing capacity could cause
our operating results to decline. If we are unablachieve further
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manufacturing efficiencies and cost reductionstipalarly if we are experiencing pricing pressuirethe marketplace, our operating results
could suffer.

Consolidation in the industry and within the semicductor test equipment market could adversely affgwe market for our products and
negatively impact our ability to compete, which ddicause a decline in our revenues.

Consolidation in the semiconductor industry, pafidy among manufacturers of DRAM devices, wowdduce our customer base and
could adversely affect the market for our produetsich could cause a decline in our revenues. Tdigajeconomic downturn caused
significant disruption within the semiconductor urstiry. The semiconductor industry now has a smallstomer base than in past years. The
loss of additional customers could further concamtrand could adversely affect, the market forppaducts. Consolidation may lead to lost or
delayed sales, reduced demand for our wafer pratus closs of market share and increased priciegspres. Additionally, certain customers
may not want to rely entirely or substantially osilagle wafer probe card supplier and, as a resudty) customers could reduce their purchase
of our wafer probe cards.

There has also been a recent move toward condolidaithin the semiconductor test equipment market.example, in 2009,
Touchdown Technologies, Inc., a probe card manufactwas acquired by Verigy Ltd., a tester compamg in 2010, after Verigy announced
intent to combine with LTX Credence, a tester conyp@dvantest Corporation, made a successful ucisadi bid to acquire Verigy. This
consolidation trend could change our interaction reelationships with semiconductor tester and @raompanies and negatively impact our
revenue and operating results.

We depend upon the sale of our wafer probe cardssigbstantially all of our revenues, and the majbriof our wafer probe cards are utiliz:
by semiconductor manufacturers for testing DRAM dess. If we continue to experience a downturn inrdand for our DRAM products,
our revenues could decline further.

We have historically derived substantially all ofr devenues from the sale of our wafer probe ctrasanufacturers of DRAM, flash
memory devices, and microprocessor, chipset aret & C devices. For fiscal 2012 , 2011 and 2(Hles to manufacturers of DRAM devi
accounted for 57% , 68% and 70% , respectivelpuofrevenues, sales to manufacturers of Flash medasices accounted for 17%, 15% and
16% , respectively, of our revenues and sales toufaaturers of SoC devices accounted for 26% , afele14%, respectively, of our revenus
We anticipate that sales of our wafer probe caitlsepresent a substantial majority of our revesifa the foreseeable future. Our success
depends in large part upon the continued acceptanmer products within these markets and our gghiti continue to develop and introduce
new products that meet our customers' requirenmntstimely basis for these markets. In particutagontinue to grow our business, we neec
to gain additional market share with manufactucéiSlash memory and SoC devices. To the extentikadre unable to realize cost reduction
and manufacturing efficiencies in the productioroof wafer probe cards, or if we are not ablerteety deliver our products, our revenues and
business operations could be adversely impactedandbility to grow could suffer. As our next geatgon wafer probe cards are used in
greater volume in commercial production, it is pligsthat we will identify certain areas of techaliperformance that require improvement,
and if we are unable to continually, efficientlydain a timely manner improve our products, we caultfer reduced demand for our products
and our operating results could be harmed. If chgmufacturers fail to make architecture, node chielogy transitions as we anticipate, or if
anticipated or announced transitions are delayeduld adversely impact our revenues and operaésglts. In addition, we might not be able
to sustain or increase our revenues from salesrofvafer probe cards, particularly if conditionglie semiconductor market continue to
deteriorate or do not improve or if the market em@nother downturn. Any decrease in revenues fales of our wafer probe cards could h
our business more than it would if we offered a emtiversified line of products.

If our relationships with our customers and compags that manufacture semiconductor test equipmentederate, our product developme
activities could be harmed.

The success of our product development effortsmpapon our ability to anticipate market trendd &ncollaborate closely with our
customers and with companies that manufacture sewbictor test equipment. Our relationships witts¢heustomers and companies provide
us with access to valuable information regardingacturing and process technology trends in th@@mductor industry, which enables us
to better plan our product development activitidsese relationships also provide us with opportesito understand the performance and
functionality requirements of our customers, whitiprove our ability to customize our products ttifitheir needs. Our relationships with
test equipment companies are important to us bedassequipment companies can design our wafbeprards into their equipment and
provide us with the insight into their product @ahat allows us to offer wafer probe cards forwgh their products when they are introduced
to the market. Our relationships with our custonaard test equipment companies could deteriorateif:

» become concerned about our ability to protect timédllectual propert
» become concerned with our ability to deliver gyatitoducts on a timely bas

» develop their own solutions to address the neetk&ing improvemer
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» implement chip designs that include enhanceli-bugself-test capabilitie:
e regard us as a competi

» introduce their own wafer probe card prod

» establish relationships with others in our indu;

e acquire or invest in a competitive wafer probedcmanufacturer or enter into a business ventitreaxcompetitive wafer probe card
manufacturer; or

» attempt to restrict our ability to enter into réatships with their competitol

Many of our customers and the test equipment corapame work with are large companies. The conserpseaf deterioration in our
relationship with any of these companies couldxzeerbated due to the significant influence thesepmanies can exert in our markets. If our
current relationships with our customers and tgatmment companies deteriorate, or if we are untbtievelop similar collaborative
relationships with important customers and tesimgant companies in the future, our long-term abtlb produce commercially successful
products could be impaired.

Because we generally do not have a sufficient bagkbf unfilled orders to meet our quarterly reventergets, revenues in any quarter a
substantially dependent upon customer orders reediand fulfilled in that quarter.

Our revenues are difficult to forecast because @reerplly do not have sufficient backlog of unfillediers to meet our quarterly revenue
targets at the beginning of a quarter. Ratherpatantial percentage of our revenues in any qudeeend upon customer orders for our wafer
probe cards that we receive and fulfill in that jeia Because our expense levels are based impanir expectations as to future revenues an
to a large extent are fixed in the short term, vighinbe unable to adjust spending in time to corspenfor any unexpected shortfall in
revenues. Accordingly, any significant shortfallrefenues in relation to our expectations could bur operating results.

We manufacture substantially all our products at ofacilities in Livermore, San Jose, and Carlsba@alifornia, and any disruption in the
operations of these facilities could adversely inspaur business and operating results.

Our manufacturing processes require sophisticatddeapensive equipment and specially designedtfasilincluding semiconductor
clean rooms. We manufacture the majority of ourewvafobe cards at our facilities located in Livermy@Gan Jose, and Carlsbad, California.
Any disruption in our manufacturing, whether duesmtamination in our manufacturing process, tewdror labor difficulties, destruction or
damage from fire or earthquake, infrastructureufais such as power or water shortage or any o#lason, could interrupt our operations,
impair critical systems, disrupt communicationshwour customers and suppliers, and cause us te affitnventory, thereby potentially
resulting in the loss of revenues. In additiorthé previous energy crises in California that resliin disruptions in power supply and increase
in utility costs were to recur, we might experiepoaver interruptions and shortages, which couldugiisour manufacturing operations. This
could subject us to loss of revenues as well asfaigntly higher costs of energy. Further, currantl potential customers might not purchase
our products if they perceive our lack of a fullyepational alternate manufacturing facility to bes& to their continuing source of supply.

If we are unable to continue to reduce the timdakes for us to design and produce a wafer probedc@ur growth could be impede:

Our customers continuously seek to reduce theitita&es them to introduce new products to markee cyclicality of the
semiconductor industry, coupled with changing destsdior semiconductor devices, requires our custsitoebe flexible and highly adaptable
to changes in the volume and mix of products thegtrproduce. Each of those changes requires a esigrdand each new design requires a
new wafer probe card. For some existing semicomdutgvices, the manufacturers' volume and mix oflpct requirements are such that we
are unable to design, manufacture and ship prodocteet manufacturers' relatively short cycle thmguirements. We have lost sales in the
past where we were unable to meet a customer'seedaielivery schedule for wafer probe cards fpagticular design. If we are unable to
reduce the time it takes for us to design, manufacand ship our products in response to the nefenlsr customers, our competitive position
could be harmed and we could lose sales. If weiaable to grow design capacity in the event deniaecrgases, our ability to respond to
customer requirements could be challenged andemanues could be negatively impacted.

We obtain some of the components and materials we in our products from a sole source or a limitgtbup of suppliers, and the partial «
complete loss of one of these suppliers could cguseluction delays and a substantial loss of revesu

We obtain some of the components and materialsinsaar products, such as printed circuit boarecagsdies, plating materials and
ceramic substrates, from a sole source or a lingitedp of suppliers. Alternative sources are noteguly
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available for sole source components and mateBalsause we rely on purchase orders rather thaateam contracts with the majority of our
suppliers, we cannot predict with certainty oudigbio obtain components and materials in the Emgrm. A sole or limited source supplier
could increase prices, which could lead to a dedlnour gross margin. Our dependence upon sdimibed source suppliers exposes us to
several other risks, including inability to obtain adequate supply of materials, late deliveriespmor component quality. In addition, the
ability of any of these suppliers to timely provide with sufficient quality materials would be athady affected if they are forced to reduce or
discontinue operations due to financial difficudtievhich is a heightened risk during the curremnemic downturn. Disruption or termination
of the supply of components or materials could ylslipments of our products, damage our custontatiorships and reduce our revenues.
For example, if we were unable to obtain an adegsapply of a component or material, we might havese a substitute component or
material, which could require us to make changesimmanufacturing process and could also requn® we-qualify impacted product at
certain customers. From time to time, we have égpeed difficulties in receiving shipments from asremore of our suppliers, especially
during periods of high demand for our productsvéfcannot obtain an adequate supply of the comps@e materials we require, or do not
receive them in a timely manner, we might be rexfuto identify new suppliers. We might not be dbléentify new suppliers on a timely
basis or at all. We, as well as our customers, @valdo need to qualify any new suppliers. The lia@-required to identify and qualify new
suppliers could affect our ability to timely shiprgproducts and cause our operating results tesufirther, a sole or limited source supplier
could require us to enter into non-cancelable ppselcommitments, minimum volume purchases or pagwance to ensure our source of
supply. In an industry downturn or in an environmienvhich growth is not at a level we projectedaaticipated, commitments of this type
could result in charges for excess inventory ofgpadturther, if a customer's needs for a partiqotabe card design and purchase orders for
those probe cards are spread out over several maatbpposed to being placed at one time in aessmpgichase order, it may cause us to
purchase excessive materials in light of minimuncpase requirements or to be unable to realizenweldiscounts for materials because of thi
lack of visibility into the customer's overall ptiasse plan. These purchase issues would requireinsur a greater cost of goods sold than we
might otherwise realize. Additionally, if we arealnie to predict our component and materials needsrately, or if our supply is disrupted, we
might miss market opportunities by not being ableneet the demand for our products.

Wafer probe cards that do not meet specificatiomgtat contain defects could damage our reputatiaecrease market acceptance of our
technology, cause us to lose customers and revenaed result in liability to us.

The complexity and ongoing development of our wafebe card manufacturing process, combined witremses in wafer probe card
production volumes, have in the past and coulthénftiture lead to design or manufacturing probldfes.example, we have experienced the
presence of contaminants in our plating baths, wheve caused a decrease in our manufacturingsydeldave resulted in unanticipated stres:
related failures when our wafer probe cards aregoesed in the manufacturing test environment. €bigamination problem caused a yield
decline that, in turn, resulted in our inabilitytbmely ship products to our customers. Manufaaidesign errors such as the mis-wiring of a
wafer probe card or the incorrect placement of prodntact elements have caused us to repeat mémirigadesign steps. In addition to these
examples, problems might result from a number ofois, including design defects, materials faildadure of components manufactured by
our suppliers to meet our specifications, contationan the manufacturing environment, impuritiaghe materials used, unknown sensitiv
to process conditions, such as temperature anddityrand equipment failures. As a result, our pictd have in the past contained and might
in the future contain undetected errors or defefy. errors or defects could:

» cause lower than anticipated yields and lengthdimetg schedule:
e cause delays in product shipme

e cause delays in new product introductit

e cause us to incur warranty expen

» resultinincreased costs and diversion of devetgmesource

* cause us to incur increased charges due to unusablgory

e require design modifications;

» decrease market acceptance or customer satisfacitiothese product

The occurrence of any one or more of these evenitlsl @dversely affect our operating results.

In addition, if any of our products fails to mepesifications when installed in the customer's éestironment, or has reliability, quality
or compatibility problems, our reputation coulddsmaged significantly and customers might be rahict
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to buy our products, which could result in a dezlim revenues, an increase in product returns orawty costs and the loss of existing
customers or the failure to attract new custom@ts.customers use our products with test equipredtsoftware in their manufacturing
facilities. Our products must be compatible with tustomers' equipment and software to form amgiated system. While we have designed
our test capabilities and standards to replicaethual test environment of our customers andragty work to improve our capabilities, it
possible that our wafer probe card will perfornfatiéntly in the customers' actual test environmdhtsur wafer probe card does not function
properly within a customer's specific test enviremt) we could be required to provide field applmatngineers to locate the problem, which
can take time and resources. If the problem retatesir wafer probe cards, we might have to ing&gtificant capital, manufacturing capacity
and other resources to correct it. Our currentobemtial customers also might seek to recover fugrany losses resulting from defects or
failures in our products. Liability claims couldgudre us to spend significant time and money igdtion or to pay significant damages.

If our ability to forecast demand for our productdeteriorates or the predictability of our manufaaing yields does not improve, we cot
incur higher inventory losses than we currently exgpence.

Each semiconductor chip design requires a custofaryaobe card. Because our products are degpgeific, demand for our product:
difficult to forecast. Due to our customers' shaelivery time requirements, we often design anapre materials and, at times, produce our
products in anticipation of demand for our produatber than in response to an order. Our manuiagtyields, particularly for new products,
have historically been unpredictable and consedyyemé generally produce more components for prcares, or actual probe cards, than
forecasted demand. If we do not obtain orders aantieipate, or if we continue to produce excessiiiory to compensate for unpredictable
manufacturing yields, we could have excess or @bsahventory for a specific customer design thatwould not be able to sell to any other
customer, which would likely result in inventoryiteroffs or material charges for scrap.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of inteal and disclosure controls, we may not be ablatzurately report our financial results ¢
prevent fraud, which may adversely affect our busss and reputation. In addition, current and potéaitstockholders could lose confident
in our financial reporting, which may adversely inggt the trading price of our securities.

Effective internal and disclosure controls are seaey for us to provide reliable financial repottsprevent fraud and to operate
successfully as a public company. If we cannot jsl@veliable financial reports or prevent fraudr business and reputation may be harmed.
We regularly review and assess our internal cowivel financial reporting and our disclosure colstand procedures. As part of that process,
we may discover material weaknesses or signifidafitiencies in our internal control as defined emstandards adopted by the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board, or PCAOB, tlegjuire remediation. A material weakness is a @&firy, or combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over financiapogting, such that there is a reasonable posgiltilat a material misstatement of the company'
annual or interim financial statements will notgrevented or detected on a timely basis. A sigaificeficiency is a deficiency or combinat
of deficiencies, in internal control over financiaporting that is less severe than a material nesk yet important enough to merit attentio
those responsible for the oversight of the comsafityancial reporting. As a result of weaknesses iy be identified in our internal controls,
we may also identify certain deficiencies in sorheur disclosure controls and procedures that vieverequire remediation. If we discover
weaknesses, we will make efforts to improve ougrimél and disclosure controls. However, there iaggurance that we will be successful. If
we fail to maintain effective controls or timelyfedt any necessary improvement of our internaldiadlosure controls, we may not have
accurate information to make management decismrspperating results could be harmed or we mdydaneet our reporting obligations,
which could affect our ability to remain listed tvithe NASDAQ Global Market. Ineffective internaldadisclosure controls could also cause
stockholders to lose confidence in our reportedrfoial information and our ability to manage ousibess, which would likely have a negative
effect on the trading price of our securities.

We might be subject to claims of infringement ohet parties' proprietary rights which could harm gwbusiness.

In the future, as we have in the past, we mightik@cclaims that we are infringing intellectual peoty rights of others or inquiries abc
our interest in a license, or assertions that vealrzelicense, to the intellectual property. Theisenductor industry is characterized by
uncertain and conflicting intellectual propertyiola and vigorous protection and pursuit of theghts. The resolution of any claims of this
nature, with or without merit, could be time consogn result in costly litigation or cause produbimnent delays. In the event of an adverse
ruling or settlement, we might be required to palystantial damages, cease the use or sale ofgirfgmproducts, spend significant resources t
develop non-infringing technology, discontinue tise of certain technology and/or enter into liceagg@ements. License agreements, if
required, might not be available on terms accepttbls. The loss of access to any of our intellgiroperty or the ability to use any of our
technology could harm our business. Finally, cartdiour customer contracts contain provisions thqtiire us to defend and/or indemnify our
customers for third party intellectual propertyrinffement claims, which would increase the coststof an adverse ruling or settlement.
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We may not be able to recruit or retain qualifie@sonnel, which could harm our business.

We believe our ability to manage successfully armmvgour business and to develop new products deppémthrge part, on our ability to
recruit and retain qualified employees, particyidighly skilled technical, sales, management, lemdstaff personnel. Competition for
qualified resources is intense and other compana@shave greater resources available to providstantial inducements to lure key persor
away from us or to offer more competitive compeiosgpackages to individuals we are trying to hidditionally, we have implemented
global cost reduction plans in which we have redumgr workforce, which could make it challengingétain key people and recruit new
talent, as needed. While we are implementing progr attract employees, and we may grant addlteopsity compensation to certain
employees outside of our annual equity grant progia retention purposes, or implement retentionusoprograms for certain employees,
there can be no assurance that we will be abledcessfully recruit and retain the qualified persgrwe require.

As part of our sales process, we could incur subsia sales and engineering expenses that do naulein revenues, which would harm ot
operating results.

Our customers generally expend significant effextaluating and qualifying our products prior togiey an order. The time that our
customers require to evaluate and qualify our wafebe cards is typically between three and 12 hmand sometimes longer. While our
customers are evaluating our products, we mightrisabstantial sales, marketing, and research emela@pment expenses. For example, we
typically expend significant resources educatingprospective customers regarding the uses anditeokour wafer probe cards and
developing wafer probe cards customized to therpialecustomer's needs, for which we might notdimbursed. Although we commit
substantial resources to our sales efforts, we thmgher receive any revenues from a customer. ¥ample, many semiconductor chip designs
never reach production, including designs for whighmay have expended design effort and expensealdition, prospective customers might
decide not to use our wafer probe cards. The leofgtime that it takes for the evaluation process or us to make a sale depends upon man
factors including:

» the efforts of our sales force and our distribatied independent sales representat
» the complexity of the customer's fabrication prees
» the internal technical capabilities of the custanasx

» the customer's budgetary constraints and, in paaticthe customer's ability to devote resourceblecevaluation proce:

In addition, product purchases are frequently stligedelays, particularly with respect to largstomers for which our products may
represent a small percentage of their overall pageh. As a result, our sales cycles are unpretictélve incur substantial sales and
engineering expenses without generating revenwesperating results could be harmed.

Ouir failure to comply with environmental laws anagulations could subject us to significant fines @fiabilities, and new laws and
regulations or changes in regulatory interpretatiasr enforcement could make compliance more diffitaind costly.

We are subject to various U.S. Federal, state @eal,|land foreign governmental laws and regulatreteging to the protection of the
environment, including those governing the discharfpollutants into the air and water, the manag@nand disposal of hazardous substance
and wastes, the cleanup of contaminated siteshench&intenance of a safe workplace. We could iagbstantial costs, including cleanup
costs, civil or criminal fines or sanctions anddhparty claims for property damage or personalrinjas a result of violations of or liabilities
under environmental laws and regulations or nongl@nce with the environmental permits requiredwat facilities.

These laws, regulations and permits also couldirediue installation of costly pollution control@gment or operational changes to
limit pollution emissions or decrease the likelidaaf accidental releases of hazardous substantasdition, changing laws and regulations,
new laws and regulations, stricter enforcementadtimg laws and regulations, the discovery of prasly unknown contamination at our or
others' sites or the imposition of new cleanup iregoents could require us to curtail our operatioastrict our future expansion, subject us to
liability and cause us to incur future costs thaild harm our operations, thereby adversely impgatur operating results and cash flow.

Because we conduct most of our business internadilty) we are subject to operational, economic, fir@al and political risks abroad

Sales of our products to customers outside Nortledea have accounted for a significant part ofrewenues. Our international sales a:
a percentage of our revenues were 85% , 85% andf@0fiscal 2012 , 2011 and 2010 , respectivelydifidnally, certain of our South Korean
customers purchase through their North Americasisiidries. In the future, we
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expect international sales, particularly in Jagoyth Korea and Taiwan, to continue to accounafsignificant percentage of our revenues.
Accordingly, we will be subject to risks and chaties that we would not otherwise face if we congldictur business solely in North America.

These risks and challenges include:

compliance with a wide variety of foreign laws aedulations

legal uncertainties regarding taxes, tariffs, qspéxport controls, export licenses and other thadeers
political and economic instability or foreign cadofk that involve or affect the countries of oustmmers
difficulties in collecting accounts receivable dodger accounts receivable payment cy:

difficulties in staffing and managing personneftdbutors and representativ

reduced protection for intellectual property rigimtsome countrie

currency exchange rate fluctuations, which coufdcfthe value of our assets denominated in logakocy, as well as the price of «
products relative to locally produced products;

seasonal fluctuations in purchasing patterns ierotbuntries; ar

fluctuations in freight rates and transportatiosragptions

Any of these factors could harm our existing in&gional operations, impair our ability to continespanding into international markets

or materially adversely affect our operating resultdditionally, we are required to comply withdagn import and export requirements,
customs and value added tax standards. Our fadureet these requirements and standards couldivedgampact our business operations.
As an example in the third quarter of 2011, we ir@akinquiries from a foreign jurisdiction tax aatity regarding certain indirect tax matters.
We cooperated with these inquiries, which relatedur prior shipping process for new product qigdiions and for products for certain of «
repair center activities.

The trading price of our common stock has been dadikely to continue to be volatile, and you mighbt be able to sell your shares at or
above the price that you paid for them.

The trading prices of the securities of technologgnpanies have been highly volatile, and from Ddman30, 2012 through March 5,

2013, our stock price has ranged from $4.56 aestoe$5.15 a share. The trading price of our comatock is likely to continue to be subject
to wide fluctuations. Factors affecting the tradprgce of our common stock include:

variations in our operating resu
our forecasts and financial guidance for futurequks;

announcements of technological innovations, pevducts or product enhancements, new product ehspat semiconductor
customers or significant agreements by us or byconrpetitors;

reports regarding our ability to bring new produote volume production efficientl
the gain or loss of significant orders or custon

changes in the estimates of our operating resulthanges in recommendations by any securitiglysts that elect to follow our
common stock;

rulings on various of our pending litigations arrdqeedings relating to intellectual property mat,
seasonality, principally due to our customers' pasing cycle:
market and competitive conditions in our indussgmiconductor industry and the economy as a wiaole

recruitment or departure of key person

In addition, if the market for technology stocksloe stock market in general experiences losswasitor confidence, the trading price of

our common stock could decline for reasons unreéleteur business, operating results or finan@aldition. The trading price of our common



stock also might decline in reaction to events #ffect other companies in our industry even iSthevents do not directly affect us.
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Provisions of our certificate of incorporation andylaws or Delaware law might discourage, delay oeyent a change of control of oL
company or changes in our management and, therefatepress the trading price of our common stock.

Delaware corporate law and our certificate of ipowation and bylaws contain provisions that coustaurage, delay or prevent a
change in control of our company or changes innsamagement that the stockholders of our companydeayn advantageous. These
provisions:

» establish a classified board of directors so tloatai members of our board are elected at one;
» provide that directors may only be removed "forseiuand only with the approval of 66.7% of our ktomders
*  require supemajority voting to amend some provisions in outtifieate of incorporation and bylav

» authorize the issuance of "blank check" preféstck that our board could issue to increasatimeber of outstanding shares and to
discourage a takeover attempt;

« limit the ability of our stockholders to call spatmeetings of stockholde
» prohibit stockholder action by written consent, gfhrequires all stockholder actions to be takemmaeeting of our stockholde
» provide that the board of directors is expresshharized to make, alter or repeal our bylaws;

» establish advance notice requirements for notioins for election to our board or for proposingttees that can be acted upon by
stockholders at stockholder meetings.

In addition, Section 203 of the Delaware Generajp®mtion Law may discourage, delay or preventangk in control of our company.
In addition, each of our named executive officerd eertain other officers of the company have ewxténto change of control severance
agreements, which were approved by our Compens@tiommittee, which could increase the costs assatiaith a change of control and th
potentially deter such a transaction.

New regulations related to conflict minerals mayrée us to incur additional expenses, may make oupgly chain more complex and me
result in damage to our relationships with custonser

On August 22, 2012, as mandated by the Dodd-Fraalk S8treet Reform and Consumer Protection Act di®®@he SEC adopted new
disclosure regulations for public companies thahuof@cture products that contain certain mineratstarir derivatives, namely tin, tantalum,
tungsten or gold, known as conflict minerals, #gb minerals are necessary to the functionalifyr@duction of the company’s products. These
regulations require such issuers to report annudiigther or not such minerals originate from thenDeratic Republic of Congo and adjoining
countries and in some cases to perform extensigalidigence on their supply chains for such mireréhe implementation of these new
requirements could adversely affect the sourcingilability and pricing of conflict minerals used the manufacture of semiconductor
equipment, including our products. In addition, may incur additional costs to comply with the distire requirements, including costs rel.
to determining the source of any of the relevantarals used in our products. Since our supply cisatomplex, the due diligence procedures
that we implement may not enable us to ascert&mtiygins for these minerals or determine thatdhramerals are DRC conflict-free. We may
also face difficulties in satisfying customers whay require that our products be certified as DR@flt-free, which could harm our
relationships with these customers and lead tesdb revenue. These new requirements also couklthe effect of limiting the pool of
suppliers from which we source these mineralsvamanay be unable to obtain conflict-free mineralsanpetitive prices, which could
increase our costs and adversely affect our maturfag operations and our profitability.

Item 1B: Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
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Item 2:  Properties

Our corporate headquarters, which includes salaggating, administration, manufacturing, enginegrend research and development
facilities, is located in Livermore, California, ied States. Our corporate headquarters comprisampus of four buildings totaling
approximately 169,000 square feet. We presenthel¢laose four buildings. We also own one buildirfigolv was a part of our older
manufacturing facility and which is being utilizéat storage. In addition, we lease office, repai aervice, manufacturing and/or research an
development space both inside and outside of thietlStates. The leases expire at various timesigir 2021. We believe that our existing
and planned facilities are suitable for our curmseds.

Information concerning our properties as of Decan®®e 2012 is set forth below:

Square
Location Principal Use Footage = Ownership
Livermore, Corporate headquarters, sales, marketing, fingomoduct 168,63t Leased
California, United  design, manufacturing, service and repair, distitiow
States research and development
Livermore, Storage 13,53  Owned
California, United
States
San Jose, California Sales, marketing, finance, product design, manuifn, 39,89 Leased
United States service and repair, distribution, research and logveent
Carson City, NevadaSales, marketing, product design, manufacturimyieeand 31,10( Leased
United States repair, distribution for non probe cards business
Carlsbad, California, Product design, manufacturing, service and repair, 25,63¢ Leased
United States distribution, research and development
Austin, Texas, Unite Service and repair 2,02t  Leased
States
Singapore Sales, finance, product design, service, fieldisensupply 25,27¢  Leased
chain.
SuZhou, China Sales, marketing, finance, manufagtuproduct design, 9,70C Leased
service and repair, distribution, research and ldgweent
Jubei City, Hsinchu, Sales office, product design, field service andinepenter 9,30¢ Leased
Taiwan
Hsinchu, Taiwan Sales office, field service, aegair center 1,267 Leased
Yokohama City, Field service, and repair center 8,771 Leased
Japan
Tokyo, Japan Sales office, marketing, productgtesiesearch and 7,81¢ Leased
development (*)
Hiroshima, Japan  Repair center 1,61t Leased
Gyeonggi-do, South 7,97¢ Leased
Korea Sales office, product design, field servarg] repair center
Gyeonggi-Do, South 1,00 Leased
Korea Sales office, field service, and repair center
Dresden, Germany  Sales office 2,28z Leased
Singapore Sales office, field service, and repair center 1,33¢  Leased
Shanghai, China Sales office 41¢  Leased
Southbury, 14:  Leased
Connecticut, United
States Sales office

* These functions moved to our Yokohama City, Japiiae in first quarter of fiscal 2013.
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Item 3: Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may be subject to legal pedirgs and claims in the ordinary course of busin&s of the filing of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, we were not involved in anytenal legal proceedings, other than the proceedsgmmarized below. In the future we
may become a party to additional legal proceedingsmay require us to spend significant resoulicetjding proceedings designed to protec
our intellectual property rights and to collecttpdise accounts receivable from our customers.

We believe that the factual allegations and cirdamses underlying the legal proceedings descrileémibthat have been filed against
are without merit. We also believe that our compdogs not have a material monetary damages expiostirese legal proceedings that would
individually or in the aggregate have a materialeade effect on our financial condition, liquidiy results of operations; however, these legal
proceedings have been costly and it is possibleivéncur significant, and possibly material, atteys' fees, which may not be covered by ou
insurance policies. These legal proceedings maydilert our management's time and attention away business operations, which could
prove to be disruptive to our business operatibnaddition, an unfavorable outcome or settleméihese proceedings, particularly if it is not
covered by or exceeds our insurance coverage, tadilddually or in the aggregate adversely impaut financial condition, liquidity or
results of operations.

Patent Litigation

In July 2010, we filed a lawsuit in the United 8&District Court for the Northern District of (falinia, case no. 4:10-cv-03095-PJH (the
"Action"), against MicroProbe Inc. and a MicroPratféicer who was a former FormFactor employee hie Action, we asserted patent
infringement and unfair competition claims agaistroProbe, and trade secret misappropriation aeddh of confidence claims against
MicroProbe and the former FormFactor employee. ©toker 16, 2012, and in connection with our actjoisiof Astria Semiconductor
Holdings, Inc., the parent of MicroProbe; FormFackstria Semiconductor Holdings, MicroProbe anel thrmer FormFactor employee
entered into a Confidential Settlement Agreemedttaese parties along with certain other entitrgered into a Confidential Release
Agreement, both to resolve the Action in favor ofiaFactor for $3.3 million.

One or more third parties have initiated challengebe U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, or USPad@ajnst certain of our patents,
including requests for reexamination directed t@fthe patents-in-suit in the Action. The USPTrmged the re-examination requests directe
to U.S. Patent Nos. 6,246,247, 6,825,422, 6,441 &1% 7,225,538, and granted in part the requéststeld to U.S. Patent Nos. 6,965,244,
7,227,371 and 7,671,614. Requests for reexaminafitile Company's U.S. Patent Nos. 6,615,485 a621&48 and 5,994,152 were also
granted by the USPTO. With respect to US Patent Bl§94,152, 6,246,247, 6,624,648, 6,965,244, 7684/ the re-examination proceedings
have concluded and re-examination certificatese@dstihe Company did not appeal the adverse USPTBidle regarding US Patent No.
6,615,485. The foreign actions include proceedinggiwan against several of our Taiwan patents.

No provision has been made for patent-relatedalitim because we believe that it is not probaldé dHiability had been incurred as of
December 29, 2012 . We have incurred and will incuhe future material attorneys' fees in prosaguand defending the various identified
actions.

Item 4: Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART Il
ltem 5: Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Sktwlder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Seities
Price Range of Common Stock

Our common stock is listed on the NASDAQ Global kdrunder the symbol "FORM". The following tablésstorth the range of high
and low closing sales prices per share as reportaétle Nasdaq Global Market for the periods indidat

Fiscal 2012 High Low

First Quarter $ 57t % 4.8t
Second Quarter 6.6: 5.1¢€
Third Quarter 6.8¢ 5.0t
Fourth Quarter 5.6t 3.7¢
Fiscal 2011 High Low

First Quarter $ 1077 $ 8.5t
Second Quarter 10.7(¢ 8.5¢
Third Quarter 9.6: 6.41
Fourth Quarter 6.74 4.6¢

The closing sales price of our common stock orNASDAQ Global Market w as $5.00 per share on M&cB013 . As of March 5,
2013, there were 154 registered holders of reobodir common stock.

Repurchase of Common Stock

On October 20, 2010, our Board of Directors autteatia program to repurchase up to $50.0 millibautstanding common stock. Un
the authorized stock repurchase program, we welmrred to repurchase shares from time to timéheropen market; the pace of repurchas
activity will depend on levels of cash generatiourent stock price, and other factors. The stegkirchase program was announced on
October 26, 2010 and had a scheduled expiratianafadctober 19, 2011.

On October 12, 2011, our Board of Directors auttestithe extension of this repurchase program thir@ober 19, 2012. Under the
program, we were authorized to repurchase up ateadf $40.5 million of outstanding common stoekidg the program period. The terms
and conditions of the extended repurchase progeamained the same as those in the original progpproged in fiscal 2010. All of our
repurchases were made under the authorized remargihagram.

During fiscal year 2010 , we repurchased and &ffi® 000 shares of common stock at a cost of $dl&m. During fiscal 2011, we
repurchased and retired 2,332,740 shares of constook at a cost of $16.4 million. We did not refharee any shares of common stock undel
this program during fiscal 2012 .

Repurchased shares are retired upon the settlehtirg related trade transactions. Our policy ezldb repurchases of our common
stock is to charge the excess of cost over paevaladditional paid-in capital. All repurchasegevmade in compliance with Rule 10b-18
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as aetnd

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends ooa@umon stock. We currently expect to retain edlimble funds and any future
earnings for use in the operation and developmientiobusiness. Accordingly, we do not anticipageldring or paying cash dividends on our
common stock in the foreseeable future.

Stock Price Performance Graph

The following graph shows the total stockholdeuretof an investment of $100 in cash on DecembgRBQ7 through December 29,
2012 , for (1) our common stock, (2) the S&P 50fetaand (3) the RDG Semiconductor Composite Indéxialues assume reinvestment of
the full amount of all dividends. No cash divideiindsre been declared on shares of our common s$ta&kholder returns over the indicated
period are based on historical data and are n&ssecily indicative of future stockholder returns.
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COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Amoaong Form Factar, Inc., the S &P 500 Index, and the RDG Semiconductor Cam posite Index
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FE100 inwested on 12521407 in stock orindex, including reinwvestmentof divide nds.
Fizcal year ending Deacember 31.
Copyright® 2013 58P, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc. All ights reserved.
Cumulative Total Return
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
FormFactor, Inc. $ 100.0¢ $ 4411 % 65.71 $ 26.8: % 15.2¢ $ 13.7¢
S&P 500 100.0( 63.0C 79.67 91.67 93.61 108.5¢
RDG Semiconductor
Composite 100.0( 50.9¢ 85.61 99.01 92.4¢ 91.0(C

$100 invested on December 31, 2007, including estment of dividend
Fiscal year ending December 31.
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Iltem 6: Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolidated financial datderived from our consolidated financial statetaemhis data should be read in
conjunction with our consolidated financial statemseand the related notes, and "ltem 7: ManagemPBrgtussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations" containedvetteze in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2012 (1) (2) 2011 (1)(2) 2010 (1)(2) 2009 (1)(2) Fiscal
(5)(7) (5)(6) (3)4)(6) (5)(6) 2008

(in thousands, except per share data)
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:

Revenues $178,53! $169,32! $188,56! $135,33' $ 210,18¢
Gross profit(loss) 25,33: 20,95¢ (2,272) 81¢ 36,26
Net loss (35,54¢  (65,98) (188,28 (155,65)  (80,62)
Basic loss per share $ 070 $ (1.3) $ (379 $ (31H $ (1.6%
Diluted loss per share $ 070 $ (1.3) $ (379 $ (31H $ (L.6%

Consolidated Balance Sheets Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securfiie85,78¢ $296,69. $347,23! $449,23" $ 522,89:

Working capital 194,12  308,38( 370,767 482,60 576,75:
Total assets 395,68: 383,07. 466,05: 655,96¢ 785,71
Capital leases, net of current portion 34C — — — —
Total stockholders' equity 339,25¢  346,65. 411,20 577,78 706,06
Number of employees 1,021 70¢ 72¢ 80¢ 94C

Q) Fiscal 2012 , 2011, 2010 and 2009 net lossasde restructuring charges, net of $2.9 millj&0.5 million , $15.9 million
and $8.8 million , respectively, relating to ouolgdl restructuring and reorganization actions. I$ete 5—Restructuring
Charges of the Notes to the Consolidated Finaista@tements.

(2) Fiscal 2012, 2011, 2010 and 2009 net lossdsde impairment charges of $0.4 million , $0.8ion , $56.4 million and
$1.3 million , respectively. See Note 7—ImpairmehLong-lived Assets of the Notes to the ConsobdafFinancial
Statements.

€)) Fiscal 2010 gross loss includes an out-ofgukadjustment related to cost of revenues thattezbin $2.9 million of
additional expense offset by an income tax beé&f0.5 million . See Note 1—Formation and Businefsthe Company of
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(4) Fiscal 2010 net loss includes a $3.5 milliangesulting from the release of the liability yicisly recorded as a secured
borrowing due to the dismissal of our complaintiagiea customer.

(5) Fiscal 2012 includes a $25.5 million tax bénfedm the release of deferred tax asset valualtmwances due to deferred tax
liabilities established on the acquired identif@bitangible assets from our acquisition of Miciaky. Additionally, fiscal
2011 includes a $2.5 million tax benefit from tleéense of the deferred tax asset valuation allowvémca non-U.S.
jurisdiction. We recorded a deferred tax assetatan allowance of $57.7 million in fiscal 2009 ags the U.S. excess ti
benefits, including prior years, based on our aseest of the realizability of our U.S. deferred #ssets. This charge resul
in an income tax provision, rather than an incoaxehienefit, for fiscal 2009.

(6) Fiscal 2011 and 2010 include a $0.3 milliod &i.1 million net benefit, respectively, from @mtions on amounts previously
reserved as bad debts. Fiscal 2009 and 2008sgaeneral and administrative expenses includewvgion for bad debts of
$5.0 million and $4.1 million.

@) Fiscal 2012 includes the following as a resfithe MicroProbe acquisition: $19.8 million invemue, $5.4 million in the
amortization of intangibles expense, $2.6 milliefease of pre-existing backlog, $0.2 million chai@estep-up depreciation
on the fair value of fixed assets, resulting ir6a4$million net loss. As part of the acquisitiopatent lawsuit was settled with
a benefit of $3.3 million .
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Item 7: Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our finahcondition and results of operations should kad in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements and the relate@s included elsewhere in this Annual Report om¥b0-K. In addition to historical
consolidated financial information, the followingsdussion and analysis contains forward-lookingestgents that involve risks, uncertainties
and assumptions as described under the "Note RagpFbrward-Looking Statements" that appears eaiiliethis Annual Report on Form 10-
K. Our actual results could differ materially fratmose anticipated by these forwrlooking statements as a result of many factoduiting
those discussed under "ltem 1A: Risk Factors" deelvehere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

We design, develop, manufacture, sell and suppedigion, high performance advanced semiconducédemprobe card products and
solutions. Semiconductor manufacturers use ourmmfie cards to perform wafer sort and test orséimiconductor die, or chips, on the
whole semiconductor wafer, which is prior to sirajidn of the wafer into individual separate chiy& work closely with our customers on
product design, as each wafer probe card is amugtoduct that is specific to the chip and wafesigies of the customer. During wafer sort
test, a wafer probe card is mounted in a probercandected to a semiconductor tester. The wafdregpeard is used as an interface to connec
electrically with and test individual chips on afera Our products can be used to test a broad rahgemiconductor chips, including DRAM,
Flash, SoC, and in-line parametric testing.

During fiscal 2012, we saw revenues increase $3lbmfrom $169.3 million in 2011 to $178.5 million in 20. Revenue growth wi
driven by SoC and Flash product markets which wer817.5 million and $4.9 million, respectively, @hcompared with 2011. SoC product
revenue increase was driven by $19.8 million higfedes added in the fourth quarter from our actiorsdf MicroProbe. Flash sales growth
was driven by increased market share in the NAN@3Hrimarket. DRAM revenue was down $13.2 milliorsuer2011 as the second half of
2012 saw significantly weaker personal computeratairand a less favorable DRAM device pricing envinent.

During fiscal 2012 we continued the activities initiated in 2010¢structure our operations to simplify our ovesaitlicture and bett
align our operations with the current businessmmment, streamline our manufacturing structureraddice both manufacturing cost and
cycle times. As part of this simplification, we texbd our workforce by 49 employees, or 7% , dufisal 2012 , without giving effect to the
MicroProbe acquisition. We incurred net losses38.% million and $66.0 million in fiscal 2012 aniddal 2011 , respectively. Net loss also
decreased year over year due to the reductiondratipg expenses driven by both our restructuraigpas and our continued focus on cost
reduction efforts. The net loss for fiscal 2012linles MicroProbe operating activity from the asifion date to fiscal 2012 year-end of $19.8
million in revenue and $6.4 million of net loss, iafincludes $8.2 million of intangible amortizatiand other expenses. In addition, the net
loss includes restructuring charges of $2.9 milliampairment charges of $0.4 million , and $3.0lion in acquisition and integration costs,
offset by a benefit of $25.5 million from the redesof the U.S jurisdiction deferred tax asset \#@naallowance resulting from the deferred tax
liability recorded for the $77.6 million of intarie assets acquired in the acquisition of MicroBrahd a benefit from our patent settlement.
The net loss for fiscal 2011 was primarily duedaér gross margins on products sold, $0.5 milbbrestructuring charges, and the impairn
of certain long-lived assets of $0.5 million , effdy a benefit of $2.5 milliofrom the release of the deferred tax asset valuatiowance for
non-U.S. jurisdiction.

Recent Acquisition

On October 16, 2012, pursuant to an Agreement ardd? Merger and Reorganization (the “Acquisitidgreement”), dated as of
August 31, 2012, as amended, a whalyned subsidiary of FormFactor merged with and Adtria Semiconductor Holding, Inc., including
subsidiary MicroProbe, Inc. (together “MicroProhefjith Astria continuing as the surviving corpocatiand as a wholly-owned subsidiary of
FormFactor (the "MicroProbe Acquisition”). The Agsjtion was accounted for using the acquisitiontrodtof accounting under which assets
and liabilities of MicroProbe were recorded at thespective fair values including an amount foodwill representing the difference between
the acquisition consideration and the fair valuéhefidentifiable net assets. The total acquisitionsideration of $113.8 million was
determined based on the terms of the AcquisitioreAment which consisted of a) $100 million in casHject to a $3.3 million decrease be
on MicroProbe's working capital as of the consuniomadf the acquisition relative to an agreed upgét, b) 3,020,944 shares of
FormFactor's common stock valued at the closindgetarice of $4.57 on October 16, 2012, and c)téeseent of $3.25 million related to
patent litigation between the two parties.

MicroProbe is a semiconductor equipment companydbsigns, develops, manufactures, sells and ssrhigh performance, custom
designed advanced SoC wafer probe cards and a@lgst equipment used in the semiconductor
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industry. MicroProbe is a global company with opierss in the U.S. and Asia, including China, Sokitrea, Singapore and Taiwan. The
acquisition of MicroProbe enables us to leveragecttmbination of two advanced wafer probe card rfzaturers and expand our SoC produc
portfolio to meaningfully diversify our businessureliminary allocation of the acquisition priaefair value includes intangible assets of
$77.6 million and goodwill of $31.0 million. We inaed $3.0 million of acquisition and integratiomsts which were reported as selling,
general and administrative expense in our Condelii§tatement of Operations for fiscal 2012 (see8c Acquisitions of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements).

We believe the following information is importaotunderstanding our business, our financial statésrend the remainder of this
discussion and analysis of our financial conditimad results of operations:

Fiscal YearFiscal years ended December 29, 2012 and DecerBb2020 had 52 weeks each and fiscal year endeeniiear 31,
2011 had 53 weeks. Our fiscal year ends on theSkistrday in December.

RevenuesNe derive substantially all of our revenues fromdurct sales of wafer probe cards. Revenues froncuatomers are subject
to fluctuations due to factors including, but niatited to, design cycles, technology adoption ratespetitive pressure to reduce prices,
cyclicality of the different end markets into whiohr customers' products are sold and market donditn the semiconductor industry.
Historically, increases in revenues have resultenhfincreased demand for our existing productsijrttreduction of new, more complex
products and the penetration of new markets. Weabthat revenues from the sale of wafer probescaill continue to account for
substantially all of our revenues for the foreséefltture.

Cost of Revenue€ost of revenues consists primarily of manufacwrmaterials, payroll, shipping and handling costs,
manufacturingrelated overhead and amortization of certain intdagssets. Our manufacturing operations rely wpbtmited number of
suppliers to provide key components and mater@lstir products, some of which are a sole-sourceoviler materials and supplies based or
backlog and forecasted customer orders. Toolingsattp costs related to changing manufacturingalotair suppliers are also included in the
cost of revenues. We expense all warranty costsremeahtory provisions as cost of revenues.

We design, manufacture and sell custom advanceerwpabbe cards into the semiconductor test mavigth is subject to significant
variability and demand fluctuations. Our wafer pratards are complex products that are custom pecific chip design of a customer and
must be delivered on relatively short lead-times@spared to our overall manufacturing processodtsadvanced wafer probe cards are
manufactured in low volumes and must be deliveredetatively short leadimes, it is not uncommon for us to acquire productnaterials an
start certain production activities based on edeh@roduction yields and forecasted demand poiar in excess of actual demand for our
wafer probe cards. We record an adjustment toroueritory valuation for estimated obsolete and rallalsle inventories based on assumption
about future demand, past usage, changes to mamufigcprocesses and overall market conditions.

Research and DevelopmeResearch and development expenses include expetstes to product development, engineering and
material costs. Almost all research and developroesiis are expensed as incurred, and capitalizatisach costs have been immaterial in all
periods to date. We plan to continue to invesesearch and development activities to improve ahdmce existing product technologies and
to develop new technologies for current and nevdypets and for new applications.

Selling, General and AdministrativBelling, general and administrative expenses irckipenses related to sales, marketing, and
administrative personnel, provision for doubtfutagnts, internal and outside sales representativegnissions, market research and
consulting, and other sales, marketing, adminisgaictivities, and amortization of certain intavgiassets. These expenses also include cos
for protecting and enforcing our patent rights aegllatory compliance costs.

Restructuring Chargefestructuring charges include costs related to eyegl termination benefits, cost of lolged assets abandor
or impaired, as well as contract termination costs.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assefssset impairment charges include charges assoaidtedhe writedown of assets that have no fut
expected benefit or assets for which circumstairg#isate that the carrying amount of these assagsmot be recoverable, as well as
adjustments to the carrying amount of our assdisfbesale.

Use of Estimated.he preparation of consolidated financial stateméntonformity with generally accepted accountanigciples in th

United States of America (“GAAP”) requires manageirte make estimates and assumptions that affeaethorted amounts of assets and
liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assetd kabilities at the date of the financial
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statements, and the reported amounts of revenukesx@enses during the reporting period. Actuallteswuld differ from those estimates.
Estimates may change as new information is obtaMésbelieve that the estimates, assumptions atghjents involved in revenue
recognition, fair value of marketable securitidiyveance for doubtful accounts, reserves for praduarranty, valuation of obsolete and slow
moving inventory, business combinations, legal it@@ncies, realizability of goodwill, the assesstrrecoverability of long-lived assets,
valuation and recognition of stock-based compeosafirovision for income taxes and related defetagdassets, valuation and tax liabilities
and accruals for other liabilities have the gregtesential impact on our consolidated financiaksients. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial caaditind results of operations are based upon mgatiolated financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with GAAR. dreparation of these financial statements requsrto make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts eftassd liabilities at the date of the financiakstents and the reported amounts of net
revenue and expenses in the reporting period. Eaouating policies are fundamental to understandingfinancial condition and results of
operations reported in our financial statementsratated disclosures. We have identified the folfmpaccounting policies as being critical
because they require our management to make darticdifficult, subjective and/or complex judgmerebout the effect of matters that are
inherently uncertain. We evaluate our estimatesasmsdmptions on an ongoing basis and we basedbt@s®mtes and assumptions on current
facts, historical experiences and various otheofacand assumptions that are believed to be raatmuander the circumstances. Actual result:
may differ materially and adversely from our estiesa Our management has discussed the developseattion, application and disclosure
these critical accounting policies with the Auddr@mittee of our Board of Directors.

Revenue Recognition: We recognize revenue when persuasive evidefrme arrangement exists, title and risk of lossthassferred
to the customer, the selling price is fixed or daieable and collection of the related receivablesiasonably assured. In instances where fina
acceptance of the deliverable is specified by tietamer, revenue is deferred until all acceptaniteriaa have been met.

In October 2009, the Financial Accounting Stand&dard issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2(009Multiple-Deliverable
Revenue Arrangements”. The guidance eliminatese$idual method of revenue recognition and alldvesuse of management's best estimat
of selling price (“BESP”) for individual element$ an arrangement when vendor-specific objectivelevte (“VSOE”) or third-party evidence
(“TPE”") is unavailable. We have adopted this gumaseffective with the first quarter of fiscal 20add it has been applied on a prospective
basis for revenue arrangements entered into orrialemodified after December 25, 2010.

This guidance does not generally change the ufiggoounting for our revenue transactions. We dohawe a significant number
product offerings with multiple elements. Our mpikelement arrangements generally include probe @rdgproduct maintenance and re
services. We allocate revenue to the deliverabdeedb upon their relative selling price. Revenuecalied to each unit of accounting is t
recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangesmests, delivery has occurred or services andered, the sales price or fee is fixe
determinable and collectability is reasonably asguProduct maintenance and repair services amrrddfand recognized ratably over
period during which the services are performedegaty one year, and costs are recorded as incurred

When applying the relative selling price method, de¢ermine the selling price for each deliveratdag VSOE, TPE or BESP. For-
vast majority of our arrangements involving mukigleliverables, such as sales of products withigesythe entire fee from the arrangeme
allocated to each respective element based oal@sve selling price, using VSOE. For those deldes for which we cannot establish VS
we have determined our best estimate of sellingepras the Company has determined it is unabletatbésh TPE of selling price for t
deliverables. The objective of BESP is to determihee price at which we would transact a sale if deéverable were sold on a staalbne
basis. We determine BESP for a deliverable by cmmsig multiple factors including, but not limitead, market conditions, competiti
landscape, internal costs, gross margin objectares pricing practices. The determination of BESPnede through consultation with ¢
formal approval by our management, taking into aersition the go-to-market strategy.

The adoption of the new revenue recognition acéogrgtandards did not have a material impact oncoasolidated financial positic
results of operations, or cash flows for fiscal 2@hd fiscal 2011. If the new accounting stand&mdsevenue recognition had been applie
the same manner during fiscal 2010, there woulchawe been a material impact on total net revenues.

Revenues from the licensing of our design and neantufing technology, which have not been mateoiadte, are
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recognized over the term of the license agreemewhen the significant contractual obligations haeen fulfilled.

Gooduwill: Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase prier the fair value of assets acquired and iteslassumed. We have
determined that we operate in a single segmenhawne a single reporting unit associated with the@gie development, manufacture, sale and
support of precision, high performance advancedammductor wafer probe cards. In September 20ELFRSB amended its guidance to
simplify testing goodwill for impairment, allowingn entity to first assess qualitative factors ttedaine whether it is necessary to perform a
two-step quantitative goodwill impairment testaif entity determines as a result of the qualitedis®essment that it is more likely than not tha
the fair value of a reporting unit is less tharciisrying amount, then the quantitative impairntest is required. Otherwise, no further testin
required. The performance of the quantitative impait test involves a two-step process. The fiegt of the impairment test involves
comparing the fair values of the applicable reportinits with their aggregate carrying values,udaotg goodwill. We generally determine the
fair value of our reporting unit using the inconppeoach methodology of valuation that includesdiseounted cash flow method as well as
other generally accepted valuation methodologfabel carrying amount of a reporting unit exceddsreporting unit's fair value, we perform
the second step of the quantitative impairmentttedetermine the amount of impairment loss. Thoesé step of the goodwill impairment test
involves comparing the implied fair value of théeated reporting unit's goodwill with the carryiaglue of that goodwill. We performed our
goodwill impairment test in the fourth fiscal quentNo impairment charges associated with our gdbend intangible assets were recorded
during fiscal 2012.

Business AcquisitionsOur consolidated financial statements include fherations of an acquired business after the cooplef the
acquisition. We account for acquired businesseagyusie acquisition method of accounting. The adtjoismethod of accounting for acquired
businesses requires, among other things, that asssts acquired and liabilities assumed be recegiztheir estimated fair values as of the
acquisition date, and that the fair value of aagglintangible assets including in-process reseancdhdevelopment, or IPR&D, be recorded on
the balance sheet. Also, transaction costs areneegeas incurred. Any excess of the purchase pvieethe assigned values of the net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities:Cash and cash equivalents consist of depasiti@ancial instruments which are
readily convertible into cash and have originalumiéies of 90 days or less at the time of acquisitiMarketable securities consist primarily of
highly liquid investments with maturities of greatkan 90 days when purchased. We generally classif marketable securities at the date of
acquisition as available-farale. These securities are reported at fair valtlethve related unrealized gains and losses indudéAccumulatec
other comprehensive income", a component of stddkins equity, net of tax. Any unrealized lossescivtare considered to be other-than-
temporary impairments are recorded in "Other incame¢' in the Consolidated Statements of OperatiBeslized gains (losses) on the sale of
marketable securities are determined using thefspa@entification method and recorded in "Othecome, net" in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations. We measure our cashagnts and marketable securities at fair value.

All of our available-for-sale investments are sgbje a periodic impairment review. We record argkao earnings when a decline in
fair value is significantly below cost basis andged to be other-than-temporary, or have othecatdrs of impairments. If the fair value of an
available-for-sale investment is less than its dimed cost basis, an other-themporary impairment is triggered in circumstanebsre (1) w
intend to sell the instrument, (2) it is more lik¢han not that we will be required to sell thetinment before recovery of its amortized cost
basis, or (3) a credit loss exists where we deerpect to recover the entire amortized cost bdsiseoinstrument. If we intend to sell or it is
more likely than not that we will be required tdl $iee available-forsale investment before recovery of its amortizest basis, we recognize
other-than-temporary impairment charge equal teetiiere difference between the investment's anmextoost basis and its fair value.

Restructuring Charges: Restructuring charges include costs relatezhiployee termination benefits, long-lived assefsaimed or
abandoned, and contract termination costs. Therdetation of when we accrue for employee termimatienefits and which standard applies
depends on whether the termination benefits areigied under a one-time benefit arrangement or uadem-going benefit arrangement. For
restructuring charges recorded as an on-going tiemedingement, a liability for post-employment béts is recorded when payment is
probable, the amount is reasonably estimable, lEmadhligation relates to rights that have vestedcoumulated. For restructuring charges
recorded as a one-time benefit arrangement, wegnéo® a liability for employee termination benefithen a plan of termination, approved by
management and establishing the terms of the hieredingement, has been communicated to employhediming of the recognition of one-
time employee termination benefits is dependentuhe period of time the employees are requiraénder service after communication. If
employees are not required to render service iardadreceive the termination benefits or if empley will not be retained to render service
beyond the minimum legal notification period, allay for the termination benefits is recognizedt@e communication date. In instances
where employees will be retained to render sev@end the minimum legal notification period, thabllity for employee termination benefits
is measured initially at the communication datesklasn the fair value of the liability as of ther@mation date and is recognized ratably over
the future service period. We
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continually evaluate the adequacy of the remailiatgjlities under our restructuring initiatives.

We record charges related to long-lived assete tablandoned when the assets cease to be usedviWloerase using a building or other
asset with remaining non-cancelable lease paynecentinuing beyond our use period, we record alltgtfor remaining payments under lease
arrangements, as well as for contract terminatasts; that will continue to be incurred under atmt for its remaining term without
economic benefit to us at the cease-use date. @ieesignificance of, and the timing of the exesutdf such activities, this process is comple
and involves periodic reassessments of estimates miathe time the original decisions were madguding evaluating real estate market
conditions for expected vacancy periods and sugeleants. Although we believe that these estinwtesrately reflect the costs of our
restructuring plans, actual results may differréhg requiring us to record additional provisiomgsaverse a portion of such provisions.

Warranty Obligations: We offer warranties on certain products andrma liability for the estimated future costs asated with
warranty claims at the time revenue is recogniZée. warranty liability is based upon historical exipnce and our estimate of the level of
future costs. While we engage in extensive produatity programs and processes, our warranty didigas affected by product failure rates,
material usage and service delivery costs incurr@trrecting a product failure. We continuouslynitor product returns for warranty and
maintain a reserve for the related expenses basadaur historical experience and any specificialgntified field failures. As we sell new
products to our customers, we must exercise coraitiejudgment in estimating the expected failates. This estimating process is based or
historical experience of similar products, as waslivarious other assumptions that we believe te&®onable under the circumstances.

Inventory Valuation: We state our inventories at the lower of cpsih€ipally standard cost which approximates actask on a first
in, first out basis) or market value. We continyatsess the value of our inventory and will pacalty write down its value for estimated
excess inventory and product obsolescence basedagsomptions about forecasted future sales, pageyand market conditions. On a
quarterly basis, we review inventory quantitieshamd and on order under non-cancelable purchasmitorants in comparison to our past
usage and estimated forecast of product demarttidarext six months to determine what inventoryngtias, if any, may not be sellable.
Based on this analysis, we write down the affeatedntory value for estimated excess and obsolescelmarges. At the point of loss
recognition, a new, lower cost basis for that ineenis established, and subsequent changes s dact circumstances do not result in the
restoration or increase in that newly established basis. Market conditions are subject to chaage,demand for our products can fluctuate
significantly. Actual consumption of inventoriesutd differ from forecasted demand and this diffeecould have a material impact on our
gross profit and inventory balances based on axiditiprovisions for excess or obsolete inventasies benefit from the sale of inventories
previously written down.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts: A majority of our trade receivables are derifieun sales to large multinational semiconductor
manufacturers throughout the world. In order to iwrpotential credit losses, we perform ongoingditr evaluations of our customers'
financial condition. An allowance for doubtful acets is maintained for probable credit losses bagea our assessment of the expected
collectability of all accounts receivable. The albnce for doubtful accounts is reviewed on a quigrtesis to assess the adequacy of the
allowance. We take into consideration (1) any eimstances of which we are aware of a customer'slityaio meet its financial obligations ai
(2) our judgments as to prevailing economic condgiin the industry and their impact on our cust@eme

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets: We test long-lived assets or asset groupsefmoverability when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their carrying amourdg not be recoverable. Circumstances which coigddr a review include, but are not
limited to: significant decreases in the market@if the asset; significant adverse changes ibubimess climate or legal factors;
accumulation of costs significantly in excess & #mount originally expected for the acquisitiorconstruction of the asset; current period
cash flow or operating losses combined with a hystd losses or a forecast of continuing losses@ated with the use of the asset; and cul
expectation that the asset will more likely tham @ sold or disposed of significantly before thd ef its estimated useful life.

Recoverability is assessed based on the carryiryiats of the asset and its fair value which is gahedetermined based on the sum of
the undiscounted cash flows expected to result ffmruse and the eventual disposal of the asseteldas specific appraisals in certain
instances. An impairment loss is recognized wherctrrying amount is not recoverable and exceedsdhue.

Significant judgments and assumptions are requirélde forecast of future operating results usetthépreparation of the estimated
future cash flows, including profit margins, lorgy+n forecasts of the amounts and timing of ovenaliket growth and our percentage of that
market, groupings of assets, discount rates anuriat growth rates. In addition, significant esttemand assumptions are required in the
determination of the fair value of our tangiblededlived assets, including replacement cost, ecoonaisolescence, and the value that could b
realized in an orderly liquidation. Changes in thestimates could have a material adverse effettteassessment of our long-lived assets,
thereby requiring us to write down the assets.
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Income Taxes: We utilize the asset and liability method of@anting for income taxes, under which deferre@saare determined
based on the temporary differences between thadiabstatement and tax basis of assets and tiabilising tax rates expected to be in effect
during the years in which the basis differencegre and for operating losses and tax credit aammgrds. We estimate our provision for
income taxes and amounts ultimately payable orveredle in numerous tax jurisdictions around theldvdestimates involve interpretations
regulations and are inherently complex. Resolubibimcome tax treatments in individual jurisdict®omay not be known for many years after
completion of any fiscal year. We are requiredvaleate the realizability of our deferred tax asset an ongoing basis to determine whether
there is a need for a valuation allowance with eespo such deferred tax assets. A valuation almeas recorded when it is more likely than
not that some of the deferred tax assets will eatdalized. Significant management judgment isiredun determining any valuation
allowance recorded against deferred tax asseevdiuating the ability to recover deferred tax tssge consider available positive and
negative evidence giving greater weight to our mecemulative losses and our ability to carrybamdsks against prior taxable income and,
commensurate with objective verifiability, the foast of future taxable income including the revieos$éemporary differences and the
implementation of feasible and prudent tax planrstigtegies.

We recognize and measure uncertain tax positidentar expected to be taken in a tax return & inre likely than not that the tax
position will be sustained on examination by thertg authorities, based on the technical merithefposition. The tax benefits recognized in
the consolidated financial statements from suclitipas are then measured based on the largestibdrathas a greater than 50 percent
likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settle&Ve report a liability for unrecognized tax bBtseresulting from uncertain tax positions
taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. Wjlesathese reserves in light of changing facts@raimstances, such as the closing of a tax
audit or the refinement of an estimate. To themxeat the final tax outcome of these mattersffertnt than the amounts recorded, such
differences will impact the provision for incomeés in the period in which such determination islmia he provision for income taxes
includes the impact of reserve provisions and chang reserves that are considered appropriateclaas the related net interest. We
recognize interest and penalties related to unmazed tax benefits within the income tax provisiéecrued interest and penalties are include
within the related tax liability line in the consatdted balance sheet.

We file annual income tax returns in multiple taxjnrisdictions around the world. A number of yearay elapse before an uncertain
position is audited and finally resolved. Whilésitoften difficult to predict the final outcome thre timing of resolution of any particular
uncertain tax position, we believe that our reseffee income taxes reflect the most likely outcoiMe adjust these reserves, as well as the
related interest, in light of changing facts amduwinstances. Settlement of any particular positimund require the use of cash.

Stock-Based Compensation: Under provisions of accounting standards, stuséed compensation cost is estimated at the dedat
based on the fair-value of the award and is re@aghas expense ratably over the requisite seréidegof the award. Determining the
appropriate fair-value model and calculating thievalue of stock-based awards at the grant dapeimes considerable judgment, including
estimating stock price volatility, expected optlde and forfeiture rates. We develop our estimdt@sed on historical data and market
information which can change significantly over ¢\ small change in the estimates used can riesaltelatively large change in the
estimated valuation. We use the Black-Scholes optaduation model to value employee stock optioar@s while the fair value for restricted
stock awards and restricted stock units is meadwmedd on the closing market price of our commookson the dated of grant.

The most significant assumptions impacted by mamagés judgment are the expected volatility andetkgected life of the options.
The expected dividend yield and expected risk-iinerest rate are not as significant to the cataneof fair value. In addition, adjustments to
our estimates of the number of share-based payavweantds that we expect to vest did have a signifitapact on the recorded share-based
compensation expense.

Expected volatility: The value of a stock option is derived frompitdential for appreciation. The more volatile gteck, the more
valuable the option becomes because of the grpassibility of significant changes in stock pri@ur computation of expected volatility is
based on a blend of historical volatility of ounmmon stock and implied volatility of traded optidiespurchase shares of our common stock.
Our decision to incorporate implied volatility wiagsed on our assessment that implied volatilifguiflicly traded options in our common
stock is expected to be more reflective of marketditions and, therefore, can reasonably be exgéotbe a better indicator of expected
volatility than historical volatility of our commaostock alone.

Expected life and forfeiture rate: The expected life also has a significant eftecthe value of the option. The longer the tehm,more
time the option holder has to allow the stock ptxecrease without a cash investment and thesnibre valuable the option. Further, longer
option terms provide more opportunity to exploitrket highs. However, employees are not requireaaib until the end of the contractual te
of a nontransferable option to exercise. Accordingle are required to estimate the expected tertheobption. We determine the expected life
by considering several factors, including histdrmation exercise behavior, post vesting turnoaes, contractual terms and vesting periods
the options granted. Similarly, we base our estnadiforfeiture on historical option cancellatioeHavior including pre-vesting turnover rates.
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Out of Period Adjustment

In the third quarter of fiscal 2010, we recordeb¥al million adjustment to cost of revenues neg@b millionincome tax benefit, whic
resulted from an error in the calculation of cd@tad manufacturing variances starting in the fiygarter of fiscal 2009 through the second
quarter of fiscal 2010. The error caused the unaensent of cost of revenues and the overstateaiehé overhead capitalized in inventory
most quarters.

The income tax benefit resulted from a higher ass in 2009 due to higher costs of revenue. Thease in the 2009 loss allowed us
to recover more of our prior year tax paymentsth@ftotal adjustment of $4.1 million to costs oferues, $2.9 million of the adjustment, net
of $0.5 million income tax benefit, was relatedigzal 2009.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our operating resal$ a percentage of revenues:

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2012 2011 2010
Revenues 100.C % 100.C % 100.C %
Cost of revenues 85.¢ 87.¢ 101.2
Gross profit (loss) 14.2 12.4 1.2
Operating expenses:
Research and development 22.t 25.7 29.4
Selling, general and administrative 27.€ 27.€ 35.7
Restructuring charges, net 1.€ 0.3 8.4
Impairment of long lived assets 0.2 0.3 29.¢
Gain on settlement of litigation (1.8 — —
Total operating expenses 50.1 53.¢ 103.¢
Operating loss (35.9 (41.5) (104.¢)
Interest income 04 0.8 14
Other income, net 0.8 0.€ 2.3
Loss before benefit from income taxes (34.7) (40.7 (100.9
Benefit from income taxes (14.9) (1.9) (2.0
Net loss (19.9% (39.0% (99.9%
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Fiscal Years Ended December 29, 2012 and DecemhiePB811 Revenues

Fiscal % of Fiscal % of Change
2012 Revenues 2011 Revenues $ %

(In thousands)
Revenues by Market:

DRAM $ 102,49 57.4% $ 115,67 68.5% $ (13,179  (11.9%
SoC 46,58¢ 26.1 29,05( 17.2 17,53¢ 60.2
Flash 29,45( 16.5 24,59 14.F 4,85: 19.7
Total revenues $ 178,53 100.% $ 169,32 100.% $ 9,24 5.4%

For the global semiconductor market, overall degitgments were down in 2012 compared to 2011. Reagein the memory markets
saw the largest reduction compared to the SoC rharke DRAM market weakened, particularly in thea®d half of the year, as forecasted
consumer demand for personal computers, or P@s)alimaterialize and device pricing fell to levedsulting in unprofitable business for r
suppliers. The NOR and NAND Flash markets alsoided| driven by slow growth in bit shipments leagto an inventory oversupply and
reduced production capacity by leading produces§€ &venue reductions were not as severe as tbhossefnory markets, with PC demand-
related reductions somewhat offset by growth in ilegiirocessor demand.

Overall, our revenues increased by 5% , or $9.8ani| in fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2Qf which $19.8 million was due to t
MicroProbe acquisition. Our revenues increased%Q:dar-over-year in the SoC market and 19.7% ist;lhut were down 11.4% in DRAM.
The change in Flash and DRAM revenues was primdrilyen by unit volume, while the increase in tlrCSevenues was attributed to our
acquisition of MicroProbe.

Our revenues for fiscal 2012 were primarily gerexiaty sales of wafer probe cards to manufactufdbiRé\M devices. The year-on-
year reduction in our revenue from sales to DRAMicke manufacturers in fiscal 2012 aligned closeighwhe overall weakening of the DRA
semiconductor market revenue, particularly in theosd half of the year. Forecasted consumer defioaiRC's did not materialize and device
pricing fell to levels resulting in unprofitable finess for most suppliers.

Revenues from sales to Flash memory device manuastincreased in fiscal 2012 compared to the gear. The increase was mainly
driven by increased market share of our TouchMa@ixproduct at a major NAND Flash producer in Sd{thea. Our NOR Flash revenue
decreased at a similar rate to the overall NORHF&sniconductor market for the year.

The significant increase in the SoC segment igbatid primarily to our acquisition of MicroProbadhaccelerated market adoption of
advanced SoC probe card technologies in placeedf#tditional cantilever probe cards. Within MicroBe's revenue, the Vx-MP MEMS and
Apollo vertical products that are primarily usedést leading edge mobile SoC chips and micropsmesaccounted for the majority of its
revenues.

Revenues by Geographic Reg

The following table sets forth our revenues by gapgic region for the periods indicated:

Fiscal % of Fiscal % of
2012 Revenues 2011 Revenues

(In thousands)

South Korea $ 58,51t 32.8% $ 39,21¢ 23.1%
Taiwan 36,96 20.7 53,84« 31.¢
North America 27,50¢ 15.4 25,88( 15.2
Japan 21,31« 11.¢ 29,467 17.4
Asia-Pacific(1) 22,57 12.7 13,86( 8.2
Europe 11,66: 6.5 7,05t 4.2
Total revenues $ 178,53! 100.(% $ 169,32! 100.(%
(1) AsiaPacific includes all countries in the region exc&aitvan, South Korea, and Japan, which are disdlesparatel

38






Table of Contents

Geographic revenue information is based on thetilmt#éo which we ship the customer product. Fomepke, if a certain South Korean
customer purchases through their North Americarsigiidry and requests the products to be shippad eddress in Asia-Pacific, this sale will
be reflected in the revenue for Asia-Pacific ratif@an North America.

The increases from fiscal 2011 to 2012 in Southeld@and Asia-Pacific revenues were related to mahate gains and a growing
available market for our SmartMatrix100 produchahajor DRAM manufacturer. South Korea revenue mismeased due to improved market
share of our TouchMatrix300 product at a major NARIBsh producer. North America and Europe revenoeeases were primarily driven by
our acquisition of MicroProbe and the sales of VR-MEMS and Apollo vertical products. Revenue deseedn Taiwan and Japan were
primarily driven by decreased demand for our DRANMducts due to a weakening global DRAM market.

Gross Profit

Fiscal Fiscal
2012 2011
(In thousands)
Gross profit $ 2533 $ 20,95¢
Gross margin 14.2% 12.8%

Gross margin fluctuates with revenue levels, produig, selling prices, factory loading and matedaséts. For fiscal 2012, gross profit
increased $4.4 million compared to fiscal 2011 e Tricrease was primarily due to the benefit of brgiross margins generated from the
product lines obtained from our MicroProbe acqigisiin addition to lower material costs, and redup®nufacturing overhead expenses from
the existing FormFactor production. Manufacturivghead costs were lower because of the cessdtassembly and test activities in Japan
and our worldwide reduction in workforce, which daimed generated a savings of $0.8 million for fi12. Our gross margin benefited fr
lower excess inventory charges.

The gross margin improvements were offset by higlirexct labor costs relative to revenue levelsyiserand warranty costs. Gross
margin was also negatively impacted by $8.5 millidradditional amortization and depreciation cdstghe tangible and intangible assets
associated with our MicroProbe acquisition.

As mentioned above, gross margin for fiscal 20%® ahproved compared to the prior year due to @ 80llion decrease in inventory
provision charges. This improvement is the resittuorent and ongoing initiatives to improve maaéplanning, procurement and production
processes that resulted in the continual redudtia@ur excess inventory levels. Excess custom itor@s are not uncommon for our company
because our advanced wafer probe cards are custsignd manufactured in low volumes and must beeeld on relatively short lead times.
This requires us to acquire production materiatbstart certain production activities based omestied production yields and forecasted
demand prior to or in excess of actual demand domafer probe cards. In fiscal 2012 , the valuprefviously reserved materials that were
used in manufacturing and shipped was $1.3 miliecompared to $2.5 million in fiscal 2011.

Gross margin included amortization expense on gitde assets for fiscal 2012 and 2011 of $6.0 orilland $1.2 million , respectively.
Stock-based compensation expense included in grasgin for fiscal 2012 and 2011 was $2.6 million &3.5 million , respectively. The
decrease is primarily due to fewer unvested opttristanding being amortized to expense.

In the future, our gross margins may be adversepaicted by lower levels of product revenues, eliengh we have taken significant
steps to reduce our operating cost structure. ggngs margins may also be adversely affected fingerequired to record additional inventory
provision charges and inventory write-downs if stied average selling prices of products heldnisfied goods and work in process
inventories are below the manufacturing cost os¢hproducts.

Research and Developme

Fiscal Fiscal
2012 2011
(In thousands)
Research and development $ 40,13( $ 43,54
% of revenues 22.5% 25.1%

39




Table of Contents

Research and development expenses for fiscal 28dr2aised $3.4 million , or 8% , compared to therpgrear. Our research and
development expenses fluctuate as projects tranditbom development to manufacturing. Dependinghenstage of completion and level of
effort related to each project undertaken, we neflgct variations in our research and developmpeeanding. As a percent of revenues, rese
and development expenses decreased in fiscal 2M2.5% as compared to 25.7% in fiscal 2011 primdrtie to lower spending.

In fiscal 2012, expenses related to our researdidamelopment activities decreased from fiscal 20drbarily due to lower materials
costs of $3.2 million , licensing and equipmenttsas $0.5 million , decrease in depreciation exgeeof $0.2 million , partially offset by
increased facility and related costs of $0.6 milli8tock-based compensation included within reseand development expenses remained fle
at $4.3 million for fiscal 2012 as compared to 2011

We are continuing our strategic investments inasgeand development, including investments in wewtical technology directed to
testing SoC devices, advanced MicroSpring interechtechnology and new process technologies. Ifi@tiquarter of fiscal 2013 we
announced that we have taken actions to redudevhstments in commodity DRAM test, but are contiguo develop product capabilities
focused on mobile DRAM. We suspended developmeittities specific to our next generation Matrix fitam, and are consolidating our
development and engineering efforts to extend &pabilities of the current Matrix platform. We remaommitted to product development in
new and emerging technologies.

Selling, General and Administrativ

Fiscal Fiscal
2012 2011
(In thousands)
Selling, general and administrative $ 4923: $ 46,70¢
% of revenues 27.€% 27.€%

Selling, general and administrative expenses ise&2.5 million , or 5% , for fiscal 2012 compatedhe prior year. As a percent of
revenues, selling, general and administrative esgpenremained flat in fiscal 2012.

For fiscal 2012, the increase in selling, genenal administrative expenses was due to $3.0 mibiodicroProbe acquisition and
integration costs, $0.6 million intangible amortiaa expense, an $1.2 million increase in certallirey and marketing activities associated
with new technology platforms, an $0.8 million iease in bad debt expense. The increased expensesfiget by a decrease in taxes and
license costs of $2.0 million, including $0.6 nali accrual release of foreign customs and valuedhthik, a decrease in our legal and outside
service fees of $1.2 million, and a decrease dweotitforce reduction of $0.4 million. Total amosimn expense on intangible assets for fisce
2012 and 2011 were $0.6 million and $0.0 milligespectively. Stock-based compensation expenskslatt within selling, general and
administrative expense were $6.2 million in fis2@L2 compared to $6.1 million in fiscal 2011. Therease is primarily due to increase in
employee stock awards due to the acquisition.

Restructuring Charges, ne

Fiscal Fiscal
2012 2011
(In thousands)
Restructuring charges $ 2917 % 527
% of revenues 1.€% 0.2%

Restructuring charges increased $2.4 million iodi®012 from fiscal 2011. The restructuring plassimplemented in fiscal 2012 and
2011 are discussed below.

2012 Restructuring Activities

During fiscal 2012, we initiated restructuring pdan our second, third and fourth fiscal quartehscl resulted in the reduction of our
global workforce by 49 full-time employees acrdss trganization and the cessation of our assenmalytest activities in Japan. We reduced
our temporary work force as well. We recorded $gilion in charges for severance and related b&nefD.2 million in contract termination
and $0.4 million in impairment charges for certaguipment and leasehold improvements that wouldmger be utilized related to these
plans. As a result of these restructuring plans, we
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expect to realize quarterly savings, excludinglstogsed compensation expenses, of approximatelyrilion in subsequent quarters.

The liabilities we have accrued for the restructgmlans discussed above represent our best estohtie obligations we expect to
incur and could be subject to adjustment as madeditions change. The remaining cash paymentsiasd with our various reductions in
force are expected to be paid by the end of tisé dumarter of fiscal 2013 .

2011 Restructuring Activities

During fiscal 2011, we initiated restructuring pdan each of our fiscal quarters which resultethanreduction of our global workfor
by 38 full-time employees across the organizatie.recorded $2.3 million in charges for severanmzkralated benefits related to this plan. In
fiscal 2011 we executed an amendment to the egittase arrangement for our facility in Singapotaci released us from our obligations
related to the floor previously utilized for manciiaring in this facility. We were also grantedeatreduction for the remaining occupied
facilities in this building. We had previously meded certain asset retirement obligations of $iilllon and accruals related to our cessatio
the use of these facilities in connection with @iprestructuring action of $0.4 million. As a vdts we reflected a benefit of $1.5 million
recorded in 2011.

Impairment of Lon¢-Lived Assets

Fiscal Fiscal
2012 2011
(In thousands)
Impairment of long-lived assets $ 421  $ 54¢
% of revenues 0.2% 0.2%

We test long-lived assets or asset groups for eredpiity when events or changes in circumstaneeisate that their carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. Below is a descriptiorhefimpairment activities for fiscal 2012 and 2011.

In fiscal 2012, we recorded total impairments of$@illion , including $0.2 million related to temations of certain construction-in-
progress projects and $0.2 million related to der@asets which were previously held for sale teatie determined to no longer be sellable ant
used for internal purposes.

During the third and fourth quarters of 2012, waewed the recoverability of our long lived ass#t® to a significant change in our
business strategy in connection with our 2012 Resiring Plan, due to recurring operating lossescash outflows from operations and
continued decline in the Company's stock priceaeasult of the review, we concluded our business able to fully recover the carrying
amounts of our assets.

In fiscal 2011 , we recorded total impairments @B$million related to the termination of certam-going projects, including certain
software development for internal use that had beeorded in construction-in-progress.

Management believes it is reasonably possibleatiditional impairment charges that would reducéhirrthe carrying amounts of ¢
property and equipment and intangible assets niag ar fiscal 2013 if we are unable to achieve apeg results anticipated by our 2013
financial plan.

Gain on Settlement of Litigation

Fiscal Fiscal
2012 2011
(In thousands)
Gain on settlement of litigation $ (3,250 % =
% of revenues (1.89% —
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In July 2010, we filed a lawsuit against MicroPratye a MicroProbe officer who was a former Formbaemployee asserting patent
infringement and unfair competition claims agaiMsatroProbe, and trade secret misappropriation arddh of confidence claims. On October
16, 2012, and in connection with the MicroProbe éisijion, we agreed to settle with Astria, MicroBecand a former FormFactor employee,
all outstanding litigation in favor of FormFactar{$3.3 million .

Interest Income and Other Income, N

Fiscal Fiscal
2012 2011
(In thousands)
Interest income $ 691 $ 1,40¢
% of revenues 0.4% 0.8%
Other income, net $ 1,461 $ 1,07¢
% of revenues 0.8% 0.6%

Interest income is primarily earned on our caskhauivalents and marketable securities. The deeri interest income for fiscal
2012 as compared to fiscal 2011 was primarily #sailt of lower average balances. The reductioruircash, cash equivalents, restricted cask
and marketable securities to $166.1 million at Detwer 29, 2012 as compared to $297.0 million at Béer 31, 2011 was driven by our
acquisition of MicroProbe and operating losses. Whighted-average yield on our cash, cash equitsalamd marketable securities for fiscal
2012 was 0.30% compared to 0.45% for fiscal 2011.

Other income, net is comprised primarily of fore@nrency impact and various other gains and lo§3&s change in other income, net
for fiscal 2012 compared to fiscal 2011 was prityadiie to lower foreign currency losses in 2012.

Benefit from Income Taxe:

Fiscal Fiscal
2012 2011
(In thousands)
Benefit from income taxes $ (26,420 $ (1,909
Effective tax rate 42.6% (2.9%

Included in the $26.4 million income tax benefit fiscal 2012 is a $25.5 million tax benefit frohretrelease of valuation allowances on
our deferred tax assets ("DTAs"). In connectiothvaiur acquisition of MicroProbe during fiscal 2Qti2ferred tax liabilities ("DTLs") were
established on the acquired identifiable intangéssets. These DTLs exceeded the acquired DTA® $nillion. The excess DTLs allow |
to realize a tax benefit by releasing the valuatibowances associated with our DTAs. Accordingi valuation allowances on a portion of
our DTAs were released and resulted in an incomédaefit of $25.5 million .

We recognize interest charges and penalties refatedcertain tax positions as part of the incoaxeprovision. We recognized interest
charges and penalties of $0.3 million and $12,@3pectively during fiscal 2012 and 2011. As of Deler 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011
we have accrued total interest charges and penalti®0.4 million and $0.7 million , respectivetglated to the uncertain tax positions.

We anticipate that we will continue to record auadion allowance against our U.S. deferred taxtasa&'e expect our future tax
provisions, during the time such valuation allowesare recorded, will consist primarily of the pamvision of our profitable non-U.S.
jurisdictions. AtDecember 29, 2012 , we had Federal, state andjforat operating loss carryforwards of $284.2 onillj $266.7 million and
$12.2 million , respectively. The Federal net ofirgaloss carryforwards expire at various datesf@2016 through 2032 , the state net
operating loss carryforwards expire at various sif@m 2030 through 2032 , and the foreign net aijrgg loss carryforwards can be carried
forward indefinitely.

Our effective tax rate may vary from period to pdrbased on changes in estimated taxable incoes®by jurisdiction, changes to the
valuation allowance, changes to U.S. Federal, statereign tax laws, future expansion into areas
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with varying country, state, and local income tates, deductibility of certain costs and expengdsitisdiction.

On January 2, 2013, President Obama signed intéHavmerican Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012, whichlirdes retroactive extension
of the research credit from January 1, 2012 thrddgbember 31, 2013. This enacted tax law will teisudin increase in the Company's gross
deferred tax asset by approximately $0.4 millidfset by a valuation allowance, during the firsager of 2013. The Company concluded this
enacted law change has immaterial effect on itniimals.

Fiscal Years Ended December 31, 2011 and Decembef210

Revenues

Fiscal % of Fiscal % of Change
2011 Revenues 2010 Revenues $ %

(In thousands)
Revenues by Market:

DRAM $ 115,67 68.2% $ 131,20° 69.606 $ (15529  (11.9%
SoC 29,05( 17.2 27,29( 14 1,76( 6.4
Flash 24,59 14.5 30,06¢ 15.€ (5,477 (18.2)
Total revenues $ 169,32! 100.(% $ 188,56! 10(% $ (19,24() (10_2)0/0

For the global semiconductor market, overall degicg@ments were generally flat in 2011 compare20h0. Moderate revenue growth
in the global SoC and NAND Flash device markets masked by a substantial revenue reduction forymexs of DRAM and NOR Flash
devices. This global DRAM and NOR weakness wadqaatrly severe in the second half of the yeanasage selling price erosion for
semiconductor devices resulted in unprofitable iess for most suppliers and a cut back in prodaatépacity. This weakness in the global
DRAM and NOR device market directly resulted in austomers reducing their purchases of, or in scases canceling existing orders of, ou
probe cards for DRAM and NOR devices throughoutséheond half of 2011. Overall, our revenues deeatdy 10%, or $19.2 million, in
fiscal 2011 as compared to fiscal 2010. Our revencieased approximately 6% year-over-year in i€ Barket, but was down
approximately 12% in DRAM and 18% in Flash. Thdsetfiations in revenue were primarily driven byturdlume.

Our revenues for fiscal 2011 were primarily gerexiaty sales of wafer probe cards to manufactufdbiRé\M devices. Revenues from
sales to DRAM device manufacturers in fiscal 20&&rdased significantly as compared to fiscal 2Gltha impact of average selling price
erosion of semiconductor devices and the subsegeeéuattion in production by our customers has kehilemand for our advanced wafer
probe cards. Our revenues from sales to DRAM dewvigeufacturers were also impacted in fiscal 2011ldnding in Thailand, which
dramatically impacted disc drive production resigtin reduced personal computer output and, aglefuresult, the demand for DRAM
devices.

Revenues from sales to Flash memory device manutastdecreased significantly in fiscal 2011 coragdo the prior year. The
decrease was driven primarily by decreased demmatiteiNOR Flash segment. Moderate growth in the sBNAND Flash wafer probe cards
offset a portion of this decline.

Revenues from sales to SoC device manufacturersésed in fiscal 2011 compared to the prior ye@marily due to market adoption
of more complex devices with higher parallelism #meladoption of MEMS in place of traditional céexer cards, both of which positively
impacted revenues from sales of our wafer probascd¥e also qualified an existing customer on cue$cale Matrix product during fiscal
2011.
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Revenue by Geographic Region

The following table sets forth our revenues by gapgic region for the periods indicated:

Fiscal % of Fiscal % of
2011 Revenues 2010 Revenues

(In thousands)

Taiwan $ 53,84 31.&% $ 72,61t 38.5%
South Korea 39,21¢ 23.1 25,98« 13.¢
Japan 29,46° 17.4 28,47¢ 15.1
North America 25,88( 15.2 38,33« 20.c
Asia-Pacific(1) 13,86( 8.2 15,10¢ 8.C
Europe 7,05¢ 4.2 8,04« 4.3
Total revenues $ 169,32! 100.%0 $ 188,56! 100.(%
(1) AsiaPacific includes all countries in the region excEaiwvan, Japan and South Korea, which are disclsspdratel’

Geographic revenue information is based on thetilmt#o which we ship the customer product. Fomepke, if a certain South Korean
customer purchases through their North Americarsigiidry and requests the products to be shippad eddress in Asia-Pacific, this sale will
be reflected in the revenue for Asia-Pacific ratian North America.

The significant decrease in Taiwan, A8laeific and North America revenues for the fisdsl 2 compared to the prior year was prime
due to decreased demand for our DRAM products &gsdcwith overall weakness in the global DRAM semniductor device market. The
increase in South Korea revenues is related tmthreased demand for our SmartMatrix product loreldRAM, our TouchMatrix product line
for NAND Flash, and Image Sensor products in th€ Segment. The increase in Japan revenue for 28ddl compared to the prior year was
primarily due to the qualification of an existingstomer on our TrueScale Matrix product, which wadially offset by a decrease in our
DRAM product sales. Europe revenue declined irafi2011 due to the reduced demand for our SoC ptedu

Gross Profit (Loss)

Fiscal Fiscal
2011 2010
(In thousands)
Gross profit (loss) $ 2095¢ $ (2,279
Gross margin 12.4% (1.2%

Gross margin fluctuates with revenue levels, prodiig, selling prices, factory loading and matedasts. For fiscal 2011, gross margin
increased compared to fiscal 2010 primarily duestiuctions in general overhead cost, lower deptieci@xpense, reductions in inventory
provision charges, higher production yields andfable changes in product mix to higher margin potsl

For fiscal 2011, the increase in gross margin caagto the prior fiscal year included a reductié®b4.0 million in general overhead
expenses resulting from our cost control initiatiadd decision to cease manufacturing in Singagodekorea. The increase in gross margin
also included $6.1 million of lower depreciatiorperse resulting primarily from the fiscal 2010 eptise-wide impairment.

For fiscal 2011, gross margin also improved comgémehe prior year due to a $3.5 million decreasaventory provision charges.
This improvement is the result of current and omganitiatives to improve materials planning, puoement and production processes that
resulted in reductions in our excess inventorylevexcess custom inventories are not uncommondocompany because our advanced w
probe cards are custom designs manufactured ivédwnes and must be delivered on relatively sheatlItimes. This requires us to acquire
production materials and start certain productictivdies based on estimated production yields fmnelcasted demand prior to or in excess of
actual demand for our wafer probe cards. In fi2€dll, the value of previously reserved materiads$ Were used in manufacturing and shippec
was $2.5 million as compared to $2.8 million irc&is2010.

44




Table of Contents

Gross margin included stock-based compensatio,&f &illion and $3.7 million for fiscal 2011 and 20 respectively, with the
decrease being primarily due to declining stockesj decreased headcount and a reduction in theerwhawards granted, partially offset by
expense related to current year grants.

In the future, our gross margins may be adversepaicted by lower levels of product revenues, eliengh we have taken significant
steps to reduce our operating cost structure. ggags margins may also be adversely affected fingerequired to record additional inventory
provision charges and inventory write-downs if @stied average selling prices of products heldnisfied goods and work in process
inventories are below the manufacturing cost os¢hproducts.

Research and Developme

Fiscal Fiscal
2011 2010
(In thousands)
Research and development $ 4354 $ 55,38¢
% of revenues 25.1% 29.2%

Research and development expenses for fiscal 28dreased $11.8 million, or 21%, compared to ther giear primarily due to the
decrease in certain new technology product devetmpmelated costs and the decrease in other costsesult of our cost reduction efforts. As
a percent of revenues, research and developmeensap decreased in fiscal 2011 as compared td 28t8 primarily due to our cost
reduction efforts.

In fiscal 2011, costs related to our research awtldpment activities decreased from fiscal 201 @rily due to reduced payroll and
related costs of $6.1 million, driven by reduceddmunt, and reduced materials and related co$.4fmillion. Additionally, we had a
decrease in depreciation expense and facilitiesa@lcosts of $1.1 million, resulting primarily finche fiscal 2010 enterprise-wide impairment
as well as the reduction of our facilities footprituring 2010. Stock-based compensation includekinviesearch and development expenses
was $4.3 million for fiscal 2011 compared to $5.@ion for fiscal 2010, with the decrease beingnparily due to declining stock prices,
decreased headcount and a reduction in the nunfilbe@rasds granted, partially offset by expense eeldb current year grants.

We are continuing our strategic investments inaegeand development, including investments indéneelopment of our next
generation architecture and products for testind\BIRIevices, new vertical technology directed tdites SoC devices, advanced MicroSpring
interconnect technology, ATRE wafer test technolagg new process technologies. We remain comntittedoduct development in new and
emerging technologies.

Selling, General and Administrativ

Fiscal Fiscal
2011 2010
(In thousands)
Selling, general and administrative $ 46,708 $ 67,20¢
% of revenues 27.€% 35.7%

Selling, general and administrative expenses deete$20.5 million, or 31%, for fiscal 2011 compatedthe prior year primarily due to
a decrease in personnel related costs and otreetimary spending. As a percent of revenuedngeljeneral and administrative expenses
decreased in fiscal 2011 as compared to the pear, yrimarily due to the reduction in expensesltiag) from our on-going cost reduction
efforts.

For fiscal year 2011, salary and payroll relatestgdfor selling, general and administrative fuprs$, including incentive bonuses,
decreased by $8.1 million from fiscal 2010 dueetduced headcount and a reduction in incentive bdNesalso had a year over year decrease
in severance costs of $1.2 million resulting fragnerance agreements with certain executives in #tdtGvere not recurring. In addition, we
experienced a reduction in facilities related co$t83.2 million compared to fiscal 2010 resultingm the reduction of our facilities footprint
during 2010, as well as decreased depreciationnsgpesulting from the enterprise-wide impairmesbrded during fiscal 2010, of $2.4
million. Our cost reduction efforts, as well asuetion in on-going legal activities, resulted inegluction in legal and outside service fees of
$2.2 million during fiscal 2011 versus fiscal 208lock-based compensation expenses included vaétlimg, general and administrative
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expense were $6.1 million compared to $8.3 milfanthe prior year. The decrease in st@@sed compensation was primarily due to decli
stock prices, decreased headcount and a reduatitie number of awards granted, partially offseekyense related to current year grants.

Restructuring Charge:

Fiscal Fiscal
2011 2010
(In thousands)
Restructuring charges $ 522 $  15,90¢
% of revenues 0.3% 8.4%

Restructuring charges decreased $15.4 millior97é6 , from fiscal 2010 to fiscal 2011 . The decesass primarily due to reduction in
the size of the actions taken in 2011 comparedi® Zs our restructuring activities have wound do@wr 2010 actions resulted in a reductior
in workforce of 19% , whereas our actions in 20dduced the workforce by 5% . Furthermore, in 20&0@corded an $8.8 milliampairment
of property and equipment as part of the restrimgurharges of fiscal 2010 , whereas there wasuob Bnpairment charge recorded in
restructuring in fiscal 2011 . The restructuringrmd we implemented in fiscal 2011 and fiscal 20&0déscussed below.

2011 Restructuring Activities

In the first quarter of fiscal 2011 , we implemeahterestructuring plan (the “ Q1 2011 RestruagiPlan”) which resulted in the
reduction of our global workforce by 13 full-timenployees across the organization. We recorded$illibn in charges for severance and
related benefits related to this plan. The ac@sgittomprising this reduction in workforce were sabtally completed by the end of the second
quarter of fiscal 2011 . As a result of the Q1 2&Ektructuring Plan, we have realized, and expecomtinue to realize, quarterly savings,
excluding stock-based compensation expenses, obaprately $0.6 million in subsequent quarters.

In the second quarter of fiscal 2011 , we impleraérat restructuring plan (the “ Q2 2011 RestrustuPlan”) which resulted in the
reduction of our global workforce by 13 full-timenployees across the organization. We recorded#idlién in charges for severance and
related benefits related to this plan. The ac@sittomprising this reduction in workforce were sabsally completed by the end of the third
quarter of fiscal 2011 . As a result of the Q2 2&Ektructuring Plan we have realized, and expecbmdinue to realize, quarterly savings,
excluding stock-based compensation expenses, obaprately $0.4 million in subsequent quarters.

Additionally, in the second quarter of fiscal 204& executed an amendment to the existing leasegamaent for our facility in
Singapore which released us from our obligatiofeted to the floor previously utilized for manufagng in this facility. We were also grant
a rent reduction for the remaining occupied fde#itin this building. We had previously recordedtain asset retirement obligations and
accruals related to our cessation of the use sktfeilities in connection with a prior restruabgraction. As a result, our Consolidated
Statement of Operations for fiscal 2011 includegrefit of $1.5 million recorded to 'Restructurititarges, net'.

In the third quarter of fiscal 2011 , we implemehgerestructuring plan (the “ Q3 2011 Restruagi?lan”) which resulted in the
reduction of our global workforce by four full-timemployees primarily in our procurement and logstrganizations. We recorded $0.3
million in charges for severance and related bé&negiated to this plan. The activities comprisinig plan were completed during fiscal 2011.
As a result of the Q3 2011 Restructuring Plan, weeet to realize quarterly savings, excluding stbaked compensation expenses, of
approximately $0.2 million in subsequent quarters.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2011 , we implenezha restructuring plan (the “ Q4 2011 RestrustuPlan”) which resulted in the
reduction of our global workforce by eight full-ttnemployees primarily in our finance and procurenaeal logistics organizations. We
recorded $0.3 million in charges for severanceratated benefits related to this plan. The acggitomprising this reduction are expected to
be completed by the end of the first quarter afdi2012. As a result of the Q4 2011 RestructuRtam, we expect to realize quarterly savings,
excluding stock-based compensation expenses, obaprately $0.3 million in subsequent quarters.

46




Table of Contents
2010 Restructuring Activities

We recorded $3.4 million in restructuring chargasr the first quarter of fiscal 2010 as part af theneurrent regionalization strate
(the * Q1 2010 Restructuring Plan”). These chagessisted of termination benefits related to réidns in work force of 106 full-time
positions, which were all related to severancerafated benefits. The activities related to thiom were completed during fiscal 2011 .
Subsequently, in the second quarter of fiscal 20&@ndertook a plan to rescind the previously idsseverance arrangements for certain
employees impacted by this plan, resulting in theersal of $3.3 million of the accrual for sevemnosts booked in conjunction with the Q1
2010 Restructuring Plan, including the accruedntéia bonus to date. We completed this rescissian im fiscal 2010 .

In the second quarter of fiscal 201@e announced a series of corporate initiativeduding a reduction in workforce, which represe
a renewed focus on streamlining and simplifying @peerations as well as reducing our quarterly dpegaosts (the “ Q2 2010 Restructuring
Plan”). These actions included a reduction in worg® impacting 67 employees spread across allibmebf the organization, as well as a
reduction in the scope of the previously contengaahanufacturing operations in Korea, resulting neduction of workforce of 16 employees
related to the assembly and test function. Werdszb$4.8 million in charges for the Q2 2010 Regtring Plan during fiscal 2010 for
severance and related benefits. Additionally, injeoction with the Q2 2010 Restructuring Plan wenitified certain equipment and software
assets related to our assembly and test operatidémrea that would no longer be utilized. As aulg we recorded impairment charges of
approximately $1.0 million during fiscal 2010 , repenting the net book value of these assets. @thati@s comprising this reduction in force
were completed during fiscal 2011 .

In the third quarter of fiscal 2010 , we announaeaéstructuring plan (the “ Q3 2010 RestructuritenP to cease the transition of
manufacturing operations to Singapore. This deciggsulted in a reduction in force of 58 employaesur Singapore facility. The
manufacturing activities that were scheduled térdesitioned to Singapore remained in Livermorel bivermore continued as the primary
manufacturing operating location for the Companycdnjunction with the Q3 2010 Restructuring Plaa,also undertook a reduction in force
of two additional individuals in our Livermore op¢ions.

We recorded charges of $1.0 million for severanmtralated benefits and impairment charges of 8ull&n for certain equipment and
leasehold improvements in Singapore that wouldbngér be utilized in conjunction with the Q3 2018sRucturing Plan. The activities related
to this restructuring plan were completed durirsgdi 2011 . In addition, due to the combined efté¢he significant change in our business
strategy in connection with the Q3 2010 RestrunguRlan, recurring operating losses and the swstaiecline in the Company's stock price,
we reviewed the recoverability of our long-livesgess in the third quarter of fiscal 2010 , as dised in Note 7 - Impairment of Long-lived
Assets of the Notes to Consolidated Financial 8tatgs.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 , we implerrezha restructuring plan (the " Q4 2010 RestruotuRlan") including reducing our
global workforce by 10 employees across the orgsioiz. We recorded $0.6 million in charges for samee and related benefits in fiscal
2010 . The activities related to this plan were ptated during fiscal 2011 .

Impairment of Lon¢-Lived Assets

Fiscal Fiscal
2011 2010
(In thousands)
Impairment of long-lived assets $ 54¢ $ 56,40:
% of revenues 0.2% 29.%%

Impairment charges decreased $55.9 million frowefi2011 to fiscal 2010 primarily due to the entesgswide asset impairment
recorded in the third quarter of fiscal 2010 disaasbelow.

In fiscal 2011, we recorded total impairments o5$illion related to the termination of certain-gaing projects, including certain
software development for internal use that had beeorded in construction-in-progress.

In the third quarter of fiscal 2010, we reviewed tlcoverability of our long-lived assets due Bigmificant change in our business
strategy in connection with the Q3 2011 RestruntuRlan, recurring operating losses and net cadlows from operations and the sustained
decline in the Company's stock price. As a reduthis review, we concluded that our business wasable to fully recover the carrying
amounts of our assets. Accordingly, we reviewedctireying amounts at September 25, 2010 of aluoflang-lived assets for impairment.
Based on this analysis, an impairment charge of
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approximately $52.0 million was recorded as of 8efiter 25, 2010. This impairment charge compris&d7aiillion for leasehold
improvements, $11.2 million for manufacturing eqognt, $8.5 million for computer equipment and saftsy $4.4 million for construction-in-
progress and $0.2 million for purchased intangissets.

In addition, we recorded impairment charges togg$#.4 million in fiscal 2010 as follows:

*  $2.7 million impairment related to certain constion-in-progress projects for the development lnild of manufacturing
equipment, including additional related equipméat tvas in-service, that was identified as excapadity;

*  $1.1 million impairment of certain purchasedimgible assets related to precision motion comtutdmation that were acquired in
conjunction with our acquisition of certain asdetsn Electroglas, Inc. in 2009 out of bankruptcpgeedings;

*  $0.5 million related to certain leasehold imprments and furniture and fixtures that was abardiondéeld for sale as a result of
the consolidation of office space in Livermore; and

*  $0.1 million write down of a building held for saie its estimated fair valu

Interest Income and Other Income, N

Fiscal Fiscal
2011 2010
(In thousands)
Interest income $ 1,40¢  $ 2,54¢
% of revenues 0.8% 1.4%
Other income, net $ 1,07¢ $ 4,42¢
% of revenues 0.€% 2.2%

Interest income is primarily earned on our casbha@quivalents and marketable securities. The dserim interest income for fiscal
2011 as compared to fiscal 2010 was primarily #sailt of lower average balances. Cash, cash eguigalrestricted cash and marketable
securities were $297.0 million at December 31, 2€drhpared to $347.9 million at December 25, 20I8e weightedaverage yield on our
cash, cash equivalents and marketable securitigséal 2011 was 0.45% compared to 0.70% for fi2€d.0.

Other income , net is composed primarily of foredgimrency impact and various other gains and loSg8ss change in other income , net
for fiscal 2011 compared to fiscal 2010 was prityattue to the $3.5 million gain recorded in thedhguarter of fiscal 2011 which resulted
from the release of the liability previously receddas a secured borrowing due to the dismissaliroé@mplaint against a customer.

Benefit from Income Taxe:

Fiscal Fiscal
2011 2010
(In thousands)
Benefit from income taxes $ (190) $ (1,920
Effective tax rate (2.9% (1.0%

We recorded an income tax benefit of $1.9 millionéach of the fiscal years 2011 and 2010. Thenmectax benefit recorded for fiscal
2011 primarily relates to a $2.5 million releasehsf deferred tax valuation allowance for a non:{u8sdiction, offset by income tax expense
in certain of our non-U.S. operations in foreigrigdictions. The income tax benefit recorded fecdl 2010 primarily related to the settlement
of a non-U.S. tax jurisdiction audit, offset by taxpense related to our non-U.S. operations irigorgirisdictions.

During the fiscal quarter ended June 25, 2011, &terchined that it is more likely than not that tfederred tax assets of a non-U.S.
jurisdiction will be realized after considering plhsitive and negative evidence. Positive evidémckeded finalization of our currel
restructuring activity for the related foreign gdiction and conclusion that such location will thone to be in operation for the foreseeable
future, as well as a forecast of future taxabl®ine sufficient to realize such
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deferred tax assets prior to the expiration oftexgsnet operating loss carry-forwards due to angean the entity's structure to a cost-plus
arrangement. Accordingly, a deferred tax valuatibowance release of $2.5 million was recordedrameome tax benefit during the quarter.
Our conclusion that it is more likely than not teath deferred tax assets will be realized is giyomfluenced by the expectation that such
location will continue to be in operation for thdseeable future. We believe such conclusionaisarable in light of our current operational
structure and forecasted operations, both fordheidn jurisdiction and our consolidated operatidmvever, such conclusion is inherently
uncertain. Therefore, if we have material unforedesses or are required to restructure our non-ap8rations to further align our operating
expense structure with our expected revenues,ithaility to generate sufficient income necesgargealize a portion of the deferred tax
assets may be reduced and an additional chargertaise the valuation allowance may be recorded.

We recognize interest charges and penalties refatedcertain tax positions as part of the incoaxeprovision. During fiscal 2011 we
recognized interest charges and penalties of $02366 during fiscal 2010 we recorded an interesefieof $0.3 million. As of December 31,
2011 and December 25, 2010 we accrued total intehesges and penalties of $0.7 million and $0.lianj respectively, related to the
uncertain tax positions.

We anticipate that we will continue to record awagion allowance against our U.S. deferred taxtas3d&'e expect our future tax
provisions, during the time such valuation allowesare recorded, will consist primarily of the pamvision of our profitable non-U.S.
jurisdictions. AtDecember 31, 2011 , we had Federal, state andjforait operating loss carryforwards of approxinya$31.3 million,
$227.6 million and $13.5 million, respectively. TlRederal net operating loss carryforwards expireagbus dates from 2015 through 2031,
state net operating loss carryforwards expire ebua dates from 2028 through 2031, and the foragroperating loss carryforwards can be
carried forward indefinitely.

Our effective tax rate may vary from period to pdrbased on changes in estimated taxable incoes®by jurisdiction, changes to the
valuation allowance, changes to U.S. Federal, stafereign tax laws, future expansion into areét warying country, state, and local income
tax rates, deductibility of certain costs and exgesrby jurisdiction.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Capital ResourcesOur working capital was $194.1 million at DecemB8r 2012 and $308.4 million at December 31, 20he T
decrease in working capital in the year ended Déeer9, 2012 was primarily due to the net cash usedr operating activities and cash u
to acquire MicroProbe.

Cash and cash equivalents consist of depositsadtdldnks, money market funds, U.S. government gisuand commercial papers that
at the time of purchase had maturities of 90 dayess. Marketable securities consist of U.S. goweant and agency securities and comme
papers. We typically invest in highlyated securities with low probabilities of defa®ur investment policy requires investments todied
single-A or better, limits the types of acceptableestments, concentration as to security holddrdaration of the investment.

Our cash, cash equivalents and marketable secudtieled $165.8 million at December 29, 2012 cargbso $296.7 million at
December 31, 2011 . Cash, cash equivalents ancetaai& securities included $12.6 million held by faweign subsidiaries as of
December 29, 2012 . The decrease in our cash ecpstalents and marketable securities balancegrirasirily due to the net cash used in our
operating activities and cash used to acquire NFicwbe in fiscal 2012 . We believe that we will Indeato satisfy our working capital
requirements for the next twelve months with tlyilility provided by our existing cash, cash equnéd and marketable securities. If we are
unsuccessful in improving our operating efficien@ducing our cash outlays or increasing our akglaash through financing, our cash, cash
equivalents and marketable securities will furtthecline in fiscal 2013 .

We utilize a variety of tax planning and financistgategies in an effort to manage our worldwidéhcasd deploy funds to locations
where they are needed. As part of these stratages)definitely reinvest a significant portionatfir foreign earnings and our current plans do
not demonstrate a need to repatriate these earr8hgsild we require additional capital in the Udiftates, we may elect to repatriate
indefinitely reinvested foreign funds or raise ¢abin the United States through debt. If we wereegpatriate indefinitely reinvested foreign
funds, the United States income tax impact woulddye due to our net operating loss carry forwarsitipn. We would be subject to a small
withholding tax in certain international countrfes a total of approximately $42,000 .

Day Sales Outstandingdays sales outstanding from receivables, or DS®@e W@ days at December 29, 2012 compared with Y2 aa
December 31, 2011 . Our DSO is calculated usingdat-back method and is based on gross
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accounts receivable (including accounts receividslamounts in deferred revenue). The increaseS@[x primarily due to the acquisition of
MicroProbe where certain key customers were grapégthent terms of up to 60 days which is slightlyder than we have historically
provided.

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2012 2011 2010
(In thousands)
Net cash used in operating activities $ (2622 $ (29,34) $ (73,09
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (40,707 60,71: 69,84
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 2,13¢ (12,907 3,09¢

Cash flows from operating activitiedllet cash used in operating activities for fiscal2@as primarily attributable to our net loss of
$35.5 million , a non-cash $24.5 million benefisuking from changes in deferred tax assets armhacash $3.3 million gain on litigation
settlement. This was offset by non-cash expens&420 million for stock-based compensation, $I6ilion for depreciation and amortizati
and $7.2 million of provision for excess and obtolaventories.

The net change in operating assets and liabifitieiscal 2012 was $2.5 million , net of the oferg assets and liabilities assumed from
the MicroProbe acquisition. The net change was cm®g of a decrease in our accounts receivabl® @ &illion , excluding the effect of the
accounts receivables assumed in the MicroProbeisitiqn, due to our improved collection of paymefitan customers as well as shortened
payment terms for certain customers and a $1.lomilhcrease in deferred revenues due to shipntertisstomers for which our revenue
recognition criteria have not yet been met, offsetart by a decrease of $5.9 million in accourtggble driven by payments for vendor
obligations assumed in the MicroProbe acquisitidnictv were past due, and a decrease of $2.1 milii@amcome taxes payable due to the
release of a reserve for uncertain tax positiotztad to the lapsing of the statute of limitatiamshe U.S. jurisdiction.

Net cash used in operating activities for fiscal Rvas primarily attributable to our net loss o6$6million offset in part by $30.1
million of non-cash charges consisting primarily$df3.8 million of stock-based compensation, $10il8an of depreciation and amortization,
and $7.9 million of provision for excess and obtmlaventories. This was offset by a benefit ofd®aillion resulting from changes in deferred
tax assets and a gain of $1.6 million related to-cash restructuring activity.

The net change in operating assets and liabifitiefiscal 2011 was $6.5 million comprising a dexge in our accounts receivable of
$16.8 million due to our improved collection of pagnts from customers with extended payment termgetisas shortened payment terms for
certain customers and a $5.6 million reductionrgppid expenses and other current assets printardyto the collection of certain amounts
received in relation to the liquidation of Electlagas part of the finalization of its bankruptepqeedings, offset in part by a decrease of $9.6
million in accrued liabilities, primarily those etkd to payroll and bonus, as well as our restrimgactions, and a decrease of $5.1 million in
accounts payable driven by the timing of our paytsémvendors and reduced spending levels resuitimy our cost reduction initiatives.

Cash flows from investing activitiedNet cash used in investing activities for fiscal2@vas primarily related to cash used in the
acquisition of MicroProbe of $96.7 million net aish acquired, purchases of marketable securitepraperty and equipment totaling $82.4
million and $8.0 million , respectively. These usésash were partially offset by proceeds fromurities of marketable securities of $135.3
million and proceeds from the sales of marketabtaisties of $11.0 million . We carefully monitouinvestments to minimize risks and have
not experienced other than temporary investmeeksExcept for experiencing declining yields, ionestment portfolio has not been
negatively impacted by the economic turmoil in ¢hedit markets in the recent past.

Net cash provided by investing activities for fise@11 was primarily related to $308.7 million peeds from maturities ar6.0 million
of sales of marketable securities partially offsgppurchases of marketable securities totaling $2d8llion and $7.7 million cash used in the
acquisition of property and equipment.

Cash flows from financing activitiesNet cash provided by financing activities for fis2812 included $2.3 milliom proceeds receive
from purchases under our Employee Stock Purchased®set by stock withheld in lieu of payment affdoyee taxes related to the release of
restricted stock units.

Net cash used in financing activities for fiscall20ncluded $16.4 million used for the repurchase etirement of our common stock
partially offset by $3.5 million in proceeds reasivfrom purchases under our 2002 Employee StoathBee Plan and net proceeds from the
exercise of stock options offset by stock withheltieu of payment of employee taxes related
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to the release of restricted stock units.

Our cash, cash equivalents and marketable sesudi¢ielined in fiscal 2012. We continue to focusroproving our operating efficiency
to achieve break even operating cash flow. Oupasthave included operational expense reductitiatives, re-timing or eliminating certain
capital spending and research and developmentgisag@d re-negotiating longer payment terms withvemdors. We believe that we will be
able to satisfy our cash requirements for the heglve months with the liquidity provided by ourigting cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities. To the extent necessarynayealso consider establishing manufacturing acknelogy partnerships, or to seek short
and long-term debt obligations, or to obtain nawaficing facilities which may not be available omte favorable to us or at all. Our future
capital requirements may vary materially from thoee planned. However, if we are unsuccessful iproving our operating efficiency,
executing our cost reduction plan, reducing ouheasglays or increasing our available cash thrdimggmcing, our cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities will further decline in fis2813.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following table summarizes our significant coitments to make future payments in cash under aontal obligations as of
December 29, 2012 :

Payments Due In Fiscal Years

2013 2014-2015  2016-2017  After 2017 Total
(In thousands)
Operating leases $ 365¢ $ 570C $ 501¢ $ 10,03¢ $ 24,40¢
Other purchase obligations 12,40: 4,95( 50 — 17,40
Capital leases 59: 321 28 — 943
Total $ 16,65: $ 10,977 $ 509t $ 10,03¢ $ 42,75

Other purchase obligations are primarily for pusgsaof inventory and manufacturing related sereardracts. For the purposes of this
table, other purchase obligations are defined emeagents that are enforceable and legally bindigthat specify all significant terms,
including: fixed or minimum quantities to be purskd; fixed, minimum or variable price provisionsgdahe approximate timing of the
transaction. The expected timing of payment ofabkgations discussed above is estimated basedforiation available to us as of
December 29, 2012 . Timing of payments and actualets paid may be different depending on the tinohreceipt of goods or services or
changes to agreed-upon amounts for some obligations

The table above excludes our gross liability foreeegnized tax benefits, which totaled approxinya$dl7.2 million as of December 29,
2012 and are classified in deferred taxes and ¢dingrterm tax liabilities on our consolidated balanceethThe timing of any payments wh
could result from these unrecognized tax benefilsdepend upon a number of factors. Accordinghe timing of payment cannot be estime
and has been excluded from the table above. Azoémber 29, 2012 , the changes to our uncertaipdsixions in the next 12 months that are
reasonable and probable are not expected to hsigaiéicant impact on our financial position or ués of operations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Historically, we have not participated in transacs that have generated relationships with uncafeted entities or financial
partnerships, such as entities often referred girastured finance or special purpose entitiesclvivould have been established for the
purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangater other contractually narrow or limited purgssAs of December 29, 2012 , we were nc
involved in any off-balance sheet arrangements.

Indemnification Agreements

We may, from time to time in the ordinary courseof business enter into contractual arrangemeititstiaird parties that include
indemnification obligations. Under these contratareangements, we have agreed to defend, inderaniyor hold the third party harmless
from and against certain liabilities. These arrangets include indemnities in favor of customerthim event that our wafer probe cards infri
a third party's intellectual property and our lessa connection with facility
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leasehold liabilities that we may cause. In additiwe have entered into indemnification agreemeitts our directors and certain of our
officers, and our bylaws contain indemnificatiorigations in favor of our directors, officers angemts. These indemnity arrangements may
limit the type of the claim, the total amount tha can be required to pay in connection with tlieeinnification obligation and the time within
which an indemnification claim can be made. Theatan of the indemnification obligation may varypdafor most arrangements, survives the
agreement term and is indefinite. We believe thhsgntially all of our indemnity arrangements pdeveither for limitations on the maximum
potential future payments we could be obligateth&dke, or for limitations on the types of claims alanages we could be obligated to
indemnify, or for both. However, it is not possilitedetermine or reasonably estimate the maximutanpi@l amount of future payments under
these indemnification obligations due to the vagyierms of such obligations, the history of prindeémnification claims, the unique facts and
circumstances involved in each particular contralciurangement and in each potential future clainirfdemnification, and the contingency of
any potential liabilities upon the occurrence oée¢ that are not reasonably determinable. We hawvkad any requests for indemnification
under these arrangements. Our management belteatesy liability for these indemnity arrangementsild not be material to our
accompanying consolidated financial statementsheie not recorded any liabilities for these inddioaiion arrangements on our
consolidated balance sheet as of December 29,.2012

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Please refer to the discussion of our recent adtaupronouncements in Note 2—Summary of Significaccounting Policies of the
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statementsrupdg 11, Item 8 in this Annual Report on Forn-K.

ltem 7A: Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about MakRisk

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk.We conduct certain operations in foreign cucies. We enter into currency forward exchange
contracts to hedge a portion, but not all, of éxgsforeign currency denominated amounts. Gainsl@ssks on these contracts are generally
recognized in other income. Because the effectmfements in currency exchange rates on the curfenasard exchange contracts generally
offsets the related effect on the underlying itdmamg hedged, these financial instruments are xpe@ed to subject us to risks that would
otherwise result from changes in currency exchaatgs. We do not use derivative financial instrutador trading or speculative purposes.
recognized a net loss of $0.5 million and a net @&i$1.6 million for fiscal 2012 and 2011, respesly, from the fluctuation in foreign
exchange rates and the valuation of these hedgeactmin our Consolidated Statements of Operatimuer “Other income, net”.

Interest Rate Sensitivity. Our exposure to market risk for changes inré@gerates relates primarily to our investmentfobc. We
invest in a number of securities including U.S.ragyediscount notes, money market funds and comalgraper. We attempt to ensure the
safety and preservation of our invested principabs by limiting default risk, market risk and ne@stment risk. We mitigate default risk by
investing in high grade investment securities. Biqy, we limit the amount of credit exposure toissuer, except U.S. Treasuries and U.S.
agencies. We do not use interest rate derivatsteiments to manage interest rate exposures needovest for trading or speculative
purposes. The fair market value of our fixed rateusities may be adversely impacted by increasagenest rates while income earned on
floating rate securities may decline as a resulteafreases in interest rates. A hypothetical 18&h@oint (one percentage point) increase or
decrease in interest rates compared to rates a&nilmr 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011 would haeeteaff the fair value of our investment
portfolio by less than $1.2 million and $2.1 mitlig respectively.

Item 8: Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
Consolidated Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements and supplanedata of FormFactor required by this item acduded in the section entitled
"Consolidated Financial Statements" of this Anrfeeport on Form 10-K. See Item 15(a)(1) for a lfsbur consolidated financial statements.

Item 9: Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéenting and Financial Disclosure

None.
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Item 9A: Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Based on our management's evaluation (with thécfaation of our Principal Executive Officer andripal Financial Officer), as of
the end of the period covered by this report, gingipal executive officer and principal financi@ficer have concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 18a)Hnd 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchangeft934, as amended, (the "Exchange
Act")) were effective to ensure that informatioguéed to be disclosed by us in reports that wedil submit under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported vithitime periods specified in SEC rules and foams is accumulated and communicated
to our management, including our principal exeautificer and principal financial officer, as appriate to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There was no change in our internal control oveairicial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) 45d415(f) under the Exchange A
during the fiscal quarter ended December 29, 2012 has materially affected, or is reasonablylyike materially affect, our internal control
over financial reporting.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Finangal Reporting

Our management is responsible for estahlishnd maintaining adequate internal control dwemcial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Intecoatrol over financial reporting is a processigesd by, or under the supervision of, our
Principal Executive Officer and Principal Finandificer, and effected by our board of directorgmagement and other personnel, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilitynafitial reporting and the preparation of finansiatements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting iptes; and includes those policies and procedimas t

(i) pertain to the maintenance of resdftht in reasonable detail accurately and fa@fiect our transactions and dispositions of assets;

(ii) provide reasonable assurance tlatstactions are recorded as necessary to perméarnatem of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, #oad our receipts and expenditures are being malyarmaccordance with the authorization
of our management and directors; and

(i) provide reasonable assurance regarg@revention or timely detection of unauthorizedusition, use or disposition of our assets tha
could have a material effect on the financial stegmts.

Because of its inherent limitations, intdroontrol over financial reporting may not preventetect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdeénaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with thetigipation of our management, including our Pipat Executive Officer and Principal Financial
Officer , we conducted an assessment of the effantiss of our internal control over financial rejpgy as of December 29, 2012 . In making
this assessment, our management used the crigg¢ffiarth ininternal Control-Integrated Framewoliksued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission ("COSBgsed on the results of this assessment, managea&nbncluded that, our internal
control over financial reporting was effective december 29, 2012 , based on the criterimiarnal Control-Integrated Framewoiksued
by the COSO.

Management has elected to exclude Astnmi&mductor Holdings, Inc., including its subsigidicroProbe, Inc. (together "MicroProbi
from its assessment of internal control over finalh@porting as of December 29, 2012 , becausacgeired MicroProbe in a business
purchase combination during fiscal 2012. MicroPrizb& wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, whizgal assets and revenues represent
37.2% and 11.1%, respectively, of the related clhsted financial statement amounts as of andiferyear ended December 29, 2012 .

The effectiveness of our internal control over fic@l reporting as of December 29, 2012 has beditealiby
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registaiblic accounting firm, as stated in their répdrich appears in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

Control systems, no matter how well designed aretaipd, can provide only reasonable, not absaistjrance that the control syste
objectives are being met. Further, the design gfcamtrol systems must reflect the fact that tleeeeresource constraints, and the benefits
controls must be considered relative to their ca3gsause of the inherent limitations in all cohtiystems, no evaluation of controls can
provide absolute assurance that all control isanésinstances of fraud, if any, within our compaaye been detected. These inherent
limitations include the realities that judgmentsietision making can be faulty and that breakdowamsoccur because of simple error or



mistake. Control systems can also be
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circumvented by the individual acts of some persbysollusion of two or more people, or by managatroverride of the controls. The des

of any system of controls is based, in part, otegeiassumptions about the likelihood of futurerggeand there can be no assurance that any
design will succeed in achieving its stated goalsen all potential future conditions. Over timentols may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions or deterioration in the degrfecompliance with policies or procedures.

CEO and CFO Certifications

We have attached as exhibits to this Annual RepoEorm 10-K the certifications of our Chief ExaeatOfficer and Chief Financial
Officer, which are required in accordance with Exehange Act. We recommend that this Item 9A bd reaonjunction with the certificatiol
for a more complete understanding of the subjedtenpresented.

Item 9B: Other Information

None.
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PART Il
Item 10: Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govente

Information concerning our board of directors, catges and directors, including our audit commitiee audit committee financial
expert, will be included in our Proxy Statementdor 2013 annual meeting of stockholders, undeséution entitled "Proposal No. 1—
Election of Directors". The information in such pons of the Proxy Statement is incorporated in #mnual Report on Form 10-K by
reference.

For biographical information with respect to oureditors and executive officers, see Part |, Itewfi this Annual Report on Form 10-K
under the section entitled "Directors and Execu@fficers".

Information concerning Section 16(a) beneficial evahip reporting compliance will appear in our Br&atement under the section
entitled "Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership RepartCompliance”. The information in such portiontioé Proxy Statement is incorporated in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K by reference.

We have adopted a Statement of Corporate Code sih8ss Conduct that applies to all directors, efcand employees of FormFactor
and a Statement of Financial Code of Ethics thpliepto our chief executive officer, chief finaakofficer, and other employees in our fina
department. Information concerning these codesapitlear in our Proxy Statement under the sectitittegh'Proposal No. 1—Election of
Directors—Corporate Codes". The information in spoktion of the Proxy Statement is incorporatethia Annual Report on Form 10-K by
reference.

ltem 11: Executive Compensation

Information concerning executive officer compermatind related information will appear in our Pr@&tatement under the section
entitled "Compensation Discussion and Analysiske&utive Compensation and Related Information" geof the Compensation
Committee" and "Proposal No. 1—Election of DiresteitCompensation Committee Interlocks and Insidetid®aation". Information
concerning director compensation and related infdion will appear in our Proxy Statement undergbetion entitled "Proposal No. 1—
Election of Directors". The information in such pons of the Proxy Statement is incorporated in #mnual Report on Form 10-K by
reference.

Item 12: Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners aiianagement and Related Stockholder Matters

Information concerning the security ownership atai@ beneficial owners and management and rekttmkholder matters will appear
in our Proxy Statement under the section entitigectrity Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners dahagement and Related Stockholder
Matters". The information in such portion of they Statement is incorporated in this Annual ReparEorm 10-K by reference.

Information concerning our equity compensation plaiill appear in our Proxy Statement under theiseantitled "Security Ownership
of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management anated|Stockholder Mattersequity Compensation Plans”. The information in sportion
of the Proxy Statement is incorporated in this AadriReport on Form 10-K by reference.

Iltem 13: Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, aDitector Independence

Information concerning certain relationships andteal transactions, including our related persangactions policy will appear in our
Proxy Statement under the section entitled "CefRalationships and Related Transactions”. The inédion in such portion of the Proxy
Statement is incorporated in this Annual ReporForm 10-K by reference.

Information concerning director independence wilb@ar in our Proxy Statement under the sectiotlemtiProposal No. 1—Election of
Directors". The information in such portion of tReoxy Statement is incorporated in this Annual Repo Form 10-K by reference.

Item 14: Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Information concerning principal accounting feed aarvices and the audit committee's pre-approsadies and procedures will appear
in our Proxy Statement under the section entitfrdposal No. 2—Ratification of Selection of Indegent Registered Public Accounting
Firm". The information in such portion of the ProRjatement is incorporated in this Annual ReporForm 10-K by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15:  Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(a) The following documents are filed as parto$ tAnnual Report on Form 1K-
(1) Consolidated Financial Statements:

Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEing
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Statements of Operations
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(2) Exhibits:

The exhibits listed in the accompanying Index tdibits are filed or incorporated by reference as phthis Annual Report
on Form 10-K.

(b) Financial Statement Schedu

All schedules have been omitted because they dneqoired, not applicable, or the required infotiorais included in the
consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

(c) Exhibits
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Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

Incorporated by Reference

Form

File No

Date of
First Filing

Exhibit
Number

Filed
Herewith

2.01***

3.01

3.0z

4.01
10.014
10.024
10.034
10.044
10.05+
10.064

10.074
10.084
10.0094

10.104

10.11

10.1-

10.1c

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.164

10.174

10.184

10.194
21.01
23.01
24.01

31.01

31.0z

32.01°

101.INS**
101.SCH*
101.CAL**
101.DEF**
101.LAB**
101.PRE*

Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of Augus2@12 among 10-Q/A

Astria Semiconductor Holdings, Inc., FormFactoc, JiELM
Acquisition, Inc. and Fortis Advisors LLC, as Egtiblder
Representative

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatitthe
Registrant as filed with the Delaware Secretargtate on
June 17, 2003

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant
Specimen Common Stock Certificate

Form of Indemnity Agreement

Form of Change of Control Severance Agreement

1996 Stock Option Plan, and form of option grant
Incentive Option Plan, and form of option grant
Management Incentive Option Plan, and form of apgeant

2002 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, and foifrptan
agreements

2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended
Key Employee Bonus Plan, as amended

Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restatedtef@eApril 18,
2012, and forms of plan agreements

Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended anceresgatil 18,
2012

Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and between @itken
Holding Company LLC (successor to Greenville IneestL.P.)
("Greenville") and the Registrant dated May 3, 2001

First Amendment to Pacific Corporate Center Leasartd
between Greenville and the Registrant dated Jar8igr2003

Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and between @itkeand the
Registrant dated May 3, 2001

First Amendment to Pacific Corporate Center Leasariu
between Greenville and the Registrant dated Jar8iar003

Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and between @itkeand the
Registrant dated May 3, 2001

First Amendment to Pacific Corporate Center Leasartd
between Greenville and the Registrant dated Jar8igr003

Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and between @itkeand the
Registrant dated September 7, 2004, as amendeidsby F
Amendment to Building 6 Lease dated August 16, 2006

Employment Letter Agreement, dated September 2) 2fdtween
Thomas St. Dennis and FormFactor, Inc.

Employment Offer Letter, dated August 29, 2012 tdvBlessor
List of Registrant's subsidiaries
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriting

Power of Attorney (included on the signature paighis
Form 10-K)

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant15 U.S.C.
Section 7241, as adopted pursuant to Section 30®dbarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant15 U.S.C.
Section 7241, as adopted pursuant to Section 3@&darbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chigihancial
Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as tetbpursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

XBRL Instance Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuatne
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhen
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doenim

S1

8-K
S-1/A
S-1/A

10K
S

S1

10Q

10Q
10Q

S-1/A

S-1/A
S-1/A
S-1/A
S-1/A
S-1/A

10Q

8-K

00050307

33310981t

00050307
3338673¢
3338673¢
00050307
3338673¢
3338673¢
3338673¢
00050307

00050307
00050307

3338673¢

3338673¢

3338673¢

3338673¢

3338673¢

3338673¢

00050307

00050301

1/23/201:

10/20/200:

5/25/200!
5/28/200:
5/28/200:
3/14/200!
4/22/200:
4/22/200:
4/22/200:

5/4/201:

8/7/200'
5/7/200°

6/10/200:

5/7/200:

6/10/200:

5/7/200:

6/10/200:

5/7/200:

11/7/200t

9/17/201

33.01

3.01

3.0z

4.01
10.01
10.4¢
10.0¢
10.0¢4
10.0¢
10.0¢

10.01
10.01

10.1¢

10.18.:

10.1¢

10.19.:

10.2

10/20/200

10,01(

99.01+4

X X X X

x

X X X X X X



57




Table of Contents

* This exhibit shall not be deemed "filed" for purps®f Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Ad98# or otherwise subject to the liabilities oftteaction, nor shall
be deemed incorporated by reference in any filinden the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securitieshange Act of 1934, whether made before or dfiedate hereof
and irrespective of any general incorporation lagguin any filings.

** Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, thegeractive data files are deemed not filed or p&# registration statement or prospectus for psgp of Sections 11 or
12 of the Securities Act of 1933 or Section 18hef Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and otherwisenat subject to liability.

e Confidential treatment has been requestedpfortions of this document. The schedules, exhibits, annexes to this exhibit have been omittedliance on Item 601(b)
(2) of Regulation S-K and will be furnished suppétally to the SEC upon request.

+ Indicates a management contract or compensatomyoplarrangemer
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyigthas duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theéoeduly authorized, in the City of Livermore, StafeCalifornia, on the 12 day of March
2013.

FORMFACTOR, INC.
By: /s MICHAEL M. LUDWIG
Michael M. Ludwig
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW BY ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that eachihsf undersigned whose signature appears belovittoes and
appoints Michael M. Ludwig and Stuart L. Merkadeand each of them, the undersigned's true and laittiirneys-infact and agents with fu
power of substitution, for the undersigned anchmundersigned's name, place and stead, in angllacepacities, to sign any and all
amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K anydather documents in connection therewith, anfilédhe same, with all exhibits
thereto, with the Securities and Exchange Commisgjanting unto said attorneys-in-fact and ageatd,each of them, full power and
authority to do and perform each and every actisitgland necessary to be done with respect toAthisial Report on Form 10-K, including
amendments, as fully to all intents and purposebesindersigned might or could do in person, heratfying and confirming all that said
attorneys-in-fact and agents, or his or their stiistor substitutes, may lawfully do or cause ¢odone by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned hasuteel this Power of Attorney as of the date indidaielow.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on ber
of the Registrant and in the capacities and ord#tes indicated.

Signature Title Date

Principal Executive Officer:
/s/ THOMAS ST. DENNIS
Thomas St. Dennis

Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer:

/s MICHAEL M. LUDWIG
Michael M. Ludwig

Chief Executive Officer and Director March 13, 2013

Chief Financial Officer March 13, 2013
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Signature

Additional Directors:

/s/ G. CARL EVERETT, JR.

G. Carl Everett, Jr.

/s/ LOTHAR MAIER

Lothar Maier

/sl EDWARD ROGAS, JR

Edward Rogas, Jr

/sl MICHAEL W. ZELLNER

Michael W. Zellner

/s/ RICHARD DELATEUR

Richard DelLateur

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Faawibr, Inc:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated badasheets and the related consolidated statenfeopeiations, statements of
comprehensive loss, stockholders' equity, and flasis present fairly, in all material respects, fimancial position of FormFactor, Inc. and its
subsidiaries at December 29, 2012 and Decemb&(31, and the results of their operations and ttesh flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 29, 2012 in conformiti @tcounting principles generally accepted inUhéed States of America. Also in our
opinion, the Company maintained, in all materialpects, effective internal control over financiegporting as of December 29, 2012 , based o
criteria established in Internal Control—Integrakedmework issued by the Committee of Sponsorirga@izations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). The Company's management ismegge for these financial statements, for maiitej effective internal control over
financial reporting and for its assessment of fifiecéiveness of internal control over financial oejing, included in Management's Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting appeatimgler Iltem 9A of this Annual Report on Form 10eXur responsibility is to express
opinions on these financial statements and on tmapgany's internal control over financial reportigsed on our integrated audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with the statsdafrthe Public Company Accounting Oversight Bagidited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audits toiobtasonable assurance about whether the finastei@ments are free of material
misstatement and whether effective internal cordvelr financial reporting was maintained in all ev&l respects. Our audits of the financial
statements included examining, on a test basideaee supporting the amounts and disclosures ifirthecial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimatade by management, and evaluating the ovemalhdial statement presentation. Our a
of internal control over financial reporting inckri obtaining an understanding of internal contu@rdinancial reporting, assessing the risk
a material weakness exists, and testing and evaduthie design and operating effectiveness of ivalecontrol based on the assessed risk. Our
audits also included performing such other proceslass we considered necessary in the circumstaneebelieve that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company's internal control over financial repagtis a process designed to provide reasonableasssuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegenerally accepted accounting princip
A company's internal control over financial repagtincludes those policies and procedures thakefitain to the maintenance of records ths
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettiansactions and dispositions of the assetseofdmpany; (ii) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatg@aparation of financial statements in accor@anwith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®ttbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide readwaassurance regarding prevention or timely detectf unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company's assets that could havaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohaver financial reporting may not prevent or détaisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdeénaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

As described in Management's Report on Internati@baver Financial Reporting, management has eeduAstria Semiconductor
Holdings, Inc., including its subsidiary MicroPrqgltec., (together "MicroProbe") from its assessnadrinternal control over financial reporti
as of December 29, 2012 because it was acquirgiebompany in a business purchase combinationgltiie year ended December 29,
2012. We have also excluded MicroProbe from ouitafdnternal control over financial reporting. toProbe is a wholly-owned subsidiary
whose total assets and total revenues represét®3hd 11.1%, respectively, of the related conatdid financial statement amounts as of an
for the year ended December 29, 2012.

/s/ PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP
San Jose, California
March 13, 2013
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FORMFACTOR, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Marketable securities
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Deferred tax assets
Refundable income taxes
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Restricted cash
Property, plant and equipment, net
Goodwill
Intangibles, net
Deferred tax assets
Other assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Capital leases, current portion
Income taxes payable
Deferred revenue
Total current liabilities
Long-term income taxes payable
Capital leases, net of current portion
Deferred rent and other liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)
Stockholders' equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value:

10,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issuedwasizinding at December 29, 2012 ant

December 31, 2011, respectively
Common stock, $0.001 par value:

250,000,000 shares authorized; 53,286,703 and 89,28 shares issued and outstanding

December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011, resplctive
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Accumulated deficit

Total stockholders' equity

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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December 29,

2012

December 31,

2011

(In thousands, except share
and per share data)

$ 72,240 $ 139,04
93,54t 157,64
28,91¢ 12,66:
23,61¢ 18,09:
4,61% 1,167
5,667 91¢
10,56¢ 7,45¢
239,17 336,97
31¢ 317
45,51 35,13:
30,99 —
74,27¢ 3,247
4,207 5,95¢
1,20( 1,451

$ 39568 $ 383,07

$ 21,01f $ 9,731
17,27( 13,96¢
572 —

— 10C
6,18¢ 4,79¢
45,04’ 28,50t
3,02¢ 4,11z
34C —
8,00¢ 3,712
56,42 36,41¢
54 50
681,15 652,02«
1,71¢ 2,70(
(343,66%) (308,12;)
339,25t 346,65:
$ 39568, $ 383,07
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FORMFACTOR, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Fiscal Year Ended

December 29, December 31, December 25,
2012 2011 2010
(In thousands, except per share data)
Revenues $ 17853! $ 169,32! $ 188,56!
Cost of revenues 153,20« 148,36 190,83
Gross profit (loss) 25,33: 20,95¢ (2,272)
Operating expenses:
Research and development 40,13( 43,54« 55,38¢
Selling, general and administrative 49,23: 46,70¢ 67,20¢
Restructuring charges, net 2,917 522 15,90¢
Impairment of long-lived assets 421 54¢ 56,40:
Gain on settlement of litigation (3,250 — —
Total operating expenses 89,44 91,32( 194,90¢
Operating loss (64,119 (70,367) (197,179
Interest income 691 1,40¢ 2,54¢
Other income, net 1,461 1,07¢ 4,42¢
Loss before income taxes (61,96¢) (67,887) (190,209)
Benefit from income taxes (26,42() (1,907 (2,920
Net loss $ (35,546 $ (65,98) $ (188,28
Net loss per share:
Basic and diluted $ (0.70) $ 1.30) $ (3.75)
Weighted-average number of shares used in per shimalations:
Basic and diluted 50,55: 50,52 50,24¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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FORMFACTOR, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Fiscal Year Ended
December 29, December 31, December 25,

2012 2011 2010
(In thousands)
Net loss $ (3554 $ (65,98) $ (188,28¢)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustments (83¢) 66C 1,00¢
Unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-salekatable securities (147 13 (235)
Comprehensive loss $ (36,53) (65,309) (187,51)

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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FORMFACTOR, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Accumulated

Common Stock Additional Other
Paid-in Comprehensive Accumulated
Shares Amount Capital Income Deficit Total

(In thousands, except shares)

Balances, December 26, 2009 49,762,00 $ 50 $ 63033 $ 1,257 % (53,855 $ 577,78
Issuance of common stock pursuant to exercise tafrep
for cash 115,59° — 69¢ — — 69¢
Issuance of common stock pursuant to vesting drficesd
stock units, net of stock withheld 414,44: — (762) — — (762)
Issuance of common stock under the Employee Stock
Purchase Plan 365,87: 2 3,78¢ — — 3,78¢
Purchase and retirement of common stock (70,000 — (62€) — — (62€)
Stock-based compensation — — 17,83¢ — — 17,83«

Components of other comprehensive income (loss):
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on marketable

securities, net of tax — — — (235) — (235)
Currency translation adjustments — — — 1,00¢ — 1,00¢
Net loss — — — — (188,28f) (188,28f)
Balances, December 25, 2010 50,587,91 52 651,26: 2,027 (242,14)) 411,20:
Issuance of common stock pursuant to exercise tadrep
for cash 141,28( — 914 — — 914
Issuance of common stock pursuant to vesting drficesd
stock units, net of stock withheld 485,20: — (219) — — (219)
Issuance of common stock under the Employee Stock
Purchase Plan 386,81t — 2,818 — — 2,818
Purchase and retirement of common stock (2,332,741 ()] (16,409 — — (16,417)
Stock-based compensation — — 13,66: — — 13,66:

Components of other comprehensive income (loss):
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on marketable

securities, net of tax — — — 13 — 13
Currency translation adjustments — — — 66C — 66C
Net loss — — — — (65,987) (65,987)
Balances, December 31, 2011 49,268,47 5C 652,02: 2,70( (308,129 346,65:
Issuance of common stock pursuant to exercise tafrop
for cash — — — — — —
Issuance of common stock pursuant to acquisition of
business 3,020,94 3 13,80z — — 13,80¢
Issuance of common stock pursuant to vesting oficesd
stock units, net of stock withheld 464,20: — (20¢€) — — (10¢€)
Issuance of common stock under the Employee Stock
Purchase Plan 533,07 1 2,351 — — 2,35¢
Stock-based compensation — — 13,08( — — 13,08(

Components of other comprehensive income (loss):
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on marketable

securities, net of tax — — — (147 — (247
Currency translation adjustments — — — (83¢) — (83€)
Net loss — — — — (35,54¢) (35,54¢)
Balances, December 29, 2012 53,286,70 $ 54 $ 681,15 $ 1,71t $ (343,66) $ 339,25!

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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FORMFACTOR, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Fiscal Year Ended

December 29, 2012 December 31, 2011 December 25, 2010
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (35,540 $ (65,98) $ (188,280)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 16,90: 10,83¢ 28,15¢
Amortization of investments 91 46¢ 46¢
Stock-based compensation expense 13,04¢ 13,84¢ 17,61%
Deferred income tax benefit (24,46() (1,98¢) (2,10%)
Provision for (recovery of) doubtful accounts reedile 52 (27¢) (1,077)
Write-down for excess and obsolete inventories 7,232 7,891 11,38¢
Loss on disposal and write-off of long-lived assets 41 5 431
Non-cash restructuring 462 (1,587) 8,97¢
Impairment of long-lived assets 421 54¢ 56,40:
Gain on settlement of litigation (3,250 — —
Gain on release of secured borrowing — — (3,48))
Foreign currency transaction (gains) losses 1,267 32¢ (297)
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 5,15¢ 16,80: 3,22t
Inventories (926) (1,157) (16,887
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 821 5,621 3,70C
Refundable income taxes (27) (862) 25,84
Other assets 42¢ 1,907 66
Accounts payable (5,907%) (5,06%) (13,00¢)
Accrued liabilities (1,129 (9,64%) 4,63¢
Income taxes payable (2,14%) (1,267) (732)
Deferred revenues 1,06 16C (6,217)
Deferred rent and other liabilities 167 43 (1,920
Net cash used in operating activities (26,22%) (29,349 (73,09¢)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (7,959 (7,700 (30,919
Acquisition of MicroProbe, net of cash acquired (96,657 — —
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipmen — 33 29¢
Purchases of marketable securities (82,43) (246,66!) (341,29)
Proceeds from maturities of marketable securities 135,34( 308,68: 432,54¢
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities 11,00( 6,00( 9,20t
Change in restricted cash — 362 —
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (40,707 60,71: 69,84
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuances of common stock 2,251 3,50¢ 3,72¢
Purchase and retirement of common stock — (16,41)) (62€)
Payments made on capital leases (112) — —
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 2,13¢ (12,90%) 3,09¢
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cashaémts (2,01¢€) (625) (679)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equiszalent (66,80¢) 17,84. (83€)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 139,04¢ 121,20° 122,04
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 72,24% 139,04¢ $ 121,20°
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Fair value of stock issued in connection with tbguasition of MicroProbe $ 13,80¢ — & =



Changes in accounts payable and accrued liabititlased to property, plant and
equipment purchases $ 2,21 % (66) $ 1,997

Working capital adjustment $ 2,782 $ — 3 =
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Income taxes paid (refunded), net $ (400 $ 141C $ (24,887)
The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.

66




FORMFACTOR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1—Formation and Business of the Company

FormFactor, Inc. ("FormFactor" or the "Company" atgb referred to as "we" or "our") was incorpodate Delaware on April 15, 1993
and designs, develops, manufactures, sells anaasggecision, high performance advanced semiatindwafer probe cards. We are based
in Livermore, California, home to our corporateicdt, research and development, and manufactwaagibns. We have facilities in the Uni
States, Singapore, Japan, Taiwan, South Koreahandegople's Republic of China.

Fiscal Year

Our fiscal year ends on the last Saturday in Deegnithe fiscal years ended on December 29, 201Dacdmber 25, 2010 ,
respectively, consisted of 52 weeks and the figeat ended on December 31, 2011 consisted of 5ksve

Business Acquisition

On October 16, 2012, we completed the acquisitfolstria Semiconductor Holdings, Inc., including ihajor subsidiary MicroProbe
(together "MicroProbe™), which we refer to as tiMi¢roProbe Acquisition”. As part of the Acquisitioa wholly-owned subsidiary of
FormFactor merged with and into MicroProbe, withcMProbe continuing as the surviving corporatiod as a wholly-owned subsidiary of
FormFactor. For additional information regarding #cquisition see Note 3.

Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to the paar's Consolidated Balance Sheet to conforthe@urrent year's presentation.
Out of Period Adjustment

In the third quarter of fiscal 2010 , we recorde®4al million adjustment to cost of revenues neg@b million income tax benefit,
which resulted from an error in the calculatiorcapitalized manufacturing variances starting infitst quarter of fiscal 2009 through the
second quarter of fiscal 2010 . The error causedittderstatement of cost of revenues and the avenseént of the overhead capitalized in
inventory for most quarters.

The income tax benefit resulted from a higher ass lin 2009 due to higher costs of revenue. Thease in the 2009 loss allowed us to
recover more of our prior year tax payments. Ofttiial adjustment of $4.1 million to cost of revesu$2.9 million , net of $0.5 milliomcome
tax benefit, was related to fiscal 2009 . Managdmed the Audit Committee believe that such amoargsnot material to current and
previously reported financial statements.

Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Consolidation and Foreign Currency Trangian

The consolidated financial statements include cuoants and those of our wholly owned subsidiaddisnaterial intercompany
balances and transactions have been eliminated.

The functional currencies of certain of our foregybsidiaries are the local currencies and accglgiall assets and liabilities of these
foreign operations are translated to U.S. Dollasuarent period end exchange rates, and revemgesxpenses are translated to U.S. Dollars
using average exchange rates in effect during ¢hegh. The gains and losses from the foreign cagréranslation of these subsidiaries'
financial statements are included as a separatpa@oemt of stockholders' equity under “Accumulatéteo comprehensive income.”

Certain other of our foreign subsidiaries in thee's Republic of China, Taiwan, Hong Kong, Sdtinea and Singapore use the U.S.
Dollar as their functional currency. Accordinglypnetary assets and liabilities in nfamctional currencies of these subsidiaries aresssure:
using exchange rates in effect at the end of thiegheRevenues and costs in local currency are asored using average exchange rates for tt
period, except for costs related to those balaheetstems that are remeasured using historicddamge rates. The resulting remeasurement
gains and losses are included in the Consolidatsei@ents of Operations as incurred.
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FORMFACTOR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial stateséntonformity with accounting principles geneyalkcepted in the United States of
America ("GAAP") requires management to make egésand assumptions that affect the reported amadirmtssets and liabilities, the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitiethatdate of the financial statements, and the ted@mounts of revenues and expenses during
the reporting period. Estimates may change as nfaxnation is obtained. We believe that the estasaassumptions and judgments involved
in revenue recognition, fair value of marketableusities, allowance for doubtful accounts, resefeegproduct warranty, valuation of obsolete
and slow moving inventory, business combinatioegal contingencies, realizability of goodwill, thesessment of recoverability of long-lived
assets, valuation and recognition of stock-basetpemsation, provision or benefit for income taxed eelated deferred tax assets, valuation
and tax liabilities and accruals for other lialp##t have the greatest potential impact on our dmtaed financial statements. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.

Business Acquisitions

Our consolidated financial statements include fierations of an acquired business after the coroplef the acquisition. We account
for acquired businesses using the acquisition ntetfi@ccounting. The acquisition method of accovgnfor acquired businesses requires,
among other things, that most assets acquiredialnitities assumed be recognized at their estimttiedalues as of the acquisition date, and
that the fair value of acquired intangibles inchglin-process research and development (IPR&Dgberded on the balance sheet. Also,
transaction costs are expensed as incurred. Argsexaf the purchase price over the assigned vafuiths net assets acquired is recorded as
goodwill.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

Cash and cash equivalents consist of depositsiaadcial instruments which are readily convertiln® cash and have original maturit
of 90 days or less at the time of acquisition. kdéable securities consist primarily of highly lidunvestments with maturities of greater than
90 days when purchased. We generally classifyrarketable securities at the date of acquisitioavaflable-for-sale. These securities are
reported at fair value with the related unrealigaths and losses included in "Accumulated otherpgretmensive income”, a component of
stockholder's equity, net of tax. Any unrealizesisies which are considered to be other-than-tempomgairments are recorded in "Other
income, net" in the Consolidated Statements of &tpers. Realized gains (losses) on the sale of etalble securities are determined using the
specific-identification method and recorded in "&@tincome, net" in the Consolidated Statementsp#r&tions. We measure our cash
equivalents and marketable securities at fair value

All of our available-forsale investments are subject to a periodic impaitmaview. We record a charge to earnings wherchrgein fair
value is significantly below cost basis and judg®mflie other-than-temporary, or have other indicatdimpairments. If the fair value of an
available-for-sale investment is less than its dimed cost basis, an other-themporary impairment is triggered in circumstanebsre (1) w
intend to sell the instrument, (2) it is more lik¢han not that we will be required to sell thetinment before recovery of its amortized cost
basis or (3) a credit loss exists where we do rpeet to recover the entire amortized cost baste@fnstrument. If we intend to sell or it is
more likely than not that we will be required tdl $iee available-forsale investment before recovery of its amortizest basis, we recognize
other-than- temporary impairment charge equal écetttire difference between the investment's areattcost basis and its fair value.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

We have evaluated the estimated fair value of fir@nnstruments using available market informatéom valuations as provided by
third-party sources. The use of different marksuagptions and/or estimation methodologies couletesignificant effect on the estimated
fair value amounts. The fair value of the Compang'sh, cash equivalents, accounts receivable, atspayable and other current liabilities
approximate their carrying amounts due to the inadbt short maturity of these items. The carryimycants of certain of our financial
instruments, including cash and cash equivalentsunts receivable, accounts payable, accrued amapen and other accrued liabilities,
approximate fair value because of their short nitigr Estimates of fair value of our marketablewsdies are based on quoted market prices
from active markets or third party, market-basedipg sources which we believe to be reliable. Bhestimates represent the third parties'
good faith opinion as to what a buyer in the madeste would pay for a security in a current sale.

Whenever possible, the fair values of our finanagdets and liabilities are determined using quotaiket prices of identical assets or
guoted market prices of similar assets from aatinaekets. The three levels of inputs that may be tseneasure fair value are as follows:

» Level 1 valuations are obtained from réate quotes for transactions in active exchangekataiinvolving identical asse
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* Level 2 inputs other than Level 1 that are obakle, either directly or indirectly, such as qubpegices for similar assets or
liabilities, quoted prices near the reporting datmarkets that are less active, or other inpuas dne observable or can be
corroborated by observable market data for subiatynthe full term of the assets or liabilities.

» Level 3 valuations are based on unobservablgtsno the valuation methodology and include oun @ata about assumptions
market participants would use in pricing the assdiability based on the best information availabhder the circumstances.

Each level of input has different levels of suhjatt and difficulty involved in determining fairalue.
Foreign Exchange Management

We transact business in various foreign currendésenter into forward foreign exchange contractan effort to mitigate the risks
associated with currency fluctuations on certaneifin currency balance sheet exposures. Gainsoardd resulting from the impact of
currency exchange rate movements on forward forexghange contracts designated to offset certa@igio currency balance sheet exposure:
are recognized as "Other income (expense), netieiConsolidated Statements of Operations in thiegé which the exchange rates change
These gains and losses are intended to partidietahe foreign currency exchange gains and lazsése underlying exposures being hedgec
We record the fair value of these contracts as®find of our reporting period in the Consoliddathnce Sheet. We do not use derivative
financial instruments for trading or speculativepmses.

Restricted Cash

Under the terms of one of our facility leases, wavfgle security to the landlord in the form of é&# of credit. As oDecember 29, 20!
and December 31, 2011 , restricted cash include2ifidlion and $0.3 million , respectively, of lets of credit secured by a certificate of
deposit.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (ppalty standard cost which approximates actual oonst first-in, first-out basis) or market
value. The provision for potentially excess andoidte inventory is made based on management'sasalyinventory levels, past usage and
forecasted future sales and market conditions. Quiaterly basis, we review inventory quantitieshand and on order under non-cancelable
purchase commitments in comparison to our pasteuaad estimated forecast of product demand fonéxé six months to determine what
inventory quantities, if any, may not be sellatdased on this analysis, we write down the affegtgdntory value for estimated excess and
obsolescence charges. At the point of loss reciognia new, lower cost basis for that inventorgssablished, and subsequent changes in fact
and circumstances do not result in the restoratidncrease in that newly established cost basigppg and handling costs are classified as ¢
component of "Cost of revenues" in the Consolid&tdements of Operations.

We design, manufacture and sell a fully custom pcoéhto a market that has been subject to cydtycahd significant demand
fluctuations. Probe cards are complex productdpouso a specific chip design and have to be dediv®n short lead-times. Probe cards are
manufactured in low volumes, but for certain maierithe material purchases are often subject nimmim purchase order quantities in excess
of the actual underlying probe card demand. lbisumcommon for us to acquire production mateaald commence production activities
based on estimated production yields and forecaiethnd prior to or in excess of actual demanddomwafer probe cards. These factors
result in normal recurring inventory valuation astjuents to cost of revenues. Aggregate inventoitewdowns were $7.2 million$7.9 million
and $11.4 million for fiscal 2012, 2011 and 20KXkpectively. We retain a portion of the excessntwg until the customer's design is
discontinued. The inventory may be used to satis§tomer warranty demand.

When our products have been delivered, but thenexassociated with that product is deferred becthesrelated revenue recognition
criteria have not been met, we defer the relatedritory costs. The deferred inventory costs deemoeed the deferred revenue amounts. The
deferred inventory costs are classified as a compioof "Prepaid expenses and other current assetis€ Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost less adeted depreciation and amortization. Depreciaigsgorovided on a straight-line
method over the following estimated useful livestaf assets: 1 to 5 years for machinery and equipriiéo 5 years for computer equipment
and software and 1 to 5 years for furniture artlifes. Leasehold improvements are amortized dweshorter of the lease term or the
estimated useful life of the related asset. Contt-in-progress assets are not depreciated thetihssets are placed in service. Upon sale or
retirement of assets, the cost and related accuecubepreciation or amortization, are removed ftbenbalance sheet and the resulting gain o
loss is reflected in operations.
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Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase prier the fair value of assets acquired and itaslassumed. We have determined
that we operate in a single segment and have &giagorting unit associated with the design, dewelent, manufacture, sale and support of
precision, high performance advanced semicondueafer probe cards. In September 2011, the FinaAciabunting Standards Board
("FASB") amended its guidance to simplify the tegtof goodwill for impairment, allowing an entity first assess qualitative factors to
determine whether it is necessary to perform adtep-quantitative goodwill impairment test. If artiy determines as a result of the
gualitative assessment that it is more likely thahthat the fair value of a reporting unit is I#san its carrying amount, then the quantitative
impairment test is required. Otherwise, no furtiesting is required. The performance of the quatitié impairment test involves a two-step
process. The first step of the impairment test lve® comparing the fair values of the applicabfgoréng units with their aggregate carrying
values, including goodwill. We generally determthe fair value of our reporting units using thedne approach methodology of valuation
that includes the discounted cash flow method dkasether generally accepted valuation methodekodf the carrying amount of a reporting
unit exceeds the reporting unit's fair value, wdgren the second step of the quantitative impairntest to determine the amount of
impairment loss. The second step of the goodwildamment test involves comparing the implied faitue of the affected reporting unit's
goodwill with the carrying value of that goodwiWe acquired MicroProbe and performed a fair vakseasment as of the acquisition date,
October 16, 2012 resulting in our current gooddlance. We will perform our annual goodwill impaént test in the fourth fiscal quarter.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consists of acquisition relatéahigible assets and intellectual property. Thanigible assets are being amortized over
periods which reflect the pattern in which econobgaefits of the assets are expected to be realized 1 to 10 years, utilizing either an
accelerated or straight-line basis of amortizatitie. perform a review of intangible assets whensfacid circumstances indicate that the useft
life is shorter than originally estimated or thia tarrying amount of assets may not be recoverHldach facts and circumstances exist, we
assess the recoverability of identified intangdsets by comparing the projected undiscountedasét flows associated with the related asse
or group of assets over their remaining lives agjdimeir respective carrying amounts. Impairmehtmy, are based on the excess of the
carrying amount over the fair value of those assets

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We test long-lived assets or asset groups for evednility when events or changes in circumstanceigate that their carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. Circumstances which caigddr a review include, but are not limited tayrsficant decreases in the market price of
the asset; significant adverse changes in the bssidimate or legal factors; accumulation of ceggaificantly in excess of the amount
originally expected for the acquisition or constioig of the asset; current period cash flow or aprg losses combined with a history of losse
or a forecast of continuing losses associated thighruse of the asset; and current expectatiorthbasset will more likely than not be sold or
disposed of before the end of its estimated udiédul

Recoverability is assessed based on the carryirmyats of the asset and its fair value which is gahedetermined as the sum of the
undiscounted cash flows expected to result fronuieeand the eventual disposal of the asset, dssvepecific appraisals in certain instances
An impairment loss is recognized when the carrgngpunt is not recoverable and exceeds fair value.

We performed an enterprise-wide impairment testénfourth fiscal quarter of 2012. No enterprisel@vimpairment charges were
recorded during fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011. Wereéed an enterprise-wide charge in 2010 of $52Iomi. See Note 7 - Impairment of Long-
lived Assets for additional information.

Long-Lived Assets Held For Sale

We classify long-lived assets as held for sale wdestain criteria are met, including: managemergtamitment to a plan to sell the
assets; the availability of the assets for imnmedsate in their present condition; whether an agtrogram to locate buyers and other actions t
sell the assets has been initiated; whether tlzecddahe assets is probable and their transfergected to qualify for recognition as a completec
sale within one year; whether the assets are bearjeted at reasonable prices in relation to flagivalue; and whether it is unlikely that
significant changes will be made to the plan tbthel assets.

We measure long-lived assets to be disposed aodlleyas the lower of the carrying amount or fainnaless cost to sell. Fair value is
determined using quoted market prices or the gatied cash flows discounted at a rate commenswittehe risk involved. Changes to our
estimated fair values of such assets are recordégtiperiods in which such changes are identified.
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Concentration of Credit Risk and Other Risks and thkrtainties

Financial instruments that potentially subjectasdncentrations of credit risk consist primarifycash equivalents, marketable
securities, trade receivables and derivative fir@mestruments used in hedging activities. Outhcaguivalents and marketable securities are
held in safekeeping by large, creditworthy finahaiatitutions. We invest our excess cash primarilyJ.S. banks, government and agency
bonds, money market funds and corporate obligatdfeshave established guidelines relative to crediihgs, diversification and maturities
that seek to maintain safety and liquidity. Depoaitthese banks may exceed the amounts of insiowided on such deposits. To date, we
have not experienced any losses on our deposiastf and cash equivalents.

We market and sell our products to a narrow baseistomers and generally do not require collatémdiscal 2012 , two customers
accounted for 29% and 12% of revenues. In fiscall2Ghree customers accounted for 16% , 11% af@ dfCevenues. In fiscal 2010 , three
customers accounted for 20% , 13% , and 12% ofwe®

At December 29, 2012 , one customer accounteddr @f accounts receivable. At December 31, 20tb dustomers accounted for
12% , and 10% of accounts receivable. We operateeiintensely competitive semiconductor industigluding the DRAM, Flash, and
System-on-Chip ("SoC") markets, which have beemattarized by price erosion, rapid technologicarge, short product life, cyclical
market patterns and heightened foreign and domestinpetition. Significant technological changeshia industry could affect operating res
adversely.

We are exposed to ngrerformance risk by counterparties on the currdooyard exchange contracts used in hedging a@suitiVe
seek to minimize risk by diversifying our hedgingpgram across multiple financial institutions. Theunterparties are large internatis
financial institutions, and to date no such coyrdety has failed to meet its financial obligatidosis.

Certain components that meet our requirements\aiiéable only from a limited number of supplierhéelrapid rate of technological
change and the necessity of developing and manufagtproducts with short lifecycles may intendifgse risks. The inability to obtain
components as required, or to develop alternatueces, if and as required in the future, couldltés delays or reductions in product
shipments, which in turn could have a material aslveffect on our business, financial conditiosutes of operations or cash flows.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue when persuasive evidencaalta arrangement exists, title and risk of losstrensferred to the customer, the
selling price is fixed or determinable and collentof the related receivable is reasonably assimadstances where final acceptance of the
deliverable is specified by the customer, revesuwteferred until all acceptance criteria have been

In October 2009, the FASB issued Accounting Stathslalpdate No. 2009-13, “Multiple-Deliverable ReverArrangements”. The
guidance eliminates the residual method of reveaaegnition and allows the use of management'sdstishate of selling price (‘BESP”) for
individual elements of an arrangement when vengecific objective evidence (“VSOE”) or third-pamtyidence (“TPE”) is unavailable. We
adopted this guidance effective with the first geiof fiscal 2011 and it has been applied on ageotive basis for revenue arrangements
entered into or materially modified after Decempgy 2010.

This guidance does not generally change the ufigeoounting for our revenue transactions. We dohawe a significant number
product offerings with multiple elements. Our mpikelement arrangements generally include probe @rdgproduct maintenance and re
services. We allocate revenue to the deliverabdesedb upon their relative selling price. Revenuecalied to each unit of accounting is t
recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangesmésts, delivery has occurred or services andered, the sales price or fee is fixe
determinable and collectability is reasonably assuProduct maintenance and repair services amrrddfand recognized ratably over
period during which the services are performedegaty one year, and costs are recorded as incurred

When applying the relative selling price method, de¢ermine the selling price for each deliveraldimg VSOE, TPE or BESP. For
vast majority of our arrangements involving muktigleliverables, such as sales of products withisythe entire fee from the arranger
was allocated to each respective element basets oalative selling price, using VSOE. For thosévdeables for which we cannot estab
VSOE, we have determined our best estimate ofngefirice, as the Company has determined it is en@béstablish TPE of selling price
the deliverables. The objective of BESP is to deiee the price at which we would transact a sathafdeliverable were sold on a staaldne
basis. We determine BESP for a deliverable by cmmgig multiple factors including, but not limited, market conditions, competiti
landscape, internal costs, gross margin objectares pricing practices. The determination of BESPna&de through consultation with ¢
formal approval by our management, taking into aersition the go-to-market strategy.
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The adoption of the new revenue recognition acdngratandards did not have a material impact oncousolidated financial positic
results of operations, or cash flows for the yeatesl December 31, 2011. The new accounting stasidardevenue recognition if applied
the same manner to the year ended December 25v20il6l not have had a material impact on totalreeenues for that fiscal year.

Revenues from the licensing of our design and neartufing technology, which have not been mateoiadte, are recognized over the
term of the license agreement or when the sigmificantractual obligations have been fulfilled.

Warranty Obligations

We offer warranties on certain products and reeodiidbility for the estimated future costs assamawith warranty claims at the time
revenue is recognized. The warranty liability iséd upon historical experience and our estimateeofevel of future costs. While we engage
in product quality programs and processes, ouraméyrobligation is affected by product failure sgtmaterial usage and service delivery cost:
incurred in correcting a product failure. We couotinsly monitor product returns for warranty andmtein a reserve for the related expenses
based upon our historical experience and any spaltyfidentified field failures. As we sell newgafucts to our customers, we must exercise
considerable judgment in estimating the expectédréarates. This estimating process is based stotical experience of similar products, as
well as various other assumptions that we believgetreasonable under the circumstances.

We provide for the estimated cost of product waiearat the time revenue is recognized. Warransgscare reflected in the Statemen
Operations as a cost of revenues. A reconciliagfdhe changes in our warranty liability is as de¥s (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 29, December 31,

2012 2011
Warranty accrual beginning balance $ 33C $ 43z
Accrual of warranties during the year 1,74¢ 66€
Settlements made during the year (1,340 (769)
Warranty accrual ending balance $ 734 % 33C

Research and Development

Research and development expenses include expetestesl to product development, engineering anenadtcosts. All research and
development costs are expensed as incurred.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

A majority of our trade receivables are derivedrirsales to large multinational semiconductor mastufars throughout the world. In
order to monitor potential credit losses, we penf@ngoing credit evaluations of our customers'rfaial condition. An allowance for doubtful
accounts is maintained based upon our assessmtrg expected collectability of all accounts reebie. The allowance for doubtful accounts
is reviewed and assessed for adequacy on a qydrasis. We take into consideration (1) any cirdamses of which we are aware of a
customer's inability to meet its financial obligats and (2) our judgments as to prevailing econawitlitions in the industry and their impact
on our customers. If circumstances change, anfirthacial condition of our customers are adversdfgcted and they are unable to meet theil
financial obligations to us, we may need to takditaahal allowances, which would result in an irese in our net loss.

The allowance for doubtful accounts consisted efftilowing activity for fiscal years 2012, 201hd2010 (in thousands):

Balance at Balance at
Beginning of Yeal Additions Reductions End of Year

Allowance for doubtful accounts receivabl
Fiscal year ended December 25, 2010 $ 9,26( $ 31t $ (8,72¢) $ 847
Fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 847 29 (63¢€) 23¢
Fiscal year ended December 29, 2012 23¢ 20z (157) 28¢
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A description of activity recorded in our allowarice doubtful accounts is as follows:

» Fiscal 2010: we recorded an additional allowance for doubdftdounts of $0.3 million for accounts determinefieéo
uncollectible and we released $8.7 million of aldmee for doubtful accounts primarily due to a remuncof $6.7 millionrelatec
to the dismissal of a complaint against a custam&ulting in the write-off of previously reservectaunts receivable, a write-
off of $0.5 million uncollectible debts that waspiously reserved and receipt of payments totabihg million for accounts
receivable that was previously reserved.

» Fiscal 2011: we recorded a reduction in the provision of $@ibion primarily due to the receipt of paymentsatiing $0.3
million for accounts receivable previously reseraed we wrote-off previously reserved accountsivetéde in the amount of
$0.3 million .

+ Fiscal 2012: we recorded a provision of $0.2 million and reke $0.2 million of allowance for doubtful accoutitat was
previously reserved.

Restructuring Charges

Restructuring charges include costs related to eyegl termination benefits, long-lived assets imgghor abandoned, as well as contrac
termination costs. The determination of when weawafor employee termination benefits depends oethdr the termination benefits are
provided under a one-time benefit arrangement deuan on-going benefit arrangement. For restringurharges recorded as an on-going
benefit arrangement, a liability for post-employmbenefits is recorded when payment is probab&athount is reasonably estimable, and th
obligation relates to rights that have vested euauwuilated. For restructuring charges recordedasedime benefit arrangement, we recognize
a liability for employee termination benefits wheeplan of termination, approved by management atabishing the terms of the benefit
arrangement, has been communicated to employeedinimg of the recognition of one-time employeentimation benefits is dependent upon
the period of time the employees are requiredidee service after communication. If employeesnaterequired to render service in order to
receive the termination benefits or if employeel madt be retained to render service beyond thamum legal notification period, a liability
for the termination benefits is recognized at tbenmunication date. In instances where employeddwitetained to render service beyond the
minimum legal notification period, the liability f@employee termination benefits is measured imjtial the communication date based on the
fair value of the liability as of the terminatioaté and is recognized ratably over the future serperiod. We continually evaluate the adeq
of the remaining liabilities under our restructgrinitiatives.

We record charges related to long-lived assetg tablandoned when the assets cease to be usedviloerase using a building or other
asset with remaining non-cancelable lease paynetentinuing beyond our use period, we record alltgtfor remaining payments under lease
arrangements, as well as for contract terminatasts; that will continue to be incurred under atmt for its remaining term without
economic benefit to us at the cease-use date. @ieesignificance of, and the timing of the exesutdf such activities, this process is comple
and involves periodic reassessments of estimates aiathe time the original decisions were madguding evaluating real estate market
conditions for expected vacancy periods and sugeleants. Although we believe that these estinwtesrately reflect the costs of our
restructuring plans, actual results may differréhg requiring us to record additional provisiomgsaverse a portion of such provisions.

The Company recorded restructuring charges of ®21n , $0.5 million and $15.9 million for fiscalears 2012, 2011 and 2010
respectively. See Note 5 Restructuring Charges.

Income Taxes

We utilize the asset and liability method of acdinmfor income taxes, under which deferred taxesdetermined based on the
temporary differences between the financial statérand tax basis of assets and liabilities usimgates expected to be in effect during the
years in which the basis differences reverse andgderating losses and tax credit carryforwards.esfenate our provision for income tay
and amounts ultimately payable or recoverable menous tax jurisdictions around the world. Estimateolve interpretations of regulations
and are inherently complex. Resolution of incometteatments in individual jurisdictions may notheown for many years after completion
of any fiscal year. We are required to evaluateréadizability of our deferred tax assets on ancamg basis to determine whether there is a
need for a valuation allowance with respect to sieferred tax assets. A valuation allowance isndambwhen it is more likely than not that
some of the deferred tax assets will not be redliZgnificant management judgment is requiredatednining any valuation allowance
recorded against deferred tax assets. In evalutitingbility to recover deferred tax assets, wesictar all available positive and negative
evidence giving greater weight to our recent cutinddosses and our ability to carryback lossesreggrior taxable income and,
commensurate with objective verifiability, the foast of future taxable income including the revieos$éemporary differences and the
implementation of feasible and prudent tax planmstigtegies.

We recognize and measure uncertain tax positid@htar expected to be taken in a tax return & inore likely than not that the tax
position will be sustained on examination by thartg authorities, based on the technical merithefposition.
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The tax benefits recognized in the consolidatedrfaial statements from such positions are then mmeddased on the largest benefit that t
greater than 50 percent likelihood of being reaiapon ultimate settlement. We report a liability finrecognized tax benefits resulting from
uncertain tax positions taken or expected to bertai a tax return. We adjust these reserveslint fijchanging facts and circumstances, such
as the closing of a tax audit or the refinemerdroéstimate. To the extent that the final tax oueof these matters is different than the
amounts recorded, such differences will impactptteevision for income taxes in the period in whicitls determination is made. The provision
for income taxes includes the impact of reserveipions and changes to reserves that are considpmdpriate, as well as the related net
interest. We recognize interest and penaltiesaelad unrecognized tax benefits within the incomeprovision. Accrued interest and penalties
are included within the related tax liability lifrethe consolidated balance sheet.

We file annual income tax returns in multiple taxjarisdictions around the world. A number of yeanray elapse before an uncertain
position is audited and finally resolved. Whilésitoften difficult to predict the final outcome thre timing of resolution of any particular
uncertain tax position, we believe that our reseffee income taxes reflect the most likely outcoive adjust these reserves, as well as the
related interest, in light of changing facts amduwinstances. Settlement of any particular positmunid require the use of cash.

Stock-Based Compensation

We recognize compensation expense for all stockebawards based on the grant-date estimated faisjanet of an estimated
forfeiture rate. The value of the portion of theaadthat is ultimately expected to vest is recogghias expense ratably over the requisite se
periods in our Consolidated Statement of Operatidhe fair value of stock options is measured ustiegBlack-Scholes option pricing model
while the fair value for restricted stock awardd a@stricted stock units is measured based onldiseng market price of our common stock on
the date of grant.

Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividingass by the weighted-average number of commoreshautstanding for the period.
Diluted net loss per share is computed giving ¢ffeall potential dilutive common stock, includistpck options, restricted stock units and
common stock subject to repurchase. Diluted lossipare was based only on the weighted-average euofishares outstanding during that
period as the inclusion of any common stock eqeivial would have been anti-dilutive.

A reconciliation of the numerator and denominatediin the calculation of basic and diluted nes losr share is as follows (in
thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended

December 29, December 31, December 25,
2012 2011 2010
Numerator:
Net loss used in computing basic and diluted reg lo
per share $ (35,54 $ (65,98) $ (188,28

Denominator:

Weighted-average shares used in computing basic
net loss per share 50,55! 50,52: 50,24¢

Add potentially dilutive securities — — —

Weighted-average shares used in computing diluted ) )
net loss per share 50,55! 50,52: 50,24¢

The following table sets forth the weighted-averpgtentially dilutive securities excluded from tt@mputation in the table above
because their effect would have been anti-dilufin¢housands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 29, December 31, December 25,

2012 2011 2010
Stock options 4,43( 4,89: 5,021
Restricted stock units 1,24¢ 1,15C 86¢
Employee stock purchase plan 39 13t 65

Total potentially dilutive securities 5,71t 6,17¢ 5,95¢
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

Accumulated other comprehensive income includesidarcurrency translation adjustments and unrealjgens (losses) on available-
for-sale securities net of tax, the impact of whias been excluded from earnings and reflectedrapanents of stockholders' equity.

Components of accumulated other comprehensive iaceas as follows (in thousands):

December 29, December 31,

2012 2011
Unrealized loss on marketable securities, net>obfe5428
and $384 in fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, respeltive $ 270 % (123
Cumulative translation adjustments 1,98¢ 2,82¢
Accumulated other comprehensive income $ 1,71t $ 2,70(

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Fair Value

Effective December 26, 2010, as required, we adbite guidance to amend the disclosure requirenmelated to recurring and
nonrecurring fair value measurements. Specifically have adopted the guidance requiring the disctoof the roll forward of activities on
purchases, sales, issuances and settlementsagsbts and liabilities measured using significawbservable inputs (Level 3 fair value
measurements). Other than requiring additionalaksces, adoption of this new guidance in the fiegrter of fiscal 2011 did not impact on
our consolidated financial statements.

Additionally, in May 2011, updated authoritativeidance to amend existing requirements for fair aheasurements and disclosures
was issued. The guidance expands the disclosun@eatents around fair value measurements categbirizeevel 3 of the fair value hierarchy
and requires disclosure of the level in the falugahierarchy of items that are not measured awfdue but whose fair value must be disclosec
It also clarifies and expands upon existing reqaasts for fair value measurements of financial @ssed liabilities as well as instruments
classified in stockholders' equity. The guidance efiective for fiscal years, and interim periodghim those years, beginning after
December 15, 2011, and was applied prospectivélis. iew guidance impacts how we report on fair @aheasurements only, and had no
effect on our results of operations, financial goaior liquidity upon our adoption on January Q12.

Comprehensive Income

In June 2011, authoritative guidance that addretbsegresentation of comprehensive income in imemd annual reporting of financial
statements was issued. The standard eliminatexption to present components of other compreheriisamme as part of the statement of
changes in stockholders’ equity. Such changesoukhblders’ equity will be required to be disclosedither a single continuous statement of
comprehensive income or in two separate but cotisecstatements. We have adopted this guidanceteféewith the first quarter of fiscal
2012 and such adoption did not have a material @tngna our consolidated financial statements.

In February 2013, the FASB issued revised guidamc€omprehensive Income: Reporting of Amounts ReifladOut of
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Inc¢’ The revised guidance does not change the currguaireenents for reporting net income or other
comprehensive income in financial statements. Hewnehe revised guidance requires an entity toigeminformation about the amounts
reclassified out of accumulated other compreherisis@me by component. In addition, an entity isuiegf to present, either on the face of the
statement where net income is presented or indtesnsignificant amounts reclassified out of aaslated other comprehensive income by the
respective line items of net income but only if #reount reclassified is required under U.S. GAABdaeclassified to net income in its enti
in the same reporting period. For other amountsatenot required under U.S. GAAP to be reclasgdiin their entirety to net income, an en
is required to cross-reference to other disclostegaired under U.S. GAAP that provide additionatiadl about those amounts. The revised
guidance is effective prospectively for reportiregipds beginning after December 15, 2012 for pudtitities. The revised guidance will not
have a material effect on the Company's finanaaitmn, results of operations or liquidity
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Note 3—Acquisition

On October 16, 2012, pursuant to an Agreement &rdd® Merger and Reorganization, or (the “AcquisitAgreement”), dated as of
August 31, 2012, as amended, a whallyned subsidiary of FormFactor merged with and Adtria Semiconductor Holding, Inc., including
subsidiary MicroProbe, Inc. (together “MicroProhefjith MicroProbe continuing as the surviving corgiion and as a wholly-owned
subsidiary of FormFactor (the "MicroProbe acquisit).

The Acquisition was accounted for using the actjoisimethod of accounting under which assets atiiliiies of MicroProbe were
recorded at their respective fair values includingamount for goodwill representing the differebetveen the acquisition consideration and
the fair value of the identifiable net assets.

The total acquisition consideration of $113.8 roilliwas determined based on the terms of the Ad¢guishgreement which consisted
of a) $100.0 million in cash, subject to a $3.3lionl decrease based on MicroProbe's working capitaf #i'e@onsummation of the Acquisiti
relative to an agreed upon target and b) 3,020s844es of FormFactor's common stock valued atltdsing market price of $4.5%r share ¢
October 16, 2012, and c) the fair value of a smktiet related to patent litigation between the tadips of $3.3 million .

Pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement, $17.8 milla the cash consideration was placed in escrog/"floldback") for unknown
liabilities that may have existed as of the acgoisidate. The Holdback, which was included as pfthe acquisition consideration, will be
paid for such unknown liabilities or to the fornMicroProbe shareholders within 18 months fromdlosing date of the Acquisition.

During fiscal 2012, we incurred $2.6 million in isaction costs related to the Acquisition, whicimgrrily consisted of investment
banking, legal, accounting and valuation-relategesses. These expenses were recorded in sellingrajand administrative expense in the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The acquisition price was allocated to the tanggnid identified intangible assets acquired andliies assumed as of the closing d
of the Acquisition based upon their respective ¥alues. Asset categories acquired in the Acquoisiticluded working capital, longgrm asse
and liabilities and identifiable intangible asséts]uding in-process research and development&IPRThe allocation of the acquisition price
has been prepared on a preliminary basis and chdadkat allocation may occur as additional infation becomes available. The table below
summarizes the assets acquired and liabilitiesnasdwas follows (in thousands):

Amount
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,84
Accounts receivable (1) 21,56
Inventories 11,80¢
Refundable income taxes 4,88t
Prepaid assets 1,54¢
Deferred tax asset 75€
Property, plant and equipment 11,95(
Other long-term assets 10z
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (20,58¢)
Capital leases (1,025
Deferred income taxes liabilities (26,667)
Other long-term liabilities (2,009
Total tangible assets acquired and liabilities el 5,17¢
Intangible assets 77,60(
Goodwill 30,99
Total intangible and goodwill assets acquired 108,59
Total acquisition price $ 113,77
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(1) The estimated fair value of trade receivableguired was $21.6 million . The gross contracamabunt of trade receivables was $21.8
million and was recorded net of allowances for dfulaccounts. We expect that $0.2 million of thesy contractual amount of trade
receivables will be uncollectible.

The intangible assets as of the closing date oAtirpiisition included (in thousands):

Amount
Existing developed technologies $ 31,10(
Trade names 4,50(
Customer relationships 17,00(
Backlog 3,50(
Favorable lease asset 30C
Non-compete agreement 10C
In-process research and development 21,10(
Total intangible assets $ 77,60

Indications of fair value of the intangible assatgjuired in connection with the Acquisition weraetmined using either the incor
market or replacement cost methodologies. The giliden assets are being amortized over periods wigfthct the pattern in which econot
benefits of the assets are expected to be realideel.existing developed technologies are being tneor on an accelerated basis ove
estimated useful life of one to four years; custonedationships are being amortized on an acceldrat straightine basis over eight ye:
depending on the product customer base; trade nanmteson-compete agreements are being amortizedstraightine basis over ten ye:
and one year, respectively; the favorable leaset &sbeing amortized on a straidime basis over the term of the related lease;taadacklo
is expected to be fully amortized by the secondtquaf fiscal 2013.

The excess of purchase price over the fair valueuats assigned to the assets acquired and liabiitssumed represents the an
of goodwill resulting from the Acquisition. We dmmnexpect any portion of this goodwill to be dedliet for tax purposes. The goody
attributable to the Acquisition has been recorde@d aoneurrent asset and is not amortized, but is sulbgeah annual review for impairme
We believe the factors that contributed to goodimitiude synergies that are specific to our codstdéid business, the acquisition of a tale
workforce that expands our expertise in busines&ldpment and commercializing semiconductor testdpcts as well as other intangi
assets that do not qualify for separate recognition

The results of operations of the MicroProbe busireesd the estimated fair values of the assets @ohand liabilities assumed hi
been included in our consolidated financial stateimesince the date of the Acquisition. Since thesiolg date of the Acquisition, t
contribution of the acquired MicroProbe businessuptotal revenues and net loss were $19.8 mibioth $6.4 million , respectively.

Pro forma financial information (unaudited)

The following unaudited supplemental pro forma infation presents the combined historical resulispafrations of FormFactor and
MicroProbe for the fiscal years 2012 and 2011f #sei Acquisition had been completed at the begigmif fiscal 2011. The pro forma financial
information includes adjustments to reflect onesticharges and amortization of fair value adjustsyanthe appropriate pro forma periods as
though the companies were combined as of the biegjroi 2011. These adjustments include:

* Anincrease in amortization expense of $6.8iamland $17.4 million for the fiscal years 2012 &8d.1, respectively, related to the
fair value of acquired identifiable intangible asse

* The exclusion of transaction-related expense&6d¥ millionfor the fiscal year ended 20.

*  The exclusion of other non-recurring expense$83® million and $2.7 million for the fiscal yed2612 and 2011, respectively,
primarily related to the fair value step-up to acgd inventory, fair value adjustments related t@aarant liability of MicroProbe,
provision for income taxes and litigation expenisesirred between the two parties regarding a péitegation action.

» Exclusion of the deferred tax asset valuatidease in 2012 and reflecting the valuation reléas®11 as if the Acquisition had been
completed in 2011.
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The unaudited pro forma results do not assume pagating efficiencies as a result of the consalitedf operations (in thousands,
except per share data):

Fiscal Years Ended

December 29, December 31,
2012 2011

Revenues $ 261,49¢ $ 266,86:

Net loss before income taxes (53,707) (44,665

Net loss per share - basic (1.07 (0.83)

Net loss per share - diluted (2.00 (0.83)

Note 4—Balance Sheet Components
Marketable Securities
Marketable securities at December 29, 2012 consitéhe following (in thousands):
Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Cost Gains Losses Value
U.S. Treasury $ 4349 $ 97 $ — $ 43,58
Agency securities 49,89¢ 63 (2) 49,95¢
$ 9338t $ 16C $ (1) $ 93,54

Marketable securities at December 31, 2011 combkatéhe following (in thousands):
Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Cost Gains Losses Value
U.S. Treasury $ 76,46. $ 208 $ 4 $ 76,66
Agency securities 78,92: 10z (42 78,98:
Commercial paper 1,99¢ — — 1,99¢
$ 157,38. $ 307 $ (4€) $ 157.64.

We typically invest in highly-rated securities withw probabilities of default. Our investment pgliequires investments to be rated
single-A or better, limits the types of acceptabhlestments, concentration as to security holddrduration of the investment. The net
unrealized losses on the Company's investmentsdalf2012 and 2011, respectively, were causedapilyrby changes in interest rates.

Our investment portfolio consists of both corporatel government securities that have a maximumpnityatf three years. The longer
the duration of these securities, the more suddepitiey are to changes in market interest ratddand yields. As yields increase, those
securities with a lower yield-at-cost show a mark¥tarket unrealized loss. All unrealized lossesdaieeto changes in market interest rates,
bond yields and/or credit ratings. We do not haferaseeable need to liquidate the portfolio antitgrate recovering the full cost of the
securities either as market conditions improveothe securities mature. Accordingly, we belidxa the unrealized losses are not other-than
temporary. When evaluating the investments for isthan-temporary impairment, we review factors sastihe length of time and extent to
which fair value has been below the amortized basts, review of current market liquidity, intereste risk, the financial condition of the
issuer, as well as credit rating downgrades.

As of December 29, 2012, none of our investmentisiiegn in a continuous loss position for 12 moothsiore.
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The contractual maturities of marketable securidesf December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011asdi@lows (in thousands):

December 29, 2012 December 31, 2011
Amortized Fair Amortized Fair
Cost Value Cost Value
Due in one year or less $ 33,400 $ 33,50 $ 52,52 $ 52,58¢
Due in one year to five years 59,97¢ 60,04¢ 104,85 105,05t

$ 93,38t $ 9354t $ 157,38. $ 157,64.

Realized gains on sales or maturities of marketséterities were $1,422 , $32,000 and $0.1 millasreach of the fiscal years 2012,
2011, and 2010, respectively.

Asset Retirement Obligations

We account for the fair value of a liability for asset retirement obligation to be recognized énpidriod in which it is incurred if a
reasonable estimate of fair value can be madefdihealue of the liability is added to the carrgiamount of the associated asset and this
additional carrying amount is amortized over tfie ¢if the asset. Our asset retirement obligati@s#ociated with our commitment to return
property subject to operating leases in Taiwanils&orea, Singapore and Japan to their originatlt@m upon lease termination. We have
estimated that as of December 29, 2012 , grossctegbéuture cash flows of $1.3 million would be ueqd to fulfill these obligations.

The carrying amount of the leasehold improvemesdslting from asset retirement obligations is beinwrtized over the term of the
related lease. Leasehold improvements amortizatipense was zero for fiscal years 2012 and 20Hlwais less than $0.1 million for fiscal
2010. During fiscal 2012 we updated our estimateio asset retirement obligation in conjunctiottvthe renewal of leases in certain
locations. As a result, we recorded a benefit o2 $fillion due to the reduction in the estimatetlifa required cash flows related to our
obligations at these locations.

In connection with our Q3 2010 Restructuring Piae,recorded impairment charges of $1.1 million ta@evdown the carrying amount
of leasehold improvements associated with asse¢metnt obligations in our Singapore manufactufamglity. This impairment charge was
included within "Restructuring charges, net" in @ensolidated Statements of Operations for fis6al02 Subsequently, in fiscal 2011 we
executed an amendment to the existing lease amaargdor our facility in Singapore which releasedfrtom our obligations related to the flc
previously utilized for manufacturing in this fagil As a result, our Consolidated Statements ofi@pons for fiscal 2011 includes a benefit of
$1.1 million recorded to "Restructuring chargeg;.ne

The following is a reconciliation of the aggregegérement liability associated with our commitmémteturn property to its original
condition upon lease termination included in non-ent "Deferred rent and other liabilities" in tBensolidated Balance Sheets (in thousands

Fiscal Years Ended

December 29, December 31,
2012 2011

Asset retirement obligation beginning balance $ 1581 $ 3,10¢
Liabilities settled — (1,127
Increase (decrease) based on revised estimateseifratirement
obligations (212) (529
Accretion expense — 12¢€
Currency translation (77) —
Asset retirement obligation ending balance $ 129:  $ 1,581
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Inventories

Inventories consisted of the following (in thoussnd

Fiscal Years Ended
December 29, December 31,

2012 2011
Raw materials $ 8,70: $ 5,732
Work-in-progress 8,67¢ 5,93¢
Finished goods 6,23t 6,422

$ 2361t $ 18,09:

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consisted of the¥atg (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended

December 29, December 31,

2012 2011
Buildings $ 79C % 79C
Machinery and equipment 142,68 127,30¢
Computer equipment and software 38,09: 36,328
Furniture and fixtures 6,24¢ 6,07:
Leasehold improvements 71,41¢ 70,097
259,23t 240,59:

Less: Accumulated depreciation, amortization artérpnise-wide

impairment (227,12¢) (217,96
32,11( 22,62¢
Construction-in-progress 13,40¢ 12,50:

$ 4551 $ 35,13:

In fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011 , we wrote off futlgpreciated assets with an acquired cost of $0lidmand $0.6 million , respectively.

As discussed in Note 8 - Fair Value in fiscal 204 building previously identified as held for sal@s returned into service at its
carrying value of $0.8 million . This amount regeats the lesser of its carrying amount beforéthikeling was classified as held for sale,
adjusted for any depreciation that would have lyeeagnized had the building been continuously diasisas held and used, or the fair valu
the date of the subsequent decision not to sedl.bihilding is being depreciated over its estimatadaining useful life of ten years.

As discussed in Note 7 - Impairment of Long-livessats in fiscal 2012 and 2011 , we recorded agtgddgapairment charges of $0.4
million and $0.5 million in our long lived assetsspectively. In fiscal 2010, we recorded aggredjatgpairment charges of $56.4 million ,
including $55.3 million and $1.1 million to writeodn the carrying values of certain property andigment and intangible assets, respectively

Depreciation and amortization of property, pland aquipment, excluding the impairments chargesudsed above, for the fiscal years
2012, 2011 and 2010 was $10.3 million , $10.8 prilland $26.4 million , respectively.
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Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following tinousands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 29, December 31,

2012 2011
Accrued compensation and benefits $ 7,91¢ $ 6,98¢
Accrued indirect and other taxes 4,382 2,91¢
Accrued commissions 51t 43¢
Accrued warranty 734 33C
Deferred rent 13¢ 13¢
Accrued restructuring 61€ 20C
Other accrued expenses 2,96¢ 2,96:

$ 17,27C $ 13,96¢

In November 2009 , we sold all rights, title antenest in a customer's bankruptcy claim to a tphary in exchange for net proceeds of
less than full value of the asserted claim. The@eds were accounted for as a secured borrowinghaldled as an accrued liability. On
October 8, 2010 , we voluntarily dismissed our ctaimp against this customer. As a result, we raddke amounts previously recorded as a
secured borrowing and recorded a gain of $3.5anilln "Other income, net" in the Consolidated Stert of Operations in fiscal 2010 .

In fiscal 2010 , we ceased the utilization of oaeilfty in Livermore and our facility in Singapotieat was expected to be utilized for our
manufacturing operations. In connection with théseisions, we accrued liabilities totaling $0.7lioil composed of the remaining lease
obligations that will continue to be incurred undeerating lease contracts of the Livermore and&iore facilities of $0.3 million and $0.4
million , respectively. The charge relating to &ingapore facility of $0.4 milliomvas recorded as additional restructuring chargesmmectio
with our Q3 2010 Restructuring Plan, as discussddote 5—Restructuring Charges. Subsequentlysoafi2011 we executed an amendment
to the existing lease arrangement for our facititpingapore which released us from our obligati@tated to the space previously utilized for
manufacturing in this facility. As a result, our i@3olidated Statement of Operations for fiscal 2@tludes a benefit of $0.4 milliorecorded t
"Restructuring charges, net", reflecting the reiurcin the remaining liability as of the date oéthewly executed arrangement.

Note 5—Restructuring Charges

We have undertaken several restructuring actiongglfiscal 2012 , 2011 , and 2010, the purposetdth were to improve operating
efficiency, streamline and simplify our operati@ml reduce our operating costs. These actiondsressed below:

2010 Restructuring Activities

We recorded $3.4 million in restructuring chargasr the first quarter of fiscal 2010 as part af theneurrent regionalization strate
(the “Q1 2010 Restructuring Plan”). These chargesisted of termination benefits related to redungtiin work force of 106 full-time
positions, which were all related to severancerafated benefits. The activities related to thisosmcwere completed during fiscal 2011.
Subsequently, in the second quarter of fiscal 208 @ndertook a plan to rescind the previously idsseverance arrangements for certain
employees impacted by this plan, resulting in theersal of $3.3 million of the accrual for sevemnosts booked in conjunction with the Q1
2010 Restructuring Plan, including the accruedntéia bonus to date. We completed this rescissian im fiscal 2010.

In the second quarter of fiscal 2010, we annourcsekries of corporate initiatives, including a r@én in workforce, which represented
a renewed focus on streamlining and simplifying @perations as well as reducing our quarterly dpegaosts (the “Q2 2010 Restructuring
Plan”). These actions included a reduction in worg® impacting 67 employees spread across allibmebf the organization, as well as a
reduction in the scope of the previously contengaahanufacturing operations in Korea, resulting neduction of workforce of 16 employees
related to the assembly and test function. We dembf4.8 million in charges for the Q2 2010 Regtnicg Plan during fiscal 2010, primarily
for severance and related benefits. Additionattycanjunction with the Q2 2010 Restructuring Planidentified certain equipment and
software assets
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related to our assembly and test operations ind&trat would no longer be utilized. As a result,re@eorded impairment charges of $1.0
million in the fiscal 2010, representing the nebbealue of these assets.

In the third quarter of fiscal 2010, we announcedsiructuring plan (the “Q3 2010 RestructuringnPjdo cease the transition of
manufacturing operations to Singapore. This degiggsulted in a reduction in force of 58 employatesur Singapore facility. The
manufacturing activities that were scheduled térlesitioned to Singapore remained in Livermorel bivermore continued as the primary
manufacturing operating location for the Companycdnjunction with the Q3 2010 Restructuring Plaa,also undertook a reduction in force
that involved two additional individuals in our lekmore operations.

We recorded charges of $1.0 million for severamzkralated benefits and impairment charges of 8i#li&n for certain equipment and
leasehold improvements, including assets relateddet retirement obligations, in Singapore thatldvoo longer be utilized as a result of the
Q3 2010 Restructuring Plan. This impairment waspaosed primarily of $5.8 million for leasehold impesnents, $0.6 million for
manufacturing equipment and $0.6 million for softevand system assets related to the manufactupegtions that will be taken out of
service or abandoned, as well as $0.8 million fasidhe carrying amount of certain equipment deieed to be held for sale. In addition, due
to the combined effect of the significant changeun business strategy in connection with the QBR)2Restructuring Plan, recurring operating
losses and the sustained decline in the Compatagk price, we reviewed the recoverability of camdived assets in the third quarter of fis
2010, as discussed in Note 7-Impairment of LongeiAssets of the Notes to the Consolidated FinaBStedements.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, we implemehgerestructuring plan (the "Q4 2010 RestructuRten") including reducing our
global workforce by 10 employees across the orgdioiz. We recorded $0.6 millidn charges for severance and related benefits@alfi201C

The ending restructuring accrual of $1.8 millionch®ecember 25, 2010 reflects the unpaid amowltsed to these actions as of that
date. Unless otherwise noted, the activities cosimuyithe above reductions in force were completethé end of fiscal 2011.

2011 Restructuring Activities

In the first quarter of fiscal 2011 , we implemeahterestructuring plan (the “ Q1 2011 RestruaiPlan”) which resulted in the
reduction of our global workforce by 13 full-timenployees across the organization. We recorded$illibn in charges for severance and
related benefits related to this plan. The ac@sgittomprising this reduction in workforce were sabtally completed by the end of the second
quarter of fiscal 2011 . As a result of the Q1 2&Ektructuring Plan, we have realized, and expecbmtinue to realize, quarterly savings,
excluding stock-based compensation expenses, obdprately $0.6 million in subsequent quarters.

In the second quarter of fiscal 2011 , we implereérat restructuring plan (the “ Q2 2011 RestrustuPlan”) which resulted in the
reduction of our global workforce by 13 full-timenployees across the organization. We recorded#idlién in charges for severance and
related benefits related to this plan. The ac@sittomprising this reduction in workforce were sabsally completed by the end of the third
quarter of fiscal 2011 . As a result of the Q2 2&Ektructuring Plan we have realized, and expecbmdinue to realize, quarterly savings,
excluding stock-based compensation expenses, obaprately $0.4 million in subsequent quarters.

Additionally, in the second quarter of fiscal 20&& executed an amendment to the existing leasegamaent for our facility in
Singapore which released us from our obligatioteted to the space previously utilized for manufeiag in this facility. We were also
granted a rent reduction for the remaining occufaedities in this building. We had previouslycarded certain asset retirement obligations c
$1.1 million (see Note 4 - Balance Sheet Componemtd accruals related to our cessation of theotifeese facilities in connection with a
prior restructuring action of $0.4 million . Agesult, our Consolidated Statement of Operation§igoal 2011 includes a benefit of $1.5
million recorded to "Restructuring charges, net".

In the third quarter of fiscal 2011 , we implemehégerestructuring plan (the “ Q3 2011 RestruamiPlan”) which resulted in the
reduction of our global workforce by four full-timemployees primarily in our procurement and logstrganizations. We recorded $0.3
million in charges for severance and related bé&nediated to this plan. The activities comprisihig plan were completed during fiscal 2011.
As a result of the Q3 2011 Restructuring Plan, axelrealized quarterly savings, excluding stocketdasmpensation expenses, of
approximately $0.2 million in subsequent quarters.
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In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2011 , we implenmezha restructuring plan (the “ Q4 2011 RestrustuPlan”) which resulted in the
reduction of our global workforce by eight full-ttnemployees primarily in our finance and procurenaeal logistics organizations. We
recorded $0.3 million in charges for severanceratated benefits related to this plan. The acégitomprising this reduction were completed
in fiscal 2012. As a result of the Q4 2011 Restrting Plan, we have realized quarterly savingslushig stock-based compensation expense
of approximately $0.3 million in subsequent quaster

2012 Restructuring Activities

In the second fiscal quarter of 2012 , we recoid million in charges for severance and relatukfits related to restructuring
activities. This resulted in the reduction of olotgal workforce by 1 employee across the orgaremafl he activities comprising this
restructuring activity were completed in fiscal 201

In the third fiscal quarter of 2012 , we implemeahéerestructuring plan (the "Q3 2012 RestructuRtan") which resulted in the reduction
of our global workforce by 44 employees acrossattganization. In conjunction with this action, weainitiated a plan to cease our assembly
and test manufacturing operations in Japan. Wededds1.8 million in severance and related benef?s2 million in charges for contract
termination, and other costs related to restruatuaictivities during the quarter related to thampland $0.4 million in impairment charges for
certain equipment and leasehold improvements tbatdwo longer be utilized. The activities comprsthis reduction in workforce were
completed by the end of fiscal 2012 . As a resuhe Q3 2012 Restructuring Plan, we have realqegtterly savings, excluding stock-based
compensation, of approximately $2.6 million in sedpsent quarters.

In the fourth fiscal quarter of 2012ve implemented a restructuring plan (the "Q4 2B&2tructuring Plan") which resulted in the redunt
of our global workforce by 4 employees across ttgaoization. We recorded $0.4 million in severaacd related benefits related to
restructuring activities. The activities comprisihis reduction in workforce are expected to bestattially completed by the end of the first
quarter of fiscal 2013. As a result of the Q4 2&Eatructuring Plan, we have realized quarterlyrggsjiexcluding stock-based compensation,
of approximately $0.1 million in subsequent quaster

The following table summarizes the activities rethto the restructuring actions of fiscal 2010@42 (in thousands):

Employee Contract
Severance and  Property and Equipment Termination
Benefits Impairment and Other Costs Total
Accrual at December 26, 2009  $ 978 % — $ 76 % 1,04¢
Restructuring charges 10,057 8,781 411 19,25t
Reversal of charges for Q1 2010
Restructuring Plan (3,282) — — (3,287)
Adjustments to restructuring
charges — — (7€) (76)
Cash payments (6,189 — — (6,189
Non-cash settlements (182) (8,787) 4C (8,929)
Accrual at December 25, 2010 1,38 — 451 1,83:
Restructuring charges 2,30( — — 2,30(
Adjustments to restructuring
charges — — (374 (379
Cash payments (3,039 — (77) (3,116
Non-cash settlements (44%) — — (443%)
Accrual at December 31, 2011 20C — — 20C
Restructuring charges 2,261 462 194 2,917
Adjustments to restructuring
charges — — 31 31
Cash payments (1,919 — (1579) (2,070
Non-cash settlements (462) (462)
Accrual at December 29, 2012  $ 54¢ $ — 3 68 $ 61€
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The liabilities we have accrued represent our estitnate of the obligations we expect to incur emald be subject to adjustment as
market conditions change. The remaining cash patgrassociated with our various reductions in waitdoare expected to be completed by
the end of the first quarter of fiscal 2013.

Note 6—Derivative Financial Instruments

We operate and sell our products in various glotaikets. As a result, we are exposed to chandesaign currency exchange rates.
We utilize foreign currency forward contracts talpe against future movements in foreign exchanggs that affect certain existing foreign
currency denominated assets and liabilities. Uttderprogram, our strategy is to have increaseteoreases in our foreign currency exposure
offset by gains or losses on the foreign curremewérd contracts to mitigate the risks and volgtidissociated with foreign currency transac
gains or losses. We do not use derivative finanestuments for speculative or trading purposas. dgrivative instruments, which are
generally settled in the same quarter, are nogdased as hedging instruments. We record the &hirevof these contracts as of the end of our
reporting period to our Consolidated Balance Sttt changes in fair value recorded within "Othezame, net" in our Consolidated
Statement of Operations for both realized and dizethgains and losses.

As of December 29, 2012 , there were three outsigrfdreign exchange forward contracts to buy Japar¥en, Korean Won and
Taiwan Dollars. The following tables provide infaation about our foreign currency forward contramisstanding as of December 29, 2012
and December 31, 2011 (in thousands):

December 29, Contract Amount Contract Amount
2012 Contract Position (Local Currency) (U.S. Dollar)
(In thousands)
Japanese Yen Buy (63,74) $ (741
Taiwan Dollar Buy (30,46) (1,067
Korean Won Buy (721,420 (677)
Total USD notional amount of outstanding foreign
exchange contracts $ (2,479
December 31, Contract Amount Contract Amount
2011 Contract Position (Local Currency) (U.S. Dollar)
(In thousands)
Japanese Yen Sell 440,35: $ 5,661
Taiwan Dollar Buy (69,959 (2,319
Korean Won Buy (703,50¢) (609)
Total USD notional amount of outstanding foreign )
exchange contracts $ 2,731

The contracts outstanding at December 29, 2012 amsred into on December 29, 2012 and maturecuamady 25, 2013 for the
Taiwan Dollar, Korean Won and for the Japanese Qem.foreign currency contracts are classified imittevel 2 of the fair value hierarchy as
they are valued using pricing models that utilibservable market inputs. There was zero chandeindlue of these contracts as of
December 29, 2012 . Additionally, zero gains oséssrelating to the outstanding derivative congrastof December 29, 2012 and
December 31, 2011 were recorded during the resgefisical periods.

The location and amount of losses related to naigdated derivative instruments that matured icafi2012 and 2011 in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations are as fel{@wthousands):

Fiscal Years Ended

Location of Loss Recognized December 29, December 31,
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments on Derivatives 2012 2011

Foreign exchange forward contracts Other income, net $ (290 $ (579
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Note 7—Impairment of Long-lived Assets

The following table summarizes the components efittpairments that we recorded in fiscal 2012 ,128dd 2010 (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 29, December 31, December 25,

2012 2011 2010
Impairment of long-lived assets:
Assets held for sale $ 16€ $ — $ 34z
Assets to be disposed of other than by sale 253 54¢ 2,95¢
Intangible assets — — 1,08:
Enterprise-wide impairment — — 52,02:
Total $ 421 $ 54¢ $ 56,40:

Assets held for sale

In fiscal 2012, we recorded a $0.2 million charglated to certain assets which were previously fegldale that were determined to be
no longer saleable and used for internal purposes.

In fiscal 2011 , we did not record impairment clesrgelated to our assets held for sale.

In fiscal 2010 , we recorded aggregated impairnohatges of $0.3 million in conjunction with the terdown of a building held for sale
to its estimated fair value and certain furnitunel éixtures at our Livermore facility that were éghined to be held for sale.

These impairments were included within "Impairmefitong-lived assets" in the Consolidated Statenoé@perations for their
respective periods.

Assets to be disposed of other than by sale
In fiscal 2012 , we recorded $0.2 million relatedhe termination of on-going construction-in-pregg projects.

During fiscal 2011, we recorded impairment chatgésling $0.5 million related to certain assetbéodisposed of other than by sale, all
of which related to the termination of certain arirgy projects that had been recorded in constmdtieprogress, including aspects of certain
software development for internal use.

During fiscal 2010, we recorded impairment chatgésling $3.0 million related to certain assetbéadisposed of other than by sale.
These charges were composed of $2.7 million refatéide termination of on-going construction-in gmess projects, including those related to
certain projects for the development and build ahofacturing equipment, as well as additional empipt that was in-service and identified as
excess capacity. Additionally, these charges irediu0.3 million related to certain leasehold imgmments that were abandoned as a result of
the consolidation of office space in Livermore.

All of these charges are included in "Impairmenloofg-lived assets" in the Consolidated Statemeh@perations for their respective
periods.

Intangible assets
We did not record impairment charges related toimiangible assets during fiscal 2012 and 2011 .

During fiscal 2010 , our renewed focus on simpiifyiand refocusing our operations on our core coemp@éts resulted in our decision to
reduce efforts to license and market software uUyiiercertain intangible assets that were acquimezbnjunction with our acquisition of
certain assets from Electroglas, Inc. in 2010 thhoa bankruptcy proceeding. As a result, we pergariam impairment analysis of these
purchased intangible assets during the third quaftéscal 2010 and recorded an impairment chaifgil.1 million for the carrying amount of
the impaired assets. The impairment charge wasded in "Impairment of long-lived assets" in then€alidated Statements of Operations in
fiscal 2010.



Enterprise-wide impairment

At the end of the third quarter of fiscal 2010 agidition to the specific impairments discussedvabwe determined that an enterprise-
wide impairment analysis of our long-lived assetswequired due to the combined effect of a sustidiecline in the Company's stock price, @
significant change in our business strategy in ection with the Q3 2010 Restructuring Plan,
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and recurring operating losses and net cash outffosm operations. Accordingly, management revietiedrecoverability of its long-lived
assets in the third quarter of fiscal 2010 .

We determined our long-lived asset group to beconsolidated long-lived assets as we had deterntivegdve operate as one reporting
unit and segment. This asset group included prpperd equipment, as well as purchased intangilsletasThe recoverability of assets to be
held and used was measured by comparing the cgrayimount of these assets, after adjustment forahieus specific impairments discussed
above, to the estimated undiscounted future casVsfexpected to be generated by the assets. ¢htinging amount of the asset exceeds its
estimated undiscounted future net cash flows, graimment charge is recognized by the amount by lwthie carrying amount of the asset
exceeds the fair value of the asset.

As a result, we concluded that our business waalletto fully recover the carrying amount of ossets. Accordingly, we reviewed the
carrying amounts at September 25, 2010 of all ofl@ug-lived assets for impairment. The review ilved estimating the fair value in an
exchange transaction of our asset group, compatioly fair value to the carrying amount of the agsetip, after adjustment for the various
specific impairments discussed above, and recoidip@irment charges to reduce the pre-impairmemyicey amount of the asset group to its
estimated fair value.

Determining the fair value of an asset group wjtdgmental in nature and requires the use offgignt estimates and assumptions,
including current replacement costs, revenue graatiés and operating margins, and discount ratesng others. Accordingly, we were
required to make various estimates in determirtiegfair values of our asset group at Septembe2@B) . Where appropriate, we utilized a
market approach to estimate the fair value of aaperty and equipment. This approach includeddeaetification of market prices in actual
transactions for similar assets based on askinggfor assets currently available for sale, asasebbtaining and reviewing certain direct
market values based quoted prices with manufactamed secondary market participants for similaigrgent. However, due to the highly
customized nature of our manufacturing equipmenprimaarily utilized the cost approach to estimdie fair value of our property and
equipment. To determine the estimated fair valueunfproperty and equipment at September 25, 2@tijustment factors, including cost tre
factors, were applied to each individual assetfirmal cost in order to estimate current replaceneest. The current replacement cost was the
adjusted for estimated deductions to recognizetfeets of deterioration and obsolescence fromallses, as well as indirect costs such as
installation.

The estimated fair value of the purchased intaegissets was determined based on a combinatimmohtome-based approaches, as
this combination was deemed to be the most indieatf the Company's fair value in an orderly tratism between market participants. Under
these two income approaches we determined faievadised on both the estimated future cash flowstireg from the licensing of the
technology underlying the intangible asset, as a®lhe estimated future cash savings achievetbdhe avoidance of costs resulting from the
internal use of the underlying technology. Themsated cash flows in each approach were discounteah lestimated weighted-average cost o
capital which reflects the overall level of inhetreisk of the enterprise and the rate of returmatside investor would expect to earn.

For each asset, we then compared the estimatedhfai to the individual asset's carrying amourtddtermine the amount of the
impairment charge. Based on this analysis, we dezban impairment charge of $52.0 million in thedtlyuarter of fiscal 2010 . This charge,
which was included in "Impairment of long-lived a8’ in the Consolidated Statements of Operatiwas,comprised of $27.7 million for
leasehold improvements, $11.2 million for manufaow equipment, $8.5 million for computer equipmant software, $4.4 million for
construction-in-progress and $0.2 million for puaséd intangible assets.

Note 8—Fair Value

We use fair value measurements to record fair vatljgstments to certain financial and non-finanagsets and to determine fair value
disclosures. The carrying amounts of certain offmancial instruments, including cash and cashwedents, accounts receivable, accounts
payable, accrued compensation and other accrugtitiés, approximate fair value because of thaiors maturities. Our marketable securities
are financial assets recorded at fair value orcarrmg basis.

The accounting standards define fair value, edlalaiframework for measuring fair value in gengraticepted accounting principles,
and require disclosures about fair value measurtmEair value is defined as the price that wodddreived from selling an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction beem market participants at the measurement daten\Wétermining the fair value measurem
for assets and liabilities required to be recoratefir value, we consider the principal or mostadageous market in which we would transac
and consider assumptions that market participantddwse when pricing the asset or liability, sastinherent risk, transfer restrictions, and
risk of nonperformance. The accounting standarddovalue establishes a fair value hierarchy tegtires an entity to maximize the use of
observable inputs and minimize the use of unobsdrviaputs when measuring fair value. A financratrument's categorization within the f
value hierarchy is based upon the lowest levehpfif that is significant to the fair value
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measurement. The standard describes a fair vadwarbhy based on three levels of inputs, thetiivetof which are considered observable and
the last unobservable, that may be used to meésunalue:

» Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for identical aseetiabilities

» Level 2—lInputs, other than the quoted priceadtive markets, such as quoted prices for simgaets or liabilities, quoted prices near
the reporting date in markets that are less aabivether inputs that are observable or can beoborated by observable market data
for substantially the full term of the assets ablities.

» Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supportetitthe or no market activity and that are sigoént to the fair value of the assets or
liabilities.

We utilize the market approach to measure thevilire of our fixed income securities. The markgtrapch is a valuation technique
that uses prices and other relevant informatioreggad by market transactions involving identicat@mparable assets or liabilities. The fair
value of our fixed income securities is obtainemhgiseadily-available market prices from a variefyndustry standard data providers, large
financial institutions, and other third-party soesdor the identical underlying securities.

We obtain the fair value of our Level 1 investmantsertain money market funds, which are expetiadaintain a Net Asset Value
of $1 per share, at the expected market price.

We obtain the fair value of our Level 2 financiasiruments from several third party asset managasspdian banks, and the
accounting service providers. Independently, tiseseice providers use professional pricing servioggather pricing data, which may include
guoted market prices for identical or comparabstriments or inputs other than quoted prices tteabbservable either directly or indirectly.

Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

We measure and report certain assets and liabilitiéair value on a recurring basis, including mpmarket funds, U.S. government
securities, agency securities, commercial papetdaeign currency derivatives. The following tablepresent the fair value hierarchy for our
financial assets (cash equivalents and marketallarities):

Fair value measured on a recurring basis as ofleee29, 2012 (in thousands):

Level 1 Level 2 Total
(In thousands)

Cash equivalents

Money market funds $ 54,73. $ — $ 54,73
Marketable securities

U. S. treasury — 43,58 43,58

Agency securities — 49,95¢ 49,95¢

$ 54,73 $ 93,54 $ 148,27

Fair value measured on a recurring basis as ofmleee31, 2011 (in thousands):

Level 1 Level 2 Total
(In thousands)

Cash equivalents

Money market funds $ 106,14 $ — $ 106,14

Commercial paper — 8,99¢ 8,99¢
Marketable securities

U. S. treasury — 76,66 76,66:

Agency securities — 78,98: 78,98

Commercial paper — 1,99¢ 1,99¢

$ 106,14 $ 166,64. $ 272,78

The Level 1 assets consist of our money market fepbsits. The Level 2 assets consist of our asailfor-sale investment portfolio,
which are valued utilizing a market approach. @westments are priced by pricing vendors who pevidbservable inputs for their pricing
without applying significant judgments. Broker'sgprg is used mainly when a
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guoted price is not available, the investment ispnwed by our pricing vendors or when a brokeéceis more reflective of fair values in the
market in which the investment trades. Our brok@éregl investments are labeled as Level 2 investsieatause fair values of these
investments are based on similar assets withouyiagpsignificant judgments. In addition, all of bimvestments have a sufficient level of
trading volume to demonstrate that the fair valusesd are appropriate for these investments.

We did not have any transfers of assets measuffad &ilue on a recurring basis to or from Levelrd Level 2 during fiscal 2012 and
2011.

Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurringias

The following table represents the fair value hieng for our long-lived assets measured at faiu@an a nonrecurring basis at their
respective measurement dates (in thousands) anibere?9, 2012 :

Total Losses

Level 3 Fiscal 2012
Long-lived assets held for sale at December 311201 $ 38 $ =
Equipment impairment (16¢) (16¢)
Equipment returned to held and used (15%) —
Equipment sold (66) —
Long-lived assets held for sale at December 292201  $ — % (169)

During fiscal 2012, equipment with a carrying vabfe$0.2 million was determined to be unusable wad written-off, $0.2 million of
equipment was returned to held and used, andHass#0.1 million of equipment was sold.

At the end of fiscal 2010 , we reflected a buildind.ivermore, California as held for sale, whichswclassified as a Level 2 asset
because the estimated fair value of the building getermined using inputs developed from market datirces independent of us, that
reflected the assumptions market participants waseklin pricing the building. During fiscal 201his building was returned into service at its
carrying value of $0.8 million , resulting in a lassification of the balance from 'Prepaid expemsebkother current assets' to 'Property, plant
and equipment, net' in the Consolidated BalancetSHeee Note 4 - Balance Sheets Components fag mfmrmation.

Other than the building previously held for salattvas returned to service during 2011, we didhaee any assets measured at fair
value on a nonrecurring basis that were transfaéoed from Level 2 or 3 during fiscal 2012 or 2011

Our fair value processes include controls thatasgned to ensure appropriate fair values areadedo Such controls include model
validation, review of key model inputs, and anaysi period-over-period fluctuations and independeoalculation of prices.

Note 9—Intangible Assets and Goodwill

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill,alhis not deductible for tax purposes for fiscal2@nd 2011 were as follows (in
thousands):

Goodwill Amount

Balance as of December 31, 2011 $ —
Acquisition of MicroProbe 30,99
Balance as of December 29, 2012 $ 30,99/
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The changes in intangible assets for fiscal 2012tha net book value of intangible assets at Deeer2®, 2012 and December 31,
2011 were as follows (in thousands):

Weight
Average
Intangible Assets, Gross Amount Accumulated Amortization Intangible Assets, Net Useful Life
Other Intangible ~ December 31, December 29, December 31, December 29, December 31, December 29, December 29,
Assets 2011 Additions 2012 2011 Expense 2012 2011 2012 2012
Existing
developed
technologies $ 594¢ $ 31,10 $ 37,04¢ $ 2,70¢ $ 3,34¢ % 6,058 $ 3,242 $ 30,99 2.2
Trade name — 4,50( 4,50( — 94 94 — 4,40¢ 10.0
Customer
relationships — 17,00( 17,00( — 44t 44F — 16,55¢ 8.0
Non-compete
agreement — 10C 10C — 21 21 — 79 1.0
Backlog — 3,50( 3,50( — 2,59¢ 2,59 — 90¢€ 0.3
Favorable lease
asset — 30C 30C — 63 63 — 237 1.0
Total finite-lived
intangible assets 5,94¢ 56,50( 62,44¢ 2,70¢ 6,56¢ 9,272 3,24: 53,17¢
In-process
research and
development — 21,10( 21,10( — — — — 21,10(
joraintangible ¢ 594§ 77,60( $ 83546 $ 2,706 $ 6,56€ $ 927: $ 3240 $ 74,27¢
Weight
Average
Intangible Assets, Gross Amount Accumulated Amortization Intangible Assets, Net Useful Life
December December December December December December 31, December 31,
Other Intangible Assets 25, 2010 Additions 31,2011 25,2010 Expense 31, 2011 25,2010 2011 2011
Existing developed technologie$  5,94¢  $ — $ 594¢ $ 1527 $ 1,17¢ $ 2,706 $ 4,421 $ 3,24% 2.7
Total intangible assets $ 594 $ — $ 594 $ 1527 $ 117¢ $ 2,706 $ 4421 $ 3,24

The in-process research and development (“IPR&BXgrigible assets are classified as indefinite lagskts that are not currently
subject to amortization but are reviewed for impeant whenever events or changes in circumstandésabe that the carrying value of an asse
may not be recoverable. The IPR&D assets willulgect to amortization upon completion of theimestive research projects and
commercialization begins. The fair value assigieellPR&D assets was determined using the incomeoaph based on estimates and
judgments regarding risks inherent in the develagmeocess, including the likelihood of achievieghnological success and mar
acceptance. If an IPR&D project is abandoned, tiygliaed technology attributable to the project w#l written-off.

We recorded $6.6 million , $1.2 million , and $iillion , in amortization expense related to ouamgible assets in fiscal 2012 , 2011,
and 2010, respectively. Of the total amortizatigpense for fiscal 2012, 2011, and 2010, $6.0 milli®1.2 million , and $1.3 million were
charged to cost of revenues, respectively, and $@lion , zero , and $0.4 million were chargedstdling, general and administrative expense,
respectively. Based on the carrying value of thidilived intangible assets recorded as of Decer2®e2012 , and assuming no subsequent
additions to or impairment of the underlying asstits remaining estimated annual amortization egpémnexpected to be as follows (in
thousands):

Fiscal Year Amount

2013 $ 15,38¢
2014 14,18
2015 7,332
2016 5,87¢
2017 2,562
thereafter 7,832

Total $ 53,17¢
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Note 10—Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

We lease facilities under non-cancellable operdgages with various expiration dates through 202&. facilities generally require us
to pay property taxes, insurance and maintenansts.déurther, several lease agreements contairseatation clauses or rent holidays. For
purposes of recognizing minimum rental expenses stnaight-line basis over the terms of the leasegjse the date of initial possession to
begin amortization. We have the option to extenceaew most of our leases which may increase theegfuminimum lease commitments.

Rent expense for the fiscal years 2012, 2011, 846 2vas $4.7 million , $4.8 million and $5.4 nulli, respectively.

We lease certain equipment under capital leases.cbbt and accumulated depreciation for assetsr wagetal leases, which we
included in property, plant and equipment in theomgpanying Consolidated Balance Sheets are asv®llim thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 29, December 31,

2012 2011
Cost $ 2,367 % =
Accumulated depreciation 25E —
Net book value $ 2,112 % —

The depreciation expense of these leased assettOvzamillion in fiscal 2012 and zero for both #2011 and 2010, respectively.

Future minimum payments under capital leases amdcancelable operating leases are as follows as oemlker 29, 2012 (
thousands):

Capital Operating
Leases Leases
Fiscal years:
2013 $ 59: § 3,65¢
2014-15 321 5,70(
2016-17 29 5,01¢
Thereafter — 10,03
Total minimum lease payments 94z $ 24,40¢
Less: amount representing interest and executatg co (30)
Present value of capital lease amounts 913
Less: current portion (579
Non-current portion $ 34C

The current and non-current portions of the cafgtaée obligations are included in the accompan@iogsolidated Balance Sheets.
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Other Contractual Obligations

The following table sets forth our commitments éttle other contractual obligations in cash as e¢&nber 29, 2012 :

Payments Due In Fiscal Years

2013 2014-2015 2016-2017  After 2017 Total
(In thousands)
Purchase obligations $ 12,40: $ 495 $ 50 $ — $ 17,40

Other purchase obligations are primarily for pusgsaof inventory and manufacturing related sere@dracts. For the purposes of this
table, other purchase obligations are defined eseagents that are enforceable and legally bindmgthat specify all significant terms,
including: fixed or minimum quantities to be purskd; fixed, minimum or variable price provisionsgdahe approximate timing of the
transaction. The expected timing of payment ofdbkgations discussed above is estimated basedfomiation available to us as of
December 29, 2012 . Timing of payments and actualets paid may be different depending on the tifreceipt of goods or services or
changes to agreed-upon amounts for some obligations

The table above excludes our gross liability foreaoegnized tax benefits, which totaled $17.2 millas of December 29, 2012 and are
classified in deferred taxes and other long-terxritdilities on our consolidated balance sheee fiming of any payments which could result
from these unrecognized tax benefits will depenainug number of factors. Accordingly, the timingpafyment cannot be estimated and has
been excluded from the table above. As of Decer2®eP012 , the changes to our uncertain tax positio the next 12 months, that are
reasonably possible, are not expected to havendisant impact on our financial position or resuttf operations.

Indemnification Arrangements

We may, from time to time in the ordinary courseuof business enter into contractual arrangemetitstiaird parties that include
indemnification obligations. Under these contracareangements, we have agreed to defend, inderaniyor hold the third party harmless
from and against certain liabilities. These arrangets include indemnities in favor of customerthimevent that our wafer probe cards infri
a third party's intellectual property and inderestin favor of our lessors in connection with figileasehold liabilities that we may cause. In
addition, we have entered into indemnification agnents with our directors and certain of our oficand our bylaws contain indemnification
obligations in favor of our directors, officers aagents. These indemnity arrangements may limitythe of the claim, the total amount that we
can be required to be paid in connection with titemnification obligation and the time within whiah indemnification claim can be made.
The duration of the indemnification obligation maary, and for most arrangements, survives the aggaeterm and is indefinite. We believe
that substantially all of our indemnity arrangensegmtovide either for limitations on the maximumeial future payments we could be
obligated to make, or for limitations on the typé€laims and damages we could be obligated tonmdlfy, or both. However, it is not possible
to determine or reasonably estimate the maximurangied amount of future payments under these indféation obligations due to the
varying terms of such obligations, a lack of higtof prior indemnification claims, the unique faetsd circumstances involved in each
particular contractual arrangement and in eachnpiadduture claim for indemnification, and the timgency of any potential liabilities upon
the occurrence of events that are not reasonaldyrdmable. We have not had any requests for indferation under these arrangements. Our
management believes that any liability for theskemnity arrangements would not be material to caompanying consolidated financial
statements. We have not recorded any liabilitiesHese indemnification arrangements on our codat#d balance sheet as of December 29,
2012.

Legal Matters

From time to time, we may be subject to legal pedirgs and claims in the ordinary course of busin&s of the filing of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, we were not involved in anytenal legal proceedings, other than the proceedswgnmarized below. In the future we
may become a party to additional legal proceedingsmay require us to spend significant resoulioetjding proceedings designed to protec
our intellectual property rights and to collecttpdise accounts receivable from our customers.

Customs and Trade Matters

From time to time, we receive communications frartain jurisdictions regarding customs and inditegtmatters such as customs
duties and value added taxes. In fiscal 2011, weived inquiries from a foreign jurisdiction taxtbaority regarding certain indirect tax matters.
We cooperated with these inquiries, which relatedur prior shipping process for new product qigdiions and for products for certain of «
repair center activities. During fiscal 2011, weraed $1.0 million for potential exposures relaethese tax and customs matters. During the
third quarter of 2012 , we received what we beliakefinal communications on these tax and custoatsers indicating we owed $0.3 million



of unpaid indirect taxes and
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penalties. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012, adjusted our accrual to reflect this final cosiu.

Patent Litigation

In July 2010, we filed a lawsuit in the United &&District Court for the Northern District of (falinia, case no. 4:10-cv-03095-PJH (the
"Action"), against MicroProbe Inc. and a MicroPratféicer who was a former FormFactor employee hia Action, we asserted patent
infringement and unfair competition claims agaisatroProbe, and trade secret misappropriation arddh of confidence claims against
MicroProbe and the former FormFactor employee. ©tokkr 16, 2012, and in connection with an Agredraad Plan of Merger dated Aug
31, 2012, under which we acquired 100% of the antlihg shares of Astria Semiconductor Holdings, &mdl its subsidiaries, see Note 3
Acquisitions for further information, FormFactors#ia Semiconductor Holdings, MicroProbe, and anfar FormFactor employee entered into
a Confidential Settlement Agreement and thesegsaationg with certain other entities entered in@pafidential Release Agreement, both to
resolve the Action in favor of FormFactor for $8n8lion .

One or more third parties have initiated challengebe U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, or USPad@ajnst certain of our patents,
including requests for reexamination directed t@fthe patents-in-suit in the Action. The USPTrged the re-examination requests directe
to U.S. Patent Nos. 6,246,247, 6,825,422, 6,441 &1% 7,225,538, and granted in part the requéststeld to U.S. Patent Nos. 6,965,244,
7,227,371 and 7,671,614. Requests for reexaminafittle Company's U.S. Patent Nos. 6,615,485 a621&48 and 5,994,152 were also
granted by the USPTO. With respect to US Patentih884,152, the re-examination proceeding has aded and a re-examination certificate
was issued. With respect to US Patent No. 6,624 B48&eexamination proceeding has concluded areeaamination certificate was issued
February 28, 2012. The Company did not appealdirerae USPTO decision regarding US Patent No. 64855 The foreign actions include
proceedings in Taiwan against several of our Taipaents.

No provision has been made for patent-relatediliign because we believe that it is not probaldé @Hiability had been incurred as of
December 29, 2012 . We will incur material attosidges in prosecuting and defending the varioestitied actions.

Note 11—Stockholders' Equity
Preferred Stock

We have authorized 10,000,000 shares of undesidjpatéerred stock, $0.001 par value, none of wiidhsued and outstanding. Our
Board of Directors shall determine the rights, prefices, privileges and restrictions of the prefestock, including dividends rights,
conversion rights, voting rights, terms of redemptiliquidation preferences, sinking fund terms tr&number of shares constituting any
series or the designation of any series.

Common Stock

Each share of common stock has the right to one Vidte holders of common stock are also entitlegd¢eive dividends whenever fur
are legally available and when declared by the 8o&Directors, subject to the prior rights of haisl of all classes of stock outstanding having
priority rights as to dividends. No dividends hdezn declared or paid as of December 29, 2012 .

Common Stock Repurchase Program

On October 20, 2010, our Board of Directors autteatia program to repurchase up to $50.0 millibautstanding common stock. Un
the authorized stock repurchase program, we welmared to repurchase shares from time to timéheropen market; the pace of repurchas
activity depended on levels of cash generatiormeaiistock price, and other factors. The stock m&pse program was announced on
October 26, 2010 and had a scheduled expirati@ctdber 19, 2011 . The program could have beenfraddir discontinued at any time.

On October 12, 2011, our Board of Directors auttestithe extension of this repurchase program thir@gober 19, 2012. Under the
program, we were authorized to repurchase up ateadf $40.5 millionof outstanding common stock during the programqeermhe terms ar
conditions of the extended repurchase program regdahe same as those in the original program &pgrim fiscal 2010. All of our
repurchases were made under the authorized remargnagram.

During fiscal year 2010, we repurchased and reff000 shares of common stock at a cost of $0l&mi During fiscal 2011 , we
repurchased and retired 2,332,740 shares of constock for $16.4 million . We did not repurchase ahgres
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of common stock under the program during fiscal201

Repurchased shares are retired upon the settlexhtirg related trade transactions. Our policy ezldb repurchases of our common
stock is to charge the excess of cost over paevaladditional paid-in capital. All repurchasegevmade in compliance with Rule 10b-18
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as aetnd

The repurchase program ended effective Octobe2d® and was not extended.

Equity Incentive Plans

During the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2012 a& tour equity incentive plans for which we haveerged shares for issuance upon the
exercise of stock options: the 1996 Stock OptianPihe Incentive Option Plan and the Managemerritive Option Plan (together, the
“Prior Plans”), and the 2002 Equity Incentive P{dre “2002 Plan”), which became effective in A@@d02.

At our Annual Meeting of Stockholders on April 812 (the "2012 Annual Meeting"), our stockholdapproved an amended and
restated Equity Incentive Plan (the "2012 Plaré$erving 7.4 million shares for future grants, k&sg shares granted between February 28,
2012 and April 18, 2012. In addition, shares undeg any outstanding stock award or stock optiangpreviously awarded under the Prior
Plans and the 2002 Plan canceled or forfeited poigesting or exercise become available for uskeuthe 2012 Plan. The 2002 Plan was
terminated on April 18, 2012 , except for outstagdawards. Upon the effectiveness of the 2012 Margeased granting any equity awards
under the 2002 Plan. Subsequent awards have bdemilabe granted under the 2012 Plan.

The 2012 Plan provides for the grant of incentteels options and nonqualified stock options, stapgreciation rights, restricted stock
and restricted stock units. The incentive stockomtmay be granted to our employees and the ndifigdatock options, and all awards other
than incentive stock options may be granted to eygas, directors and consultants. The exercise pfilncentive stock options must be at
least equal to the fair market value of commonlstotthe date of grant. All options granted undher2012 Plan will generally vest over four
years and have a term of ten years, unless othedeirmined by the Compensation Committee of therdBof Directors. Stock appreciati
rights, restricted stock and restricted stock umigsmted under the 2012 Plan will generally vestrdour years in annual tranches. Additionally,
restricted shares reduce the shares availablsdoance at 1.55 shares for every one share issued.

At December 29, 2012, there were 6.5 million sharaslable for grant under the 2012 Plan.
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Stock Options

Stock option activity under our equity plans isfeeth below:

Outstanding Options

Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining Aggregate
Number of Average Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Exercise Price Life in Years Value
Outstanding at December 26, 2009 5,859,821 $ 26.17
Options granted (1) 3,425,30! 10.1¢
Options exercised (115,59 5.9¢
Options canceled (2) (3,851,14) 28.6(
Outstanding at December 25, 2010 5,318,38 14.5:
Options granted 459,75( 9.72
Options exercised (141,28() 6.47
Options canceled (1,017,83) 19.9¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 4,619,02: 13.11
Options granted 70,00( 5.34
Options exercised — —
Options canceled (480,179 11.9¢
Outstanding at December 29, 2012 4,208,84 $ 13.11 3.6¢ $ —
Vested and expected to vest at December
29, 2012 4,133,74. % 13.1¢ 3.66 $ —
Exercisable at December 29, 2012 3,040,74 $ 14.5¢ 33 % =
(1) Options granted in fiscal 2010 included 67%,8Bares of re-granted stock options with an egengrice of $8.61 per share as
a result of our stock option exchange program &ffe®©ctober 1, 2010.
(2) Options canceled in fiscal 2010 included 2,782 shares with a weighted average exercise pfi29.58 per share as a

result of our stock option exchange program eféec®ctober 1, 2010.

The intrinsic value of option exercises during éis2011 and 2010 was $0.2 million and $0.5 milljisaspectively. Cash received from
stock option exercises in fiscal 2011 and 2010 $a8 million and $0.7 million respectively. We didt realize any gross tax benefits in
connection with these exercises.
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Restricted Stock Units

Restricted stock units are converted into sharesioEommon stock upon vesting on a one-for-onésbabe vesting of restricted stock
units is subject to the employee's continuing sert us. Restricted stock unit activity under equity plans is set forth below:

Weighted

Number of Average Grant

Shares Date Fair Value

Restricted stock units at December 26, 2009 1,491,67: $ 18.5]
Granted 776,31¢ 14.5%
Vested (464,05() 18.9¢
Canceled (431,039 17.9¢
Restricted stock units at December 25, 2010 1,372,91. 16.2¢
Granted 687,64! 9.94
Vested (510,33() 16.7C
Canceled (242,929 15.8:
Restricted stock units at December 31, 2011 1,307,30. 12.8¢
Granted 1,630,211 5.5C
Vested (484,54() 13.9¢
Canceled (224,02) 8.7¢
Restricted stock units at December 29, 2012 2,228,941 g 7.6¢€

On May 4, 2012 , we granted 405,000 restrictedkstimits to certain of our senior executives thdt vést upon achievement of specified
performance criteria based on the Company's 20&8atipg cash flow levels. The restricted stockanmitll be earned only if performance
targets established by the Compensation Commiteemat. Compensation cost associated with thesedavaae recognized on an accelerated
attribution model and ultimately based on whetheanai satisfaction of the performance criterianshable.

On November 6, 2012 , we granted 120,000 restristeck units to certain of our senior executiveMafroProbe that will vest upon
achievement of specified performance criteria basethe Company's 2013 and 2014 revenue and grosspevels. The restricted stock ur
will be earned only if the performance targetslgghed by the Compensation Committee are met. @osgtion cost associated with these
awards are recognized on an accelerated attribotaael and ultimately based on whether or not feati®n of the performance criteria is
probable.

During fiscal 2012 , we recorded $0.4 million ,stéck-based compensation expense related to thesdsbased on the assessed
probability of attainment of the performance ciaer

The total fair value of restricted stock units eestluring fiscal 2012 , 2011 and 2010 was $2.9anil] $4.6 million and $6.0 million ,
respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

At our 2012 Annual Meeting, our stockholders alppraved an amended and restated Employee Stockd&&®lan (the "2012 ESPP").
The 2012 ESPP does not significantly change theigioms of the 2002 Employee Stock Purchase Phan"@002 ESPP"), however, it does
remove the annual increase to shares availabisdoance and fixes the number of shares reservéssicance under the 2012 ESPP at 4.0
million shares. The offering periods under the 2012 ESPR &R month fixed offering period commencing obrkary 1 of each calendar ye
and ending on January 31 of the subsequent calgedarand a six month fixed offering period comuoieg on August 1 of each calendar yeal
and ending on January 31 of the subsequent calgedarThe 12 month offering period consists of sixomonth purchase periods and the six
month offering period consists of one six monthgpase period. The price of the common stock pussh&s85% of the lesser of the fair
market value of the common stock on the first diaghe applicable offering period or the last dayeath purchase period.

During fiscal 2012 , 2011 , and 2010, employeeshmsed 533,077 shares, 386,818 shares and 365 8is under this program at a
weighted average exercise price of $4.42 , $7.27$410.35 , respectively.
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Note 12—Stock-Based Compensation

We account for all stock-based compensation to eyegls and directors, including grants of stockanstj as stock-based compensatior
costs in the Consolidated Financial Statementsthass¢he fair value measured as of the date oftgfdrese costs are recognized as an exf
in the Consolidated Statements of Operations dwerequisite service period and increase additipai-in capital.

The table below shows the stock-based compensatioense included in the Consolidated Statemenpefa&ions (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 29, December 31, December 25,

2012 2011 2010
Stock-based compensation expense included in:
Cost of revenues(1) $ 2,58t $ 347 $ 3,73
Research and development 4,26 4,29: 5,61(
Selling, general and administrative(2) 6,19¢ 6,08: 8,27(
Restructuring charges, net — — 19C
Total stock-based compensation 13,04¢ 13,84¢ 17,80:
Tax effect on stock-based compensation — — —
Total stock-based compensation, net of tax $ 1304¢ $  1384¢ $§ 17,80«

(1) Fiscal 2011 includes $0.3 million of net stdidsed compensation expense resulting from the ioatiifn and acceleration
certain stock options and restricted stock units tormer executive in conjunction with a separaigreement and mutual
release.

(2) Fiscal 2010 includes $0.5 million of stock-bd€ompensation expense and an offsetting berfeffd.@ million related to the

reversal of previously recognized expense for utegestock options resulting from the modificatiomdacceleration of the
vesting of certain stock options and restrictedlstanits awarded to our former executive memberirjunction with their
departure from the Company (See Note 16—DepartuExecutive Officers ). Additionally, fiscal 2016dludes $0.1 million
of net stock-based compensation expense resutting the modification and acceleration of the vegtificertain stock
options and restricted stock units awarded to formembers of the Board of Directors in conjunctigth their departure
from the Company.

Stock Options

The exercise price of each stock option equalsrithrket price of our stock on the date of grant. Mmions are scheduled to vest over
three to four years and expire five to ten yeasmfthe grant date. The fair value of each opti@ngis estimated on the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model. In addition, estimate forfeitures when recognizing compensatipense, and adjust our estimates of
forfeitures over the requisite service period basethe extent to which actual forfeitures differ,are expected to differ, from such estimates.
Changes in estimated forfeitures are recognizeddmnge in estimate in the period of change aliclsd impact the amount of compensat
expense to be recognized in future periods.
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The following weighted-average assumptions were irs¢he estimated grant-date fair value calcufeifor stock options granted in
fiscal 2012 , 2011 and 2010 . The re-granted optfoom our stock exchange program are excluded frostable.

Fiscal Years Ended
December 29, December 31, December 25,

2012 2011 2010
Stock Options:
Dividend yield —% —% —%
Expected volatility 48.42% 50.3(% 50.8%
Risk-free interest rate 0.67% 1.67% 1.2%%
Expected life (in years) 4.7t 4.2¢ 4.47

Our computation of expected volatility was basedi@ombination of historical and market-based ieglolatility from traded options
on our common stock. We believe that including re&tkased implied volatility in the calculation ofpected volatility results in a more
accurate measure of the volatility expected inrifperiods. Risk-free interest rates are yieldzép-coupon U.S. Treasury notes maturing
approximately at the end of the expected optian \i¥e determine the expected term by considerimgrakfactors, including historical option
exercise behavior, post vesting turnover ratestraotual terms and vesting periods of the optiaasigd. In fiscal 2010, we grant2d million
stock options to employees with vesting periods thage from two to three years and contractuahsethat range from five to seven years.
Because we did not have sufficient historical datastock options with similar vesting or contraaitterms, the simplified method was applied
for deriving the expected term for these stocka#i The simplified method is based on the vegiaripd and the contractual term for each
grant, or for each vesting-tranche for awards grtded vesting. The mid-point between the vestatg dnd the expiration date is used for the
expected term under this method.

During fiscal 2012 , we granted 70,000 stock ogtiander our approved plans with a weighted avegagiet-date fair value of $2.17 per
share. During fiscal 2011 , we granted 459,750kstptions under our approved plans with a weiglategfage grant-date fair value of $4.06
per share. Excluding the 679,864 stock optionswigge re-granted on October 1, 2010, we grantetb445 stock options in fiscal 2010 with
the weighted average grant-date fair value of $pettshare.

As of December 29, 2012 , the unamortized stocleth@empensation balance related to stock optiossd8a8 million after estimated
forfeitures, which will be recognized over an estied period of 1.3 years based on the weightechgealays to vest.

Stock Option Exchange

On October 1, 2010, we completed an offer to exghartain outstanding employee stock options tolase shares of the Company's
common stock. Eligible for the exchange were outditeg options, vested or unvested, held by cureemloyees (excluding directors and
executive officers) with an exercise price gre#ttan or equal to $13.63 per share. Subject toetmes and conditions of the exchange offer, w
accepted for exchange and cancelled options tdhpaecan aggregate of 2,779,782 shares with a veeigiverage exercise price of $29.58 per
share, and issued new options to purchase an aigrej679,864 shares with an exercise price &138r share, the closing stock price of
common stock on October 1, 2010. The new optione weanted under our 2002 Plan and vest 33% ofirti@nniversary of the vesting
commencement date and on a monthly basis therdaftarperiod of an additional two years. The agsiions that were used in estimating
grant-date fair value for these re-granted stodloap were 0% dividend yield, 52.61% of expecteltility, 3.35 years of expected life and
0.74% of risk-free interest rate. The grant-datevialue of the re-granted stock options was $p@5share. The incremental compensation
expense resulting from the completion of the exgearffer did not have a material impact on our otidated financial position, results of
operations and cash flows.
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Employee Stock Purchase Plan

During the fiscal 2012, we issued 533,077 sharéguour approved employee stock purchase plansef Becember 29, 2012 , we had
$0.1 million of total unrecognized stock-based cengation expense, which will be recognized ovemtbighted average period of
approximately one month. Compensation expensddslated using the fair value of the employeesthase rights under the Black-Scholes
model. The following assumptions were used in eatiimy the fair value of employees' purchase righider the approved employee stock
purchase plans:

Fiscal Years Ended
December 29, December 31, December 25,

2012 2011 2010
Employee Stock Purchase Plan:
Dividend yield —% —% —%
Expected volatility 46.4% 53.41% 41.25%
Risk-free interest rate 0.11% 0.25% 0.24%
Expected life (in years) 0.€ 0.8 0.7

Restricted Stock Units

The fair value of restricted stock units is deteved using the market closing price of our commoglsbn the grant date, and
compensation cost is recognized over the vestinggen a straight line basis. The restricted stacks generally vest over four years.

During fiscal 2012 , 2011 and 2010 , we grante@@,B10 shares, 687,645 shares and 776,318 shaweestridted stock units under our
2002 and 2012 Plans with the weighted average -giatet fair values of $5.50 , $9.94 and $14.57 pares respectively. As of December 29,
2012 , the unamortized stock-based compensati@mbalrelated to restricted stock units was $7.8amiafter estimated forfeitures, which v
be recognized over an estimated period of 1.7 syleased on the weighted average days to vest.
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Note 13—Income Taxes

The components of loss before income taxes wef@lasvs (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 29, December 31, December 25,

2012 2011 2010
United States $ (6425) $ (71,17) $ (178,849
Foreign 2,28¢ 3,29( (11,357

$ (61,960 $ (67,889 $ (190,201

The components of the provision for income taxesaarfollows (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended

December 29, December 31, December 25,

2012 2011 2010
Current provision (benefit):

Federal $ (1,929 $ (157 $ (2,43¢)
State 60 1 (107)
Foreign (81) (54€) 2,72¢
(2,950 (702) 18t

Deferred provision (benefit):
Federal (25,520) (37) (85)
State — — —
Foreign 1,05(C (1,162 (2,020
(24,470 (1,199 (2,10%)
Total benefit from income taxes $ (26420 $  (1,90) $ (1,920

The following is a reconciliation of the differenbetween income taxes computed by applying ther&édeatutory rate of 35% and the
benefit from income taxes for fiscal 2012 , 2014 2010 (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended

December 29, December 31, December 25,
2012 2011 2010
U.S. statutory Federal tax rate $ (21,68) $ (23,759 $ (66,577)
State taxes and credits, net of Federal benefit (1,999 (1,890 (5,77€
Amortization of stock-based compensation, net
tax benefit 37¢€ 287 60¢€
Research and development credits (674) (2,499 (2,622
Foreign taxes at rates different than the U.S. 59¢ (299 2,76¢
Other permanent differences (1,169 12¢ 1,82¢
Change in valuation allowance (1,819 25,62 68,63
Other (60) 50€ (785)
Total $ (26,420 $ (2,900 $ (1,920
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recogniaethe future tax consequences of differences detwthe carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities and their respective tax basesagisimacted tax rates in effect for the year in whitehdifferences are expected to be reversed.
Significant deferred tax assets and liabilitiessisinof the following (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 29, December 31,

2012 2011

Tax credits $ 2522 $  25,16¢
Inventory reserve 18,87: 20,02¢
Other reserves and accruals 6,40: 4,241
Non-statutory stock options 20,41¢ 19,70¢
Depreciation and amortization 7,57(C 10,68:
Net operating loss carryforwards 117,04¢ 96,21¢
Gross deferred tax assets 195,53« 176,04¢
Valuation allowance (163,269 (168,875
Total deferred tax assets 32,26¢ 7,171
Acquired intangibles & fixed assets (27,879 —
Unrealized investment gains (42 (102
Total deferred tax liabilities (27,92 (102
Net deferred tax assets $ 434t $ 7,06¢

We are required to evaluate the realizability of deferred tax assets in both our U.S. and non{urB8dictions on an ongoing basis in
accordance with GAAP to determine whether thegeriged for a valuation allowance with respect thaleferred tax assets. During fiscal
2012 and 2011 , we maintained a valuation allowagzenst our U.S. deferred tax assets. We intendhiatain a valuation allowance until
sufficient positive evidence exists to supportrisalization of such deferred tax assets.

Included in the $26.4 million income tax benefit foe year ended December 29, 2012 is a $25.50mifix benefit from the release of
valuation allowance of our deferred tax assets 8B. In connection with our acquisition of Micra#®e during the year ended December 2¢
2012, deferred tax liabilities ("DTLs") were estahkd on the acquired identifiable intangible assehese DTLs exceeded the acquired DTAS
by $25.5 million . These DTLs exceeded the acqud&dés by $25.5 million and created additional s@srof income to realize a tax benefit
for our DTAs. As such, authoritative guidance regsithe impact on the acquiring company's defaare@dssets and liabilities caused by an
acquisition be recorded in the acquiring compafiyancial statements outside of acquisition accimgntAccordingly, the valuation allowance
on a portion of our DTAs was released and resiifteah income tax benefit of $25.5 million .

During fiscal 2011, we determined that it is makelly than not that the deferred tax assets ofraldes. jurisdiction will be realized
after considering all positive and negative eviderRositive evidence included finalization of ourrent restructuring activity for the related
foreign jurisdiction. It also included conclusidrat such location would continue to be in operat@rthe foreseeable future and future taxable
income sufficient to realize such deferred tax @sggor to the expiration of existing net opergtloss carryforwards due to a change in the
entity's structure to a cost-plus arrangement.dduaclusion that it is more likely than not that suteferred tax assets will be realized is
strongly influenced by the expectation that sudatimn will continue to be in operation for thedeeeable future. We believe such conclusior
is reasonable in light of our current operatiortaicure and forecasted operations, both for theiga jurisdiction and our consolidated
operations; however, such conclusion is inheramtigertain. Therefore, if we have material unforedesses or are required to restructure our
non-U.S. operations to further align our operagmgense structure with our expected revenues,ithability to generate sufficient income
necessary to realize a portion of the deferrecasmets may be reduced and an additional chargereaise the valuation allowance may be
recorded.
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The valuation allowance against deferred tax assetsisted of the following activity for the fisggars 2012, 2011 and 2010 (in
thousands):

Balance at Balance at
Beginning End of
Description of Year Additions Reduction Year
Allowance against deferred tax assets
Year ended December 25, 2010 $ 59,097 $ 68,63: $ —  $ 127,73
Year ended December 31, 2011 127,73: 44,52( (3,376 168,87!
Year ended December 29, 2012 168,87! 19,91( (25,520) 163,26!

At December 29, 2012 , we had Federal researclid@nelopment tax credit, net operating loss, an€idortax credit carryforwards of
$18.5 million , $284.2 million and $1.6 million hich will expire at various dates from 2016 thro&fl82. We had alternative minimum tax
credits of $2.2 million which do not expire. We hadlifornia research credit and net operating t@ssyforwards of $22.7 million and $266.7
million , respectively. The California researchditean be carried forward indefinitely while Calihia net operating loss carryforwards will
expire at various dates from 2030 through 2032 hatk Singapore net operating loss carryforward&l@t2 million which can be carried
forward indefinitely.

U.S. income taxes and foreign withholding taxe®eissed with the repatriation of earnings of foregubsidiaries were not provided for
$6.5 million of undistributed earnings of its fagaisubsidiaries. We intend to reinvest these egsnimdefinitely in our foreign subsidiaries. If
these earnings were distributed to the U.S. ifdha of dividends or otherwise, or if the sharestaf relevant foreign subsidiaries were sold o
otherwise transferred, we would be subject to &mlthl U.S. income taxes (subject to an adjustmanforeign tax credits) and foreign
withholding taxes, of approximately $42,000 . Detgration of the amount of unrecognized deferredine tax liability related to these
earnings is not practicable.

During fiscal 2012 , 2011 and 2010 , there wer¢axdoenefits associated with the exercise of eng#astock options and other
employee stock programs.

The following table reflects changes in the unreipgd tax benefits (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 29, December 31, December 25,

2012 2011 2010

Unrecognized tax benefit beginning balance $ 17,75 $ 17,50C $  17,92¢
Additions based on tax positions related to theenir

year 2,231 751 1,61C
Reductions for tax positions of prior years 9 (270) —
Reductions to unrecognized tax benefits due tcelaps

the applicable statute of limitations (2,817 (14¢) (35
Settlements — (82) (2,000
Unrecognized tax benefit ending balance $ 1718 $ 17,75 $  17,50(

At December 29, 2012 , we had gross tax-effectedamgnized tax benefits of $17.2 million of which% million if recognized, would
impact the effective tax rate.

We recognize interest charges and penalties refatedcertain tax positions as part of the incoaxeprovision. We recognized interest
charges and penalties of $0.3 million and $12,00@scal 2012 and fiscal 2011 , respectively, andréerest benefit of $0.3 million for fiscal
2010. As of December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2@&lhave accrued total interest charges and fpemaf $0.4 million and $0.7 million
respectively, related to uncertain tax positions.

The amount of income taxes we pay is subject toimggaudits by Federal, state and foreign tax attthe which might result in
proposed assessments. Our estimate for the pdteatéme for any uncertain tax issue is judgmeintalature. However, we believe we have
adequately provided for any reasonably foreseealtisome related to those matters. Our future resudty include favorable or unfavorable
adjustments to our estimated tax liabilities in pleeiod the assessments are made or resolved or stditeites of limitation on potential
assessments expire. As of December 29, 2012 chémges uncertain tax positions in the next 12 therhat are reasonably possible are not
expected to have a significant impact on our fimgrmosition or results of operations.
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We and our subsidiaries file income tax returnthanU.S. Federal jurisdiction, various states amal .S jurisdictions. The material
jurisdictions in which we are subject to potenéghmination by tax authorities for the tax yeatera2003 include, among others, the U
(Federal and California), Singapore, and Japan.

On January 2, 2013, President Obama signed intéHavimerican Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012, whichlirdes retroactive extension
of the research credit from January 1, 2012 thrdbgbember 31, 2013. This enacted tax law will teisudin increase in the Company’s gross
deferred tax asset by approximately $0.4 millioffset by a valuation allowance, during the firaager of 2013.

Note 14—Employee Benefit Plans

We have an employee savings plan that qualifiesdeferred salary arrangement under Section 4@f tke Internal Revenue Code. !
match up to 50% of an eligible employee's contidng to a maximum of the first 3% of the eligibla@oyee's contributions through a fiscal
year. As part of the acquisition, MicroProbe magchp t025% of an eligible employee's contributions to aimaim of the first 6% of the
eligible employee's contributions through a fisgedr. We also provide a tax-qualified profit shgrietirement plan for the benefit of eligible
employees in the U.S. The plan is designed to peoeimployees with an accumulation of funds foreetent on a tax-deferred basis and
provide for annual discretionary employer contribng.

We suspended our match under the 401(k) plan isg¢hend quarter of fiscal 2009 as part of our pedtiction efforts. During the third
quarter of fiscal 2010 , we reinstated the emplaoyatch feature due to the progress that we had masteeamlining and simplifying our
operations and reducing operating costs as werranto focus on returning the Company to profitghilThe total charge to operations under
the 401(k) and the profit sharing retirement plemdiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010 aggregated $0.8anill $0.6 million and $0.2 million
respectively.

Note 15—Operating Segment and Geographic Informatio

We operate in ongegment consisting of the design, development, faature, sale and support of precision, high perforce advance
semiconductor wafer probe cards. Our chief opegatigcision maker is the Chief Executive Officerowbviews operating results to make
decisions about allocating resources and assegsifgrmance for the entire company. Since we operabne segment and in one group of
similar products and services, all financial seghaer product line information required can be fbimthe consolidated financial statements.

The following table summarizes revenue by counsra @ercentage of total revenues based upon shigdation:

Fiscal Years Ended
December 29, December 31, December 25,

2012 2011 2010

South Korea 32.&% 23.1% 13.€%
Taiwan 20.7 31.¢ 38.t
North America 15.¢ 15.2 20.5
Japan 11.¢ 17.4 15.1
Asia-Pacific (1) 12.7 8.2 8.C
Europe / Israel 6.5 4.2 4.3

Total 100.(% 100.(% 100.(%

(1) AsiaPacific includes all countries in the region excEaiwvan, South Korea and Japan, which are disclsspdratel’
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The following table summarizes revenue by produetig (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended

December 29, December 31, December 25,

2012 2011 2010
DRAM $ 102,49¢ $ 11567t $ 131,20°
SoC 46,58¢ 29,05( 27,29(
Flash 29,45( 24,597 30,06¢
Total revenues $ 178,53! $ 169,32! $ 188,56!

Long-lived assets, comprising net property, plart aquipment, are reported based on the locatitimecdisset. Long-lived assets by
geographic location are as follows (in thousands):

December 29, December 31,

2012 2011
North America $ 4159: $ 31,29:
South Korea 1,691 834
Asia-Pacific (1) 1,24¢ 49¢
Japan 691 1,96
Singapore 25¢ 48t
Europe 37 56
Total $ 4551 $ 35,13:
(1) AsiaPacific includes all countries in the region excgptith Korea, Singapore, and Japan, which areodisdIseparate

The following customers represented greater th& @Dour revenues in fiscal 2012 , fiscal 2011 &schl 2010 :

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2012 2011 2010
SK hynix Semiconductor(1) 29.4% 16.5% 12.8%
Elpida(2) * * 20.C
Samsung(3) 12.4 11.2 12.C
Micron Technology(4) * 10.z *
Total 41.8% 37.7% 44.%

(1) Includes SK hynix and its consolidated subsidiakytgnix Semiconductor (China) Lt

(2) Includes Elpida Memory, Inc. and its consolidatedsidiary Rexchip Electronics Corporal

(3) Includes Samsung Semiconductor, Inc. and its cateted subsidiary Samsung Austin Semicondi

(4) Includes Micron Technology, Inc. and its cdigated subsidiaries, including Micron Semicondudisia Pte. Ltd., Micron
Semiconductor Italia S.r.L., Micron Semiconductenakl Ltd. and Micron Japan Ltd.

*  Less than 10% of revenu

The percentages above reflect customer consteltatie of December 29, 2012 . Prior period consimtia have been updated to reflect
the current customer compositions.

Note 16—Departure of Executive Officers

In the second quarter of fiscal 2010 , we enteméal $eparation Agreements with Mario Ruscev and Beginard Vernet in connection
with their resignations on May 19, 2010 as Chieéé&ixive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, respreely. As a result, we recorded a net
charge of $0.7 million within "Selling, general aadministrative" expenses in the Consolidated State of Operations for fiscal 2010,
comprised of $0.8 million of severance expense®h#0.1 million benefits from stock-based compd¢iosa They have each signed a general
release and waiver of claims in favor of the Conypamd continue to be bound by the Company's empdoy, confidential information and



invention assignment agreement.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

Additionally, in December 2010 , we entered int®eparation Agreement and General Release wittaefoBenior Vice President. As a
result, we recorded a net charge of $0.2 milliothimi"Selling, general and administrative" experisethe Consolidated Statements of
Operations for fiscal 2010, which comprised $0.8iam of severance expenses net of $0.1 milliondfiéfrom stock-based compensation.

In October 2011, we entered into a Separation Agest and General Release with a former Senior Fresident. As a result, we
recorded charges of $0.8 million within “Cost of@aues” in the Consolidated Statements of Operafionfiscal 2011, such charge being
composed of $0.5 million of payroll and related expes and $0.3 million of stock-based compensatipense related to the modification of
certain stock-based compensation awards.

Note 17—Related Party Transactions

We engaged the law firm of Orrick, Herrington & 8liffe LLP ("Orrick™) in fiscal 2007, and continugnthrough our fiscal 2012 , to
provide us with certain legal services, includingttars related to compensation and benefits, anept@sent us and certain of our then
directors and officers in the securities classoaclitigation and the stockholder derivative litiigan. A partner at Orrick, who is not involved in
the above matters, is the brother-in-law of StuaMerkadeau, our Senior Vice President, GenerairSel and Secretary. Mr. Merkadeau doe
not have a financial or other interest in Orrick'gjagement and Mr. Merkadeau's brother-in-law doégrovide any legal services to us. Prior
to engaging Orrick, our management discussed ttenpal engagement with our Governance CommittabeBoard of Directors under the
Statement of Policy regarding Related Person Trdioses. The Governance Committee reviewed and apgrthe Orrick engagement, and
continues to monitor the engagement, which in fif642 also included certain compensation and liesneftters, as well as certain labor and
employment matters, as necessary. We paid Orricki®@lion and $0.2 million in fiscal 2012 and iizdal 2011 , respectively, for legal
services rendered. As of the date of this AnnugddReon Form 10-K, Orrick continues to provide legarvices in the above matters.

Note 18—Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unauditg)

The following selected quarterly financial datasldde read in conjunction with our consolidatethficial statements and the related
notes and "ltem 7: Management's Discussion andyAisabf Financial Condition and Results of Operadid This information has been deri\
from our unaudited consolidated financial statem&mat, in our opinion, reflect all recurring adjuents necessary to fairly present this
information when read in conjunction with our colidated financial statements and the related napgearing in the section entitled
"Consolidated Financial Statements." The resulspafrations for any quarter are not necessarilicatide of the results to be expected for any
future period.
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Fiscal Quarters Ended

Dec. 29, Sep. 29, June. 30, March 31, Dec. 31, Sep. 24, June 25, March 26,
2012 (3) 2012 2012 (2) 2012 2011 2011 2011 (1) 2011
(in thousands, except per share data)

Revenues $ 47,65 $ 41,26: $ 5481: $ 34,80t $ 30,22: $ 52,11 $ 46,55¢ $ 40,42¢
Cost of revenues 50,79¢ 33,11( 38,64¢ 30,65( 35,19¢ 40,14: 36,66¢ 36,35¢
Gross profit (loss) (3,149 8,152 16,16° 4,15¢ (4,97%) 11,97« 9,89( 4,06¢
Operating Expenses:

Research and

development 9,77t 8,57: 10,93t 10,84° 10,68 10,42¢ 10,87¢ 11,56(

Selling, general

and administrativ: 14,95¢ 11,59 11,53: 11,14¢ 11,96« 11,20( 11,15 12,38°

Restructuring

charges, net 33¢ 2,481 13€ (393 32 25¢ (1,099 1,03¢

Impairment of

long lived assets 49 142 61 16¢ 98 10C — 351

Gain on

settlement of

litigation (3,250 — — — — — — —

Total operating

expenses 21,86t 22,79: 22,66: 22,13( 23,07( 21,98: 20,93¢ 25,33¢
Operating loss (25,009) (14,639 (6,496 (17,979 (28,04%) (20,007 (11,049 (21,267
Interest income, net 134 163 182 212 27¢€ 33t 36¢ 424
Other income (expense).
net 334 171 54€ 41C 941 (75) 584 (374
Loss before income taxes  (24,54) (14,305 (5,769 (17,359 (26,828 (9,749 (10,090 (21,217
Provision for (benefit
from) income taxes (25,14 17¢ (1,557) 10z 147 157 (2,417) 207
Net income (loss) $ 60z $ (14,479 $ (421 $ (1745) $ (26,97) $ (9,909 $ (7679 $ (21,42
Net income (loss) per
share:
Basic $ 0.01 % (029 $ (0.09 $ (035 $ (059 $ (020 $ (0.18) $ (0.42)
Diluted $ 0.01 % 029 $ (0.0 $ 0.35 $ (059 $ 020 $ (0.185) $ (0.42)

Weighted average number
of shares used in per share

calculations:
Basic 52,74¢ 50,15¢ 49,81° 49,487 49,96° 50,747 50,77 50,63¢
Diluted 52,92: 50,15¢ 49,81° 49,48 49,96° 50,747 50,77 50,63¢

(1) Inthe second quarter of fiscal 2011 , we réed a tax benefit in the amount of $2.5 millioonfrthe release of a deferred tax valuation allowarcorded in a nob-S.
jurisdiction. This benefit resulted in an overaltdome tax benefit, rather than an income tax piavis the second quarter of fis2011 .

(2) Inthe second quarter of fiscal 2012 , we réed a tax benefit in the amount of $1.6 millioonfrthe release of a deferred tax valuation allowarcorded in a nob-S.
jurisdiction. This benefit resulted in an overaltdome tax benefit, rather than an income tax pi@vis the second quarter of fis2012 .

(3) Inthe fourth quarter of fiscal 2012 , we etz an income tax benefit in the amount of $2518am from the release of deferred tax asset vadmeallowances due to
deferred tax liabilities established on the acqlidentifiable intangible assets from our acquasitof MicroProbe and $3.3 million benefit from thettlement of patent
litigation in conjunction with the acquisition ofitfoProbe. The fourth quarter of fiscal 2012 in@sdhe following Microprobe operating activity: $&9nillion in
revenue, $5.4 million amortization of intangibl§g,6 million release of pre-existing backlog, $8#lion release of inventory fair value step-up &@2 millioncharge
for step-up depreciation on fixed assets resultimgnet loss of $6.4 million .
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Note 19 — Subsequent Events

In the first fiscal quarter of 2013, we implementetkstructuring plan (the "Q1 2013 RestructuritamP which resulted in the reduction
our global workforce by 32 employees across thammation. Total restructuring charges for the tgrawill be in the range of $2.6 million to

$3.2 million for severance and related benefitsiamghirment charges for certain equipment. Thevigts comprising this reduction in
workforce will be completed by the end of secondrtgr fiscal 2013.

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Set forth below is a list of exhibits that are lagfibed or incorporated by reference into this AahReport on Form 10-K:
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Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

Incorporated by Reference

Form

File No

Date of
First Filing

Exhibit
Number

Filed
Herewith

2.01%*

3.01

3.0z

4.01
10.014
10.02+4
10.03+
10.044
10.054
10.064

10.074
10.084
10.094

10.104

10.11

10.1%

10.1:

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.164

10.174

10.184

10.194
21.01
23.01
24.01

31.01

31.02

32.01*

101.INS**
101.SCH*
101.CAL**
101.DEF*
101.LAB**
101.PRE*

Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of Augus2@12 among
Astria Semiconductor Holdings, Inc., FormFactoc, JfEELM
Acquisition, Inc. and Fortis Advisors LLC, as Egtiblder
Representative

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatiothe
Registrant as filed with the Delaware Secretar$tate on
June 17, 2003

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant
Specimen Common Stock Certificate

Form of Indemnity Agreement

Form of Change of Control Severance Agreement

1996 Stock Option Plan, and form of option grant
Incentive Option Plan, and form of option grant
Management Incentive Option Plan, and form of optcant

2002 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, and forfrptao
agreements

2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended
Key Employee Bonus Plan, as amended

Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restatedteféeApril 18,
2012, and forms of plan agreements

Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended anceresiaitil 18,
2012

Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and between @itlen
Holding Company LLC (successor to Greenville IneestL.P.)
("Greenville") and the Registrant dated May 3, 2001

First Amendment to Pacific Corporate Center Leasertd
between Greenville and the Registrant dated Jar8iar003

Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and between @itkeand the
Registrant dated May 3, 2001

First Amendment to Pacific Corporate Center Leasartd
between Greenville and the Registrant dated Jar8iar003

Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and between @itkeand the
Registrant dated May 3, 2001

First Amendment to Pacific Corporate Center Leasertd
between Greenville and the Registrant dated Jar8iar003

Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and between @itkeand the
Registrant dated September 7, 2004, as amendeisby F
Amendment to Building 6 Lease dated August 16, 2006

Employment Letter Agreement, dated September 2), 2tdtween
Thomas St. Dennis and FormFactor, Inc.

Employment Offer Letter, dated August 29, 2012 tkd/Slessor
List of Registrant's subsidiaries
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouring

Power of Attorney (included on the signature paigthie
Form 10-K)

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant15 U.S.C.
Section 7241, as adopted pursuant to Section 30&dbarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuaot15 U.S.C.
Section 7241, as adopted pursuant to Section 30&dbarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chigihancial
Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as tetbpursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

XBRL Instance Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuine
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhen
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doenim

10-Q/A

S-1/A

S-1/A
S-1/A
S-1/A
S-1/A
S-1/A

10Q

8-K

00050301

33310981t

00050307
3338673¢
3338673¢
00050307
3338673¢
3338673¢
3338673¢
00050307

00050307
00050307

3338673¢

3338673¢

3338673¢

3338673¢

3338673¢

3338673¢

00050307

00050307

1/23/201.

10/20/200:

5/25/200!
5/28/200:
5/28/200:
3/14/200!
4/22/200:
4/22/200:
4/22/200:

5/4/201:

8/7/200°
5/7/200°

6/10/200:

5/7/200:

6/10/200:

5/7/200:

6/10/200:

5/7/200:

11/7/2001

9/17/201

33.01

3.01

3.0z

4.01
10.01
10.4¢
10.0:
10.0¢
10.0¢
10.0¢

10.01
10.01

10.1¢

10.18.:

10.1¢

10.19.:

10.z

10.20.:

10.01

99.014

X X X X

x

X X X X X X



*

This exhibit shall not be deemed “filed" for purps®f Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Ad98# or otherwise subject to the liabilities oftteaction, nor shall
be deemed incorporated by reference in any filimden the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securitieshange Act of 1934,
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whether made before or after the date hereof aespiective of any general incorporation languageninfilings.

** Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, thegeractive data files are deemed not filed or p&# registration statement or prospectus for psgp of Sections 11 or
12 of the Securities Act of 1933 or Section 18h&f Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and otherwisaat subject to liability.

i Confidential treatment has been requestedgimrtions of this document. The schedules, exhibitg, annexes to this exhibit have been omittedliarrce Item 601(b)(2)
of Regulation S-K and will be furnished supplemépti the SEC upon request.

+ Indicates a management contract or compensatomyoplarrangemer
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EXHIBIT 10.09

FORMFACTOR, INC.
EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN
(As Amended and Restated Effective April 18, 2012)

SECTION 1. ESTABLISHMENT AND PURPOSE.

The purpose of the Plan is to promote the long-tauntess of the Company and the creation of stéd&hwalue by (a) encouraging
Participants to focus on critical long-range ohjexg, (b) encouraging the attraction and retenticimdividuals with exceptional qualifications
and (c) linking Participants directly to stockhaldeterests through increased stock ownership.Alha seeks to achieve this purpose by
providing for Awards in the form of Restricted SésyrStock Units, Options (which may constitute imice stock options or nonstatutory stock
options) or Stock Appreciation Rights. Subjectppm@val by the Company’s stockholders, this Plgmessedes the plan in effect prior to the
Effective Date.

SECTION 2. DEFINITIONS.

“ Affiliate ” shall mean any entity other than a Subsidiaryhé Company and/or one of more Subsidiaries oviess than fifty percent
(50%) of such entity.

“ Award” shall mean any award of an Option, a SAR, a Rastt Share or a Stock Unit under the Plan.
“ Board of Directors’ shall mean the Board of Directors of the Compas/constituted from time to time.

“Cause” shall mean (a) the commission of an act of thefihezzlement, fraud, dishonesty, (b) a breach ofcfaty duty to the Compar
or a Parent or Subsidiary of the Company or (@ilare to materially perform the customary dutiésmployee’s employment.

“ Certification Date’ means the date that the Committee makes itsemritertification of a Final Award.
“ Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 asnded.

“ Committe€ shall mean a committee of one or more membetheBoard of Directors appointed by the Board akblors (or, as the
context permits, a subcommittee of one or more neembf the Board appointed by the Committee) tointhter the Plan in accordance with
the provisions hereof.

“ Company’ shall mean FormFactor, Inc., a Delaware corporgtand its Subsidiaries.

“ Consultant’ shall mean a consultant or advisor who providassabfide services to the Company or an Affiliateaasndependent
contractor.

“ Eligible Participant” shall mean (i) any individual who is a commlaw employee of the Company or an Affiliate; (iijr@mber of th
Board of Directors; (iii) a member of the boarddifectors of a Subsidiary or an Affiliate; or (i@)Consultant.

“ Exchange Act shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934raended.
“ Executive Officet shall mean an officer as defined in Rule 16a-uifYier the Exchange Act, or any successor provision

“ Exercise Price shall mean, in the case of an Option, the améamivhich one Share may be purchased upon exestsech Option,
as specified in the applicable Stock Option Awd&EXkercise Price,” in the case of a SAR, shall mearmamount, as specified in the applicable
SAR Award, which is subtracted from the Fair Marketue of a Share in determining the amount payapte exercise of such SAR.

“ Fair Market Value’ shall mean the closing price on the Nasdaq Gldeket on the date the value is to be determirse@ported at
www.nasdaqg.comIf there are no trades on such date, the clgsiiog on the next business day upon which tradesroed shall be the Fair
Market Value.

“ I1SO” shall mean an employee incentive stock optiorcdiesd in Code Section 422.

“ Nonstatutory Optiori or “ NSO” shall mean an employee stock option that is motSD.
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“ Option” shall mean an ISO or Nonstatutory Option granteder the Plan and entitling the holder to purcl&isares.
“ Qutside Directof” shall mean a member of the Board of Directors wgwot a common-law employee of the Company.

“Parent” shall mean any corporation (other than the Compamagh unbroken chain of corporations ending whla Company if each of
such corporations other than the Company owns gioskessing 50% or more of the total combined gqimwer of all classes of stock in one
of the other corporations in such chain.

“ Participant” shall mean an individual or estate who holds avasd.

“ Performance Conditioh shall mean a performance condition establishat véspect to an Award in accordance with the zionis
hereof.

“ Performance Godl shall mean one or more objective measurable padace factors as determined by the Committee nehect to
each Performance Period based upon one or momrsanid any objectively verifiable adjustment(®réto permitted and preestablished by
the Committee in accordance with Code Section 1B{moperating income; (ii) net income; (iii) ewomic value added; (iv) earnings; (v)
earnings before income taxes and amortization ardimings before income taxes and amortizatiowtro(vi) cash flow; (vii) sales or
revenue; (viii) expenses; (ix) profit margin; (xpuking capital; (xi) return on equity or assetsi)(garnings per share; (xiii) stock price; (xiv )
total shareholder return or total shareholder retwowth; (xv) price/earnings ratio; (xvi) debtaebt-to-equity; (xvii) writeoffs;

(xviii) cash; (xix) assets; and/or (xx) liquiditgach with respect to the Company and/or one or wioite operating units. Awards to
Participants who are not subject to the limitatioh€ode Section 162(m) may be determined withegard to Performance Goals and may
involve Committee discretion.

“ Performance Period shall mean the period of service to which thef@tenance Condition relates.

“ Plan” shall mean this Equity Incentive Plan of Formfeactnc., as amended from time to time.

“ Prior Plans” shall mean the Company’s 1996 Stock Option Pllacentive Option Plan and Management Incentive @pRlan.
“ Restricted Sharéshall mean a Share awarded under the Plan.

“ Restricted Share Awardshall mean the agreement between the Companyhanecipient of a Restricted Share, or the ndtidhe
recipient, which contains the terms, conditions segdrictions pertaining to such Restricted Shares.

“ SAR” shall mean a stock appreciation right grantedeuride Plan.

“ SAR Award shall mean the agreement between the Company &atticipant, or the notice to the Participanticivftontains the
terms, conditions and restrictions pertaining ®dri her SAR.

“ Securities Act shall mean the Securities Act of 1933, as amended

“ Service’ shall mean service as an Eligible Participant.

“ Share” shall mean one share of Stock, as adjusted iardaace with the adjustment provisions of the Rifaapplicable).
“ Stock” shall mean the Common Stock of the Company.

“ Stock Option Award shall mean the agreement between the Company &atticipant, or the notice to the Participanticlitontains
the terms, conditions and restrictions pertainmbis Option.

“ Stock Unit” shall mean a bookkeeping entry representing thevalent of one Share, as awarded under the Plan.

“ Stock Unit Award shall mean the agreement between the Companyhaenebcipient of a Stock Unit, or the notice to teeipient,
which contains the terms, conditions and restmdtipertaining to such Stock Unit.

“ Subsidiary’ shall mean any corporation, if the Company andfoe or more other Subsidiaries own not less ttigngercent (50%) of
the total combined voting power of all classeswstanding stock of such corporation. A corporatloat attains the status of a Subsidiary on :
date after the adoption of the Plan shall be cameitia Subsidiary commencing as of such date.
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“ Total and Permanent Disabilityshall mean a (i) a physical or mental conditioniet, in the judgment of the Committee based on
competent medical evidence satisfactory to the Citt@en(including, if required by the Committee, ritadl evidence obtained by an
examination conducted by a physician selected yCthmmittee), renders the Participant unable t@gadn any substantial gainful activity
the Company and which condition is likely to resnlteath or to be of long, continued and indeéimitiration, or (ii) a judicial declaration of
incompetence.

SECTION 3. ADMINISTRATION.

(a) Committee ProcedureOne or more Committees appointed by the Boaidigctors shall administer the Plan. The Board of
Directors shall designate one of the members o€Cthamittee as chairperson. Unless the Board ofciire provides otherwise, the
Compensation Committee shall be the Committee.Bdard of Directors may also at any time terminagfunctions of the Committee and
reassume all powers and authority previously dééshe the Committee.

The Committee shall have membership compositiorthvehables (i) Awards to qualify for exemption unBele 16b-3 with respect to
persons who are subject to Section 16 of the Exgdhdwt and (i) Awards that are intended to quadi§/“performance-based compensation”
under Section 162(m) of the Code to so qualify.

The Compensation Committee may also appoint omecoe separate subcommittees composed of one ordirentors of the Company
who need not qualify under either Rule 16b-3 orti8acl62(m) of the Code, who may administer thenRléth respect to persons who are not
subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act and/oafls that are not intended to qualify as “perforoeabased compensation” under
Section 162(m) of the Code.

(b) Committee ResponsibilitieSubject to the provisions of the Plan, the Corteaishall have full authority and discretion toetdlike

following actions:

(i) To interpret the Plan and to apply its provisip

(i) To adopt, amend or rescind rules, proceduresfarms relating to the Plan;

(iii) To authorize any person to execute, on bebhthe Company, any instrument required to catytbe purposes of the Plan;

(iv) To determine when Awards are to be grantedeuige Plan;

(v) To select the Eligible Participants who aredoeive Awards under the Plan;

(vi) To determine the number of Shares to be mabtgest to each Award,;

(vii) To prescribe the terms and conditions of eAalard, including (without limitation) the Exercig¥ice, the vesting of the
Award (including accelerating the vesting of Awgrdad to specify the provisions of the agreemelatirgy to such Award;

(viii) To amend any outstanding Restricted Shareafdy Stock Option Award, SAR Award or Stock Unit And subject to
applicable legal restrictions and to the consenhefParticipant who entered into such agreement;

(ix) To prescribe the consideration for the grareach Award under the Plan and to determine tifeemincy of such
consideration;

(x) To determine whether Awards under the Plan bellgranted in replacement of other grants undénaantive or other
compensation plan of an acquired business;

(xi) To correct any defect, supply any omissiontemoncile any inconsistency in the Plan, any Raestt Share Award, Stock
Option Award, SAR Award, or Stock Unit Award;

(xii) To take any other actions deemed necessaagwvisable for the administration of the Plan;

(xiii) To determine, at the time of granting an Agar thereafter, that such Award shall vest aalltor part of the Shares subjec
such Award in the event of a corporate transaction.

(xiv) To accelerate the vesting, or extend the p@shination exercise term, of Awards at any timd ander such terms and
conditions as it deems appropriate.

In addition, without amending the Plan, the Comesitinay grant awards under the Plan to eligible eyegls or consultants who are
foreign nationals on such terms and conditionsdiffit from those specified in this Plan as mapéjadgment of the Committee be necessar
or desirable to foster and promote achievemerti@purposes of the Plan, and, in furtherance df pucposes the Committee may make such
modifications, amendments, procedures, subplanshemiike as may be necessary or advisable to cowigh provisions of laws in other
countries in which the Company operates or has @yepk.




Subject to the requirements of applicable law,Bbard of Directors may authorize one or more officaf the Company to grant Awards
and the Committee may designate persons othemtleambers of the Committee to carry out its respalitgils, and the Committee may
prescribe such conditions and limitations as it megm appropriate, except that the Board of Dirsato the Committee may not delegate its
authority with regard to Awards to persons subjecection 16 of the Exchange Act or Awards intehibequalify as “performance-based
compensation” under Section 162(m) of the Codedadisions, interpretations and other actions @f@Gbmmittee shall be final and binding on
all Participants, and all persons deriving thaihts from a Participant. No member of the Commisteal| be liable for any action that he has
taken or has failed to take in good faith with exggo the Plan or any Award.

Except arising from any action taken, or failureats, in bad faith, each member of the Committe®f the Board of Directors, shall be
indemnified and held harmless by the Company agaims from (i) any loss, cost, liability, or experthat may be imposed upon or reasonabl
incurred by him or her in connection with or remgtfrom any claim, action, suit, or proceedingmoaich he or she may be a party or in which
he or she may be involved by reason of any actikart or failure to act under the Plan or any agesgmnder the Plan, and (ii) from any and
all amounts paid by him or her, with the Compamytior approval, in settlement thereof or paichby or her in satisfaction of any judgment
any such claim, action, suit, or proceeding agdimstor her, provided he or she shall have givenGbmpany a reasonable opportunity, at its
own expense, to handle and defend the same befaseshe undertakes to handle and defend it oortiier own behalf. The foregoing right of
indemnification shall not be exclusive of any othghts of indemnification to which such personsyrba entitled under the Company’s
Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws, by contraa$ a matter of law, or otherwise, or under anygra¢hat the Company may have to
indemnify them or hold them harmless.

SECTION 4. ELIGIBILITY.

(a) General Rule Only Eligible Participants may be granted RestdcShares, Stock Units, NSOs or SARs. In additioy individuals
who are employed as common-law employees by thep@oynmay be granted 1SOs.

(b) Limitation on Awards In any fiscal year of the Company, no individshll receive Options, SARs, Restricted Sharesoar8tbck
Units covering in excess of 2,000,000 Shares irajgregate; provided, however, that Outside Dirsatway only receive Awards covering up
to 50,000 Shares in the aggregate per Outside tOirgtany fiscal year of the Company. The limivas under this Subsection shall be subject
to adjustment pursuant to the adjustment provisidrike Plan.

(c) Director FeesEach Outside Director may elect to receive Resti@hares or Stock Units under the Plan in ligopagiment of a
portion of his or her regular annual retainer basethe Fair Market Value of the Shares on the dateregular annual retainer would othen
be paid. For purposes of the Plan, an Outside @irsaegular annual retainer shall include anyitiolaal retainer paid in connection with
service on any committee of the Board or paid for ather reason. Such an election may be for atigrdar percentage amount equal to at
least 25% of the Outside Director’s regular anmatdiner (up to a limit of 100% of the Outside Bia’s regular annual retainer). The election
must be made prior to the beginning of the annaoatdb of directors cycle which shall be any twelventin continuous period designated by the
Board. Any amount of the regular annual retaindratected to be received as a Restricted Stock dwaRestrict Stock Unit shall be payable
in cash in accordance with the Company’s standayanent procedures.

SECTION 5. STOCK SUBJECT TO PLAN.

(a) Basic Limitation. Shares offered under the Plan shall be autholimédnissued Shares or treasury Shares. The maxeggregate
number of Options, SARs, Stock Units and RestriGkdres awarded under the Plan shall not exce®0,00D Shares, less all Shares grantec
between February 28, 2012 and April 18, 2012 wityr 8hares issued as restricted shares, pursusitdo units or pursuant to the settlement
of dividend equivalents counting against the shawadlable for issuance as 1.55 Shares for ev&iyate issued in connection with the Award.
After April 18, 2012, Shares issued as Restrictiear&s, pursuant to Stock Units or pursuant to ¢tiéesent of dividend equivalents will
continue to count against the shares availableséorance under the Plan as 1.55 Shares for ev@hatke issued in connection with the Award
or dividend equivalent. This limit shall be subj&zthe provisions of the next Subsection and dfemBubject to adjustment pursuant to the
adjustment provisions of the Plan. No fractionahi®is shall be issued under the Plan.

(b) Additional Shares If Awards are forfeited or are terminated for atlger reason before being exercised or settled, tihe Shares
underlying the Awards, plus the number of additid@tzares, if any, that counted against sharesablaifor issuance under the Plan in respec
thereof at the time of grant, shall again becon@lable for Awards under the Plan. In addition, amyhorized shares not issued pursuant to
outstanding grants under the Prior Plans thatafeifed or are terminated for any other reasooieebeing exercised will again be available
for grant and issuance under this Plan. If Stockdre settled, then such Stock Units shall bentaaliin full against the number of Shares
available for Awards under the Plan, regardlesh®@humber of Shares (if any) actually issued ttiesaent of such Stock Units. If SARs are
exercised, then




such SARs shall be counted in full against the remalh Shares available for Awards under the Plagardless of the number of Shares (if ¢
actually issued in settlement of such SARs.

(c) Dividend Equivalents Any dividend equivalents paid or credited undher Plan shall be applied against the number ofrRtst
Shares, Stock Units, Options or SARs availabledeards, whether or not such dividend equivalengscanverted into Stock Units.

SECTION 6. RESTRICTED SHARES.

(a) Restricted Share AwardEach grant of Restricted Shares under the Plalhksh evidenced by a Restricted Share Award batwiee
recipient and the Company. Such Restricted Shamadklse subject to all applicable terms of the Rlad may be subject to any other terms the
are not inconsistent with the Plan. The provisiohthe various Restricted Share Awards entereduntter the Plan need not be identical.

(b) Payment for AwardsSubiject to the following sentence and applic#dle Restricted Shares may be sold or awarded uhdd?lan
for such consideration as the Committee may detexnpincluding (without limitation) cash, cash ealents, past services and future services
To the extent that an Award consists of newly idsBestricted Shares, the Award recipient shallifiriconsideration with a value not less t
the par value of such Restricted Shares in the fifroash, cash equivalents, or past services redderthe Company, as the Committee may
determine. To the extent an Award of Restrictedr&haonsists solely of treasury shares, the Away lbe made without consideration
furnished by the recipient.

(c) Vesting. Each Award of Restricted Shares shall be sulbjeegsting. Vesting shall occur, in full or in iniments, upon satisfaction
the conditions specified in the Restricted SharealvUnless the Restricted Share Award providesratise, each grant of Restricted Shares
shall vest with respect to twenty-five percent (35#the Shares covered by the grant on each dirdtehrough fourth anniversaries of the
date of grant, provided that the Participant’s ®erhas not terminated on the applicable vestinig.daRestricted Share Award may provide
for accelerated vesting in the event of a corpdratgsaction or otherwise (if specified by the Caitter at the time of grant). To the extent tha
an Award of Restricted Shares has not vested fjar concurrently with, termination of a Parti@ig’s Service, such Award shall immedia
terminate.

(d) Voting and Dividend RightsThe holders of vested Restricted Shares awardédrihe Plan shall have the same voting, dividerd
other rights as the Company’s other stockholders.

(e) Assignment or Transfer of Restricted Sharescept as provided herein, or in a Restricted&Bavard, or as required by applicable
law, Restricted Shares shall not be anticipatezigaed, attached, garnished, optioned, transfenredade subject to any creditor’s process,
whether voluntarily, involuntarily or by operatiof law. Any act in violation of this Subsection #H# void. However, this Subsection shall
not preclude a Participant from designating a beiaef who will receive any outstanding Restrictlglares in the event of the Participant’s
death, nor shall it preclude a transfer of Restd@hares by will or by the laws of descent anttidigion.

SECTION 7. TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF OPTIONS.

(a) Stock Option AwardEach grant of an Option under the Plan shalMideaced by a Stock Option Award between the Hpdit and
the Company. Such Option shall be subject to adliegble terms and conditions of the Plan and magubject to any other terms and
conditions which are not inconsistent with the PlBime Stock Option Award shall specify whether @mion is an ISO or an NSO. The
provisions of the various Stock Option Awards eedieinto under the Plan need not be identical. AlS@ption Award may not provide that a
new Option will be granted automatically to thetiegsant when he or she exercises a prior Optiah@ays the Exercise Price.

(b) Number of SharesEach Stock Option Award shall specify the nundfe8hares that are subject to the Option and ghatlide for
the adjustment of such number in accordance wétatfjustment provisions of the Plan. The maximugregate number of ISOs awarded
under the Plan shall not exceed the number of Stsulgject to the Plan under Section 5(a). Theditioib of this Subsection shall be subject to
adjustment pursuant to the adjustment provisiorte@Plan.

(c) Exercise Price Each Stock Option Award shall specify the Exardisice. The Exercise Price of an Option shallbgoless than 100
percent (100%) of the Fair Market Value of a Shar¢he date of grant. Subject to the foregoindnia Subsection, the Exercise Price undel
Option shall be determined by the Committee atate discretion. The Exercise Price shall be payabbne of the forms permitted under the
Plan.

(d) Exercisability and TermUnless the Stock Option Award provides otherwesesh Option shall become exercisable with regpect
twenty-five percent (25%) of the Shares coveredumh Option on each of the first through fourthieersaries of the date of grant, provided
that the Participant’s Service has not terminatethe applicable vesting date. The
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term of an Option shall be ten (10) years fromdhge of grant unless the Stock Option Award praviide a shorter term. A Stock Option
Award may provide for accelerated vesting in therg\of a corporate transaction or otherwise asifip@dy the Committee. Options may be
awarded in combination with SARs, and such an Awaagy provide that the Options will not be exercleaimless the related SARs are
forfeited. Subject to the foregoing in this Subgettthe Committee at its sole discretion shaled®ine when all or any installment of an
Option is to become exercisable and when an Otitmexpire.

(e) Nontransferability. Except as set forth in a Stock Option Award, dga Participans lifetime, his Option(s) shall be exercisable ¢
by him and shall not be transferable, and in trenewof a Participant’'s death, his Option(s) shatllve transferable other than by will or by the
laws of descent and distribution.

(f) Exercise of Options Upon Termination of Serviéach Stock Option Award shall set forth the ekterwhich the Participant shall
have the right to exercise the Option followingn@ration of the Participant’s Service, and the tighexercise the Option by any executors or
administrators of the Participant’s estate or aengpn who has acquired such Option(s) directly ftoenParticipant by bequest or inheritance.
Such provisions shall be determined in the solerdi®n of the Committee, need not be uniform amalh@ptions issued pursuant to the Plan,
and may reflect distinctions based on the reasmnefmination of Service. Unless the Stock Op#avard provides otherwise, Options which
are unvested at the time of a Participant’s tertionaof Service shall expire upon such terminatemg any vested Options shall remain
outstanding and exercisable until the earlier ofdhths following such termination and the expinatid the Options term. Notwithstanding tt
foregoing, in the event of a Participant’s termioiatfor Cause, effective as of the date noticeughstermination is given by the Committee to
the Participant, all of the Participant’'s vested anvested Options shall automatically terminaig lapse, unless the Committee shall
determine otherwise.

(9) Madification, Extension and Renewal of OptioWgithin the limitations of the Plan, the Committeay modify, extend or renew
outstanding Options. The foregoing notwithstandimymodification of an Option shall, without thensent of the Participant, impair his rights
or increase his obligations under such Option. @ystimay not be repriced or cashed out without pipeaval of the Company’s stockholders.

SECTION 8. PAYMENT FOR OPTION SHARES.

(a) General Rule The entire Exercise Price of Shares issued uheePlan shall be payable in lawful money of thététhStates of
America, as permitted under this Section. Paymeayt be made by any combination of the methods desttiin this Section.

(b) Cash. Payment may be made by cash, check, wire transf@milar means, subject to the requirementgppfieable law.

(c) Surrender of StockPayment may be made all or in part by surrendednattesting to the ownership of, Shares whaehbeen
owned by the Participant or his representativestmh period of time required to avoid the Compamngtognition of additional compensation
expense with respect to the Option for financigbréing purposes as a result of the surrendertestation of such previously owned shares.
Such Shares shall be valued at their Fair Markéwd/an the date when the new Shares are purchasked the Plan.

(d) Cashless ExerciseTo the extent permitted by applicable law, paytmeay be made all or in part by delivery (on a fgrrascribed b
the Committee) of an irrevocable direction to ausiies broker to sell Shares and to deliver alpart of the sale proceeds to the Company in
payment of the aggregate Exercise Price and ajydicax withholding.

(e) Other Forms of PaymenfTo the extent that a Stock Option Award so presichbayment may be made in any other form that is
consistent with applicable laws, regulations aridsu

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in thi<an or in any agreement under the Plan, the Cdteenmay disallow the use of any
type of payment that the Committee determinedsisadle discretion, would result in adverse acdagrir legal consequences to the Compan
or Affiliate.

SECTION 9. STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS.

(a) SAR Award Each grant of a SAR under the Plan shall be eciee by a SAR Award between the Participant andCtmapany. Such
SAR shall be subject to all applicable terms ofPen and may be subject to any other terms tleat@trinconsistent with the Plan, including
those specified. The provisions of the various S¥Rards entered into under the Plan need not bdig#nA SAR Award may not provide
that a new SAR will be granted automatically to lioéder thereof when he or she exercises a pridR.SA
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(b) Number of SharesEach SAR Award shall specify the number of Sh&washich the SAR pertains and shall provide fa th
adjustment of such number in accordance with thestdent provisions of the Plan.

(c) Exercise Price Each SAR Award shall specify the Exercise Priggich may not be less than 100 percent (100%)eftir Market
Value of a Share on the date of grant. A SAR Awagy specify an Exercise Price that varies in acoed with a predetermined formula
while the SAR is outstanding.

(d) Exercisability and TermUnless the SAR Award provides otherwise, each SA&I become exercisable with respect to twentg-fi
percent (25%) of the Shares covered by such SA&ach of the first through fourth anniversarieshef dlate of grant, provided that the
Participant’s Service has not terminated on thdiegdgle vesting date. The term of the SAR shaltdre(10) years from the date of grant unles:
the SAR Award provides for a shorter term. A SARa&d/may provide for accelerated exercisabilityhi@ €vent of a corporate transaction or
otherwise as specified by the Committee. SARs neagvisarded in combination with Options, and sucwaard may provide that the SARs
will not be exercisable unless the related Optinesforfeited. A SAR may be included in an ISO aayhe time of grant but may be included
in an NSO at the time of grant or thereafter. A SgkBnted under the Plan may provide that it wileercisable only in the event of a
Corporate transaction.

(e) Exercise of SARsThe SAR Award may provide that, upon exercisa 8fAR, the Participant (or any person having tgktrio
exercise the SAR after his or her death) shallivedeom the Company (a) Shares, (b) cash or @@rabination of Shares and cash. Unless
otherwise provided in the SAR Award, upon exeroisa SAR, the Participant (or any person havingritjet to exercise the SAR after his or
her death) shall receive Shares from the Compamg.amount of cash and/or the Fair Market Valuehafr8s received upon exercise of SARs
shall, in the aggregate, be equal to the amoumitbgh the Fair Market Value (on the date of sureaf the Shares subject to the SARs
exceeds the Exercise Price. Unless the SAR Awardghes otherwise, SARs which are unvested at the 6f a Participant’s termination of
Service shall expire upon such termination, andwasfed SARs which have not been exercised shmalireoutstanding and exercisable until
the earlier of 3 months following such terminatammd the expiration of the SAR’s term. Notwithstamgdihe foregoing, in the event of a
Participant’s termination for Cause, effective athe date notice of such termination is given iy Committee to the Participant, all of the
Participant’s vested and unvested SARs shall autoatly terminate and lapse, unless the Commithes! sletermine otherwise.

(f) Modification or Assumption of SAR®Vithin the limitations of the Plan, the Commiti@ay modify, extend or renew outstanding
SARs. The foregoing notwithstanding, no modificataf a SAR shall, without the consent of the Paréint, impair his rights or increase his
obligations under such SAR. SARs may not be regnicighout the approval of the Company’s stockhadder

SECTION 10. STOCK UNITS.

(a) Stock Unit Award Each grant of Stock Units under the Plan sha#\idenced by a Stock Unit Award between the recipand the
Company. Such Stock Units shall be subject tofgllieable terms of the Plan and may be subjechyoather terms that are not inconsistent
with the Plan, including those specified. The psais of the various Stock Unit Awards entered untder the Plan need not be identical.

(b) Payment for AwardsTo the extent that an Award is granted in thenfof Stock Units, no cash consideration shall lpgiired of the
Award recipients.

(c) Vesting Conditions Each Award of Stock Units shall be subject tatings Vesting shall occur, in full or in installmisn upon
satisfaction of the conditions specified in thecBttnit Award. Unless the Stock Unit Award provid#bherwise, each grant of Stock Units
shall become exercisable with respect to twentg-fiercent (25%) of the Shares covered by the graetich of the first through fourth
anniversaries of the date of grant, provided thatRarticipant’s Service has not terminated orafilicable vesting date. A Stock Unit Award
may provide for accelerated vesting in the everat obrporate transaction or otherwise as spedifieithe Committee. To the extent that an
Award of Stock Units has not vested prior to, onaarrently with, termination of a Participant’s $iee, such Award shall immediately
terminate.

(d) Voting and Dividend RightsThe holders of Stock Units shall have no votiights. Prior to settlement or forfeiture, any Stadrkit
awarded under the Plan may, at the Committee’setisa, carry with it a right to dividend equivatenSuch right entitles the holder to be
credited with an amount equal to all cash dividgoaisl on one Share while the Stock Unit is outstamdividend equivalents may be
converted into additional Stock Units. Settlemefdigidend equivalents may be made in the formasfit in the form of Shares, or in a
combination of both. Prior to distribution, any idignd equivalents which are not paid shall be sulifethe same conditions and restrictions a
the Stock Units to which they attach.




(e) Form and Time of Settlement of Stock UnB&ttlement of vested Stock Units may be madkeerfdrm of (a) cash, (b) Shares or
(c) any combination of both, as determined by tben@ittee. Methods of converting Stock Units intsltanay include (without limitation) a
method based on the average Fair Market Value afeShover a series of trading days. Vested Stodts dray be settled in a lump sum or in
installments. The distribution shall occur or cormeeewhen all vesting conditions applicable to theck Units have been satisfied or have
lapsed, or it may be deferred, in accordance witth sules as may be established by the Committé@pplicable law, to any later date. The
amount of a deferred distribution may be incredsedn interest factor or by dividend equivalentatilhn Award of Stock Units is settled, the
number of such Stock Units shall be subject tostdjent pursuant to the adjustment provisions ofPtlaa. Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary in any Award agreement or the Plan, aoglSUnits that, by their terms, are settled onapplicable vesting date(s) shall be settled n
later than the fifteenth (15th) day of the thirdd3Bmonth following the end of the calendar yeamteming the applicable vesting date (or, if
later, the fifteenth (15th) day of the third (3rdpnth following the end of the Compasytaxable year). In addition, notwithstanding aimgtto
the contrary in any Award agreement or the Pldiereaces to “termination of the Participant’'s Seeyi “Termination Date” and similar
references for Stock Units that are subject to Caelgtion 409A shall mean the date of the Parti¢ipdseparation from service” within the
meaning of Code Section 409A and such Stock Uh#dl be settled no later than the time permitted tsasury Regulation Section 1.409A-3

(d).

(f) Death of RecipientAny Stock Units Award that becomes payable dfterrecipient’s death shall be distributed to thapient’s
beneficiary or beneficiaries. Each recipient oftac® Units Award under the Plan shall designate a@mmore beneficiaries for this purpose by
filing the prescribed form with the Company. A bfciary designation may be changed by filing thegaribed form with the Company at any
time before the Award recipient’s death. If no Hegiery was designated or if no designated benaficsurvives the Award recipient, then any
Stock Units Award that becomes payable after togient’s death shall be distributed to the recipeestate.

(g) Creditors’ Rights A holder of Stock Units shall have no rights ottiean those of a general creditor of the Comp&gck Units
represent an unfunded and unsecured obligatidmeo€bmpany, subject to the terms and conditionseo&pplicable Stock Unit Award.

(h) Assignment or Transfer of Stock Unitxcept as provided herein, or in a Stock Unit Adyar as required by applicable law, Stock
Units shall not be anticipated, assigned, attachadhished, optioned, transferred or made subgeaty creditor’s process, whether voluntarily,
involuntarily or by operation of law. Any act inakation of this Subsection shall be void. Howevtkis Subsection shall not preclude a
Participant from designating a beneficiary who wéiteive any outstanding Stock Units in the evétih® Participant’s death, nor shall it
preclude a transfer of Stock Units by will or b tlaws of descent and distribution.

SECTION 11. NO RIGHTS AS A STOCKHOLDER

A Participant shall have no rights as a stockholdér respect to any Award until the date of theusnce of a stock certificate for any
Shares covered by such award. No adjustmentsishaflade, except as provided in the adjustment gioms of the Plan.

SECTION 12. PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS.

(a) Awards may, but need not, be made subjecPRerformance Condition utilizing any Performance IGoaddition to any vesting
requirements imposed upon such grant. The detetiminas to whether any such grant is subject terfoPmance Condition shall be made on
or prior to the date of grant.

(b) Except in the case of Awards not intended talifuas “performance-based compensatiantier Code Section 162(m), if an Awar
made subject to a Performance Condition, the Coteengthall be required to establish the Perform&ac®d and Target Performance Goal fol
such award no later than the time permitted byi&edt62(m) of the Internal Revenue Code.

(c) If all or a portion of an Award made subjectt®erformance Condition shall vest prior to thetifeation Date by reason of death,
Total and Permanent Disability or, if applicablecaporate transaction, then the Performance Condshall be cancelled and none of such
Award shall be subject to reduction or forfeitusepmovided by the Performance Condition. Such Avednall be treated in accordance with the
terms of this plan relating to vested shares.

(d) If all or a portion of an Award made subjecat®erformance Condition shall vest prior to theti@eation Date for any reason other
than death, Total and Permanent Disability or @a@te transaction, no portion of the Award shelféleased to or exercised by the Partici
until after the Certification Date. No such vestpipr to the Certification Date shall in any wag theemed a satisfaction, waiver or cancell:
of the Performance Condition, and such Award sfeatlain subject to reduction and forfeiture as ptediby the Performance Condition.
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(e) Once established, a Performance Conditionrfdexecutive Officer may not be waived or cancebgdhe Committee.

SECTION 13. TERMINATION OF SERVICE; LEAVES OF ABSEN CE.

Subject to the last sentence of this Section, idjant’'s Service shall terminate when such perszases to be an Eligible Participant as
determined in the sole discretion of the Commitfe@articipant’s Service does not terminate if hale is a common-law employee and goes
on a bona fide leave of absence as outlined iiCtdrapany’s Guidelines for Equity Plans. Notwithstiaigcthe foregoing, an Outside Director’s
Service shall terminate when he or she is neithmember of the Board of Directors or a consultarthe Company.

SECTION 14. ADJUSTMENT OF SHARES.

(a) Adjustments In the event of a subdivision of the outstanddtgck, or stock split or reverse stock split, alaetion of a dividend
payable in Shares, a declaration of a dividend playia a form other than Shares in an amount thatshmaterial effect on the price of Shar
combination or consolidation of the outstandingr8bgby reclassification or otherwise) into a lessamber of Shares, a recapitalization,
reorganization, merger, liquidation, a spin-offcleange of shares or a similar occurrence (as detedmy the Committee in its sole
discretion), the Committee shall make such adjustaas it, in its sole discretion, deems approgiione or more of:

(i) The number of Shares, Options, SARs, Restri€eares and Stock Units available for future Awandder the Plan;

(ii) The per person per fiscal year limitationsAwards under the Plan and the maximum aggregatdeuof ISOs that may be
awarded under the Plan;

(iii) The number of Shares covered by each outstandward;
(iv) The Exercise Price under each outstandingddpdind SAR; or
(v) The number of Stock Units included in any pravard which has not yet been settled.
Except as provided in this Section, a Participaatishave no rights by reason of any issue by thm@any of stock of any class or

securities convertible into stock of any class, smlgdivision or consolidation of shares of stockoy class, the payment of any dividend or
other increase or decrease in the number of sbésteck of any class.

(b) Dissolution or Liquidation To the extent not previously exercised or seti&gtions, SARs and Stock Units shall terminate
immediately prior to the dissolution or liquidationthe Company.

(c) Corporate Transactionsin the event that the Company is a party to agereor other reorganization, sale of all or sulisiiip all of
the assets of the Company or the acquisition,@aieansfer of more than 50% of the outstandingeshaf the Company by tender offer or
similar transaction, outstanding Awards shall bigiesct to the corporate transaction agreement. gokement may provide for:

(i) The continuation of the outstanding Awards bg Company, if the Company is a surviving corporati

(ii) The assumption of the outstanding Awards tg/ ghrviving corporation or its parent or subsidjary

(iii) The substitution by the surviving corporationits parent or subsidiary of its own awardstfa outstanding Awards;

(iv) Full exercisability or vesting and accelerategbiration of the outstanding Awards; or

(v) Settlement of the full value of the outstandgards in cash or cash equivalents followed byce#iation of such Awards.

(d) Reservation of RightsExcept as provided in this Section, a Particiguatl have no rights by reason of any subdivision
consolidation of shares of stock of any class pdngment of any dividend or any other increase oratese in the number of shares of stock of
any class. Any issue by the Company of sharesooksif any class, or securities convertible intarsk of stock of any class, shall not affect,
and no adjustment by reason thereof shall be mittier@spect to, the number of Shares subject t&veard or the Exercise Price. The grant of
an Award pursuant to the Plan shall not affectnpaay the right or power of the Company to makjistthents, reclassifications,

reorganizations or changes of its capital or bissirstructure, to merge or consolidate or to dissdiguidate, sell or transfer all or any part of
its business or assets.

SECTION 15. AWARDS UNDER OTHER PLANS.




The Company may grant awards under other plansogirgms. Such awards may be settled in the forBhafes issued under this Plan.
Such Shares shall be treated for all purposes thdd?lan like Shares issued in settlement of Stbuks and shall, when issued, reduce the
number of Shares available under the Plan.

SECTION 16. LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS.

No Option may be exercised and no Stock may bedspursuant to an Option or transferred pursuaatRestricted Share award unless
the Committee shall determine that such exerciseigince or transfer complies with all relevant f@ions of law, including, without limitatior
the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, applicaléd¢essecurities laws, and rules and regulations plgated under each of the foregoing, anc
requirements of any stock exchange upon which tbhekSnay then be listed or quotation system upoithvthe Stock may be quoted. If the
Stock subject to this Plan is not registered utideiSecurities Act and under applicable state gg&esitaws, the Committee may require that
Participant deliver to the Company such documesitsoansel for the Company may determine are negessadvisable in order to
substantiate compliance with applicable securlties and the rules and regulations promulgatectthreter. In no event shall the Company
deliver, or be deemed obligated to deliver, cadieinof any Share by reason of any failure tos$atihe foregoing provisions.

So long as any restrictions or obligations impgsecuant to this Plan shall apply to a share, eedificate evidencing such share shall
bear an appropriate legend referring to the tecmsditions and restrictions. In addition, the Compenay instruct its transfer agent that share:
of Stock evidenced by such certificates may ndrdesferred without the written consent of the Camp Any attempt to dispose of such
shares of Stock in contravention of such termsgitmmms and restrictions shall be invalid. Certifies representing shares that have not veste
or with respect to which minimum withholding taxesve not been paid will be held in custody by tleenBany or such bank or other
institution designated by the Committee.

SECTION 17. WITHHOLDING TAXES.

(a) General. To the extent required by applicable federatestiacal or foreign law, a Participant or his er successor shall make
arrangements satisfactory to the Company for thisfaation of any withholding tax obligations thaise in connection with the Plan. The
Company shall not be required to issue any Sharesake any cash payment under the Plan until shifations are satisfied. In the event 1
such withholding taxes are not paid on a timeljiyass determined by the Company in its sole disareto the extent permitted by law the
Company shall have the right, but not the obligatio cause such withholding taxes to be satidfieceducing the number of Shares or cas
applicable) deliverable or by offsetting such withting taxes against amounts otherwise due fronCttrapany to the Participant. If
withholding taxes are paid by reduction of the nemtif Shares deliverable to the Participant, stheles shall be valued at the Fair Market
Value as of the date of exercise.

(b) Share Withholding Unless otherwise provided by the Committee, dgidlpant may satisfy all or part of his or her rmmim
withholding or income tax obligations by having thempany withhold all or a portion of any Shares ttherwise would be issued to him or
her or by surrendering all or a portion of any ®isahat he or she previously acquired. Subjecppti@able law and accounting considerations,
such Shares shall be valued at their Fair Markéd/an the date when the amount of tax to be withiseto be determined. A Participant may
elect to surrender, or attest to the ownership@yiously acquired Shares in excess of the ammgpiired to satisfy all or a part of his or her
minimum withholding or income tax obligations prded that such Shares have been held by the Partidigr such period of time required to
avoid the Company’s recognition of additional comgeion expense for financial reporting purposes @E&sult of the surrender or attestation
of such previously owned shares.

SECTION 18. NO EMPLOYMENT OR REELECTION RIGHTS.

No provision of the Plan, nor any right or Awardugred under the Plan, shall be construed to giygarson any right to become, to be
treated as, or to remain an Eligible Participaite Tompany and its Subsidiaries and Affiliates meséhe right to terminate any person’s
Service at any time and for any reason, with ohauit notice. No provision of the Plan nor any righiAward granted under the Plan shall be
construed to create any obligation on the parhefBoard of Directors to nominate any Outside Doefor reelection by the Company’s
stockholders, or confer upon any Outside Diredterright to remain a member of the Board of Diresfor any period of time, or at any
particular rate of compensation.

SECTION 19. DURATION AND AMENDMENTS.

(a) Term of the Plan The Plan, as set forth herein, shall terminateraatically on the meeting of the stockholdershaf Company in
2022, unless re-adopted or extended by the Compaiytkholders prior to or on such date and magtminated on any earlier date by the
Board of Directors or the Compensation Committsedescribed in the next Subsection.
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(b) Right to Amend or Terminate the Plafhe Compensation Committee may amend or termthat®lan at any time and from time to
time. Rights and obligations under any Award grdrifefore amendment or termination of the Plan stalbe materially impaired by such
amendment or termination, except with consent efpterson to whom the Award was granted. An amentlofehe Plan shall be subject to the
approval of the Company’s stockholders to the extenuired by applicable laws, regulations or rpiesluding, but not limited to, any
applicable rules or regulations of the Nasdaq Qldtaxket. In addition, no material amendment mayntsle to the plan without the approval
of the Company’s stockholders.

(c) Effect of Amendment or TerminatioNo Shares shall be issued or sold under thedftanthe termination thereof, except upon
exercise of an Award granted prior to such terniamafThe termination of the Plan, or any amendntiesiteof, shall not adversely affect any
Shares previously issued or any Awards previousytgd under the Plan.

SECTION 20. PLAN EFFECTIVENESS.

This Plan shall become effective upon its appryahe Company’s stockholders. Upon its effectiwn¢he Plan shall supersede the
prior plan such that no further awards shall be enamtler the prior plan. This Plan shall not, in sy, affect awards under the prior plan that
are outstanding as of the date this Plan beconfestiet. If the Company’s stockholders do not apprthis Plan, no Awards will be made
under this Plan.

SECTION 21. GOVERNING LAW

The Plan shall be governed by the substantive {awduding the conflict of law rules) of the StatieDelaware.

11



EXHIBIT 10.10

FORMFACTOR, INC.
EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN
(As Amended and Restated April 18, 2012)

1. Establishment of Plan FormFactor, Inc. (the Company”) proposes to grant options for purchase of the CoyipaCommo
Stock to eligible employees of the Company ané&gicipating Subsidiaries (as hereinafter defiprdsuant to this Employee Stock Purcl
Plan (this “Plan ). For purposes of this Plan,Parent Corporation” and “ Subsidiary” shall have the same meanings as “parent corporati
and “subsidiary corporation” in Sections 424(e) d2d(f), respectively, of the Internal Revenue Cofl&é986, as amended (theCbde”). “
Participating Subsidiaries” are Parent Corporations or Subsidiaries thaBibard of Directors of the Company (th&bard”) designates fro
time to time as corporations that shall particigatéhis Plan. The Company intends this Plan tdifyuas an “employee stock purchase plan
under Section 423 of the Code (including any ameamdmto or replacements of such Section), andPtlais shall be so construed. Any term
expressly defined in this Plan but defined for msgs of Section 423 of the Code shall have the shefieition herein. A total of 4,000,0
shares of the Company's Common Stock are reseoreigduance under this Plan. Such number shalubged to adjustments effectec
accordance with Section 14 of this Plan.

2. Purpose. The purpose of this Plan is to provide eligiblapboyees of the Company and Participating Subsetiawith ¢
convenient means of acquiring an equity interesh@nCompany through payroll deductions, to enhawuot employees' sense of participe
in the affairs of the Company and Participating Sdilaries, and to provide an incentive for contitheenployment.

3. Administration . This Plan shall be administered by the Compenmsaiommittee of the Board (theCommitte€”’). Subject to th
provisions of this Plan and the limitations of $&tt423 of the Code or any successor provisio@Gode, or limitations imposed by ot
taxing jurisdictions, as applicable, all questimfsinterpretation or application of this Plan shaé determined by the Committee anc
decisions shall be final and binding upon all mptints. Members of the Committee shall receivecampensation for their services
connection with the administration of this Plarhartthan standard fees as established from tintientoby the Board for services renderet
Board members serving on Board committees. All agpse incurred in connection with the administratdrthis Plan shall be paid by 1
Company.

4. Eligibility . Any employee of the Company or the ParticipatBupsidiaries is eligible to participate in an Offfigr Period (a
hereinafter defined) under this Plan except thieohg:

(a) employees who are not employed by the Compargy Rarticipating Subsidiary prior to the beginnfgsuch Offerin
Period or prior to such other time period as spetiby the Committee, under the Plan;

(b) employees who, together with any other pershosg stock would be attributed to such employesyant to Section 424
(d) of the Code, own stock or hold options to pasghstock possessing five percent (5%) or morbeofdtal combined voting power or va
of all classes of stock of the Company or any ®Participating Subsidiaries or who, as a resuliedfig granted an option under this Plan
respect to such Offering Period, would own stockad options to purchase stock possessing fivegm(5%) or more of the total combii
voting power or value of all classes of stock & @ompany or any of its Participating Subsidiarée®]

(c) individuals who provide services to the Companyany of its Participating Subsidiaries as indejsnt contractors wil
are reclassified as common law employees for aasomre excepior federal income and employment tax purposes.

Participating in the Plan does not change the st@itan employee from being an “at will” employee.

5. Offering Dates.The offering periods of this Plan (each, a®ffering Period”) shall be of twelve (12) months fixed durai
commencing on February 1 of each calendar yeaeadohg on January 31 of the subsequent calendamlapeieof six (6) months fixed durati
commencing on August 1 of each calendar year adohgmon January 31 of the subsequent calendar year.

The twelve (12) month Offering Periods shall consistwo (2) six month purchase periods and the(6)xmonth Offerini
Periods shall consist of one (1) six month purchmsed (individually, an appropriatePurchase Period) during which payroll deductions
the participants are accumulated under this Plha.fifst market trading day of each Offering Peiimdeferred to as theOffering Date”. The






last market trading day of each Purchase Perigdfésred to as the Purchase Date’. The Committee shall have the power to chang
Offering Dates, the Purchase Dates and the duraftiddffering Periods or Purchase Periods withoatlgtolder approval if such change
announced prior to the relevant Offering Periogor to such other time period as specified byGloenmittee.

6. Participation in this Plan. Eligible employees may become participants irDéfiering Period under this Plan after satisfying
eligibility requirements and by delivering a suligtion agreement to the Company prior to the conwaarent of such Offering Period (or s
other time as may be specified by the Company ®Gbmmittee). Once an employee becomes a participam Offering Period by filing
subscription agreement, such employee will autarabyi participate in the Offering Period commencimgmediately following the last day
the prior Offering Period unless the employee widlws or terminates participation. Such participanhot required to file any additior
subscription agreement in order to continue padiion in this Plan.

7. Grant of Option on Enrollment . Enroliment by an eligible employee in this Plaithwespect to an Offering Period v
constitute the grant (as of the Offering Date) iy Company to such employee of an option to puecbashe Purchase Date up to that nui
of shares of Common Stock of the Company determinyed fraction, the numerator of which is the antcaccumulated in such employe
payroll deduction account during such PurchaseoBeand the denominator of which is the lower ofefghtyfive percent (85%) of the fe
market value of a share of the Company's CommonkStm the Offering Date (but in no event less thiaam par value of a share of
Company's Common Stock), or (ii) eigttye percent (85%) of the fair market value of aghof the Company's Common Stock on
Purchase Date (but in no event less than the pae \d a share of the Company's Common Stock),pradided, further, that the number
shares of the Company's Common Stock subject tooatign granted pursuant to this Plan shall noteegcthe lesser of (x) the maxim
number of shares which may be purchased pursugs¢dton 10(a) below with respect to the applicaliechase Date, or (y) the maxim
number of shares which may be purchased pursueé®gdtion 10(c) below with respect to the applicabliechase Date. The fair market vi
of a share of the Company's Common Stock shaleberahined as provided in Section 8 below.

8. Purchase Price The purchase price per share at which a sha@oofmon Stock will be sold in any Offering Periocakstbe
eighty-five percent (85%) of the lesser of:

(a) The fair market value on the Offering Date; or
(b) The fair market value on the Purchase Date

The term “fair market value” means, as of any date, the value of a shareeo€ttmpany's Common Stock determined as follows:

(a) if such Common Stock is then quoted on the Blgagdlobal Market, the last transactisrprice quoted on the Nast
Global Market on the date of determination as reggbatwww.nasdag.com

(b) if such Common Stock is publicly traded anthisn listed on a national securities exchange|dising price on the date
determination on the principal national securitiechange on which the Common Stock is listed oritddito trading as reported
www.nasdag.comor

(c) if such Common Stock is publicly traded bubét quoted on the Nasdaq Global Market nor listeddmitted to trading ¢
a national securities exchange, the average afltising bid and asked prices on the date of detertion aWwww.nasdag.com

9. Payment Of Purchase Price; Changes In Payrdleductions; Issuance Of Shares.

(a) The purchase price of the shares is accumulatecbgular payroll deductions made during eaclclfage Period. Tl
deductions are made as a percentage of the parnttspompensation in one percent (1%) incremesttiens than one percent (1%), nor gre
than fifteen percent (15%) or such lower limit bgtthe Committee. Compensation shall mean al2 VWash compensation, including, but
limited to, base salary, wages, commissions, awertishift premiums, plus draws against commissi@®termined consistently for {
Company and Participating Subsidiaries), providédwever, that for purposes of determining a participacmpensation, any election
such participant to reduce his or her regular casfuneration under Sections 125 or 401(k) of thdeCshall be treated as if the participant
not make such election. Payroll deductions shathroence on the first payday of the Offering Period ahall continue to the end of
Offering Period unless sooner altered or terminategrovided in this Plan.

(b) A participant may not increase the rate of pHyieductions at any time during an Offering Périé participant ma
decrease the rate of payroll deductions during #ari@g Period by filing with the Company a new laottization for payroll deductions,
which case the new rate shall become effectiveoan as practicable commencing after the Compaegsipt of the authorization and sl
continue unless otherwise instructed by the Pagidi. Such decrease in the rate of payroll dedustinay be made at any time during
Offering






Period, but not more than one (1) change may beerefféctive during any Purchase Period. A partitipaay increase the rate of pay
deductions for the subsequent Offering Period begmin February and a participant may decreaserdte of payroll deductions for a
subsequent Offering Period by filing with the Compa new authorization for payroll deductions priorthe beginning of such Offeri
Period, or such other time period as specifiecheyGompany or the Committee.

(c) A participant may reduce his or her payroll gettbn percentage to zero during an Offering Pebgdfiling with the
Company a request for cessation of payroll dednstiSuch reduction shall be effective beginning@m as practicable after the Compe
receipt of the request and no further payroll déidas will be made for the duration of the OfferiRgriod. Payroll deductions credited to
participants account prior to the effective date of the retigball be used to purchase shares of Common $fatle Company in accordar
with Section (e) below. A participant may not resumaking payroll deductions during the Offeringi®e&rin which he or she reduced his
her payroll deductions to zero.

(d) All payroll deductions made for a participan¢ @redited to his or her account under this Plahae deposited with t
general funds of the Company. No interest accrumethe payroll deductions. All payroll deductionse®ed or held by the Company may
used by the Company for any corporate purposettf@@ompany shall not be obligated to segregate gagroll deductions.

(e) On each Purchase Date, so long as this Plaaimerm effect and provided that the participarg hat submitted a sign
and completed withdrawal form before that date Whiotifies the Company that the participant wisteewithdraw from that Offering Peri
under this Plan and have all payroll deductionsiandated in the account maintained on behalf ofpdgicipant as of that date returned tc
participant, the Company shall apply the funds thethe participant's account to the purchase obleslshares of Common Stock resel
under the option granted to such participant wégpect to the Offering Period to the extent thahsaption is exercisable on the Purchase |
The purchase price per share shall be as spedifi8dction 8 of this Plan. Any cash remaining ipaaticipant's account after such purchas
shares shall be refunded to such participant ih,csghout interest; provided, however that any amtaemaining in such participant's acce
on a Purchase Date which is less than the amogesgary to purchase a full share of Common Stotheo€Company shall be carried forw:
without interest, into the next Purchase Perio@fiering Period, as the case may be. In the evattthis Plan has been oversubscribet
funds not used to purchase shares on the Purchaigedball be returned to the participant, withoueriest. No Common Stock shall
purchased on a Purchase Date on behalf of any gaglshose participation in this Plan has terminatéal to such Purchase Date.

(f) As promptly as practicable after the Purchas¢éeDthe Company shall issue shares for the pazati€s benefit represent
the shares purchased upon exercise of his or tienop

(g) During a participant's lifetime, his or her iopt to purchase shares hereunder is exercisabie tpnhim or her. Th
participant will have no interest or voting rightshares covered by his or her option until sudfoophas been exercised.

10. Limitations on Shares to be Purchased.

(a) The maximum number of shares purchasable byparticipant on any one Purchase Date shall natexkd 0,000 shart
Such number shall be subject to adjustments inrdaoce with Section 14 of this Plan and shall wth&r subject to other limits as describe
Sections 10(b) and 10(c) below.

(b) No participant shall be entitled to purchasektunder this Plan at a rate which, when aggreigatth his or her rights
purchase stock under all other employee stock pgectplans of the Company or any Subsidiary, exc&28s000 in fair market valt
determined as of the Offering Date (or such otlmit las may be imposed by the Code) for each caleyéar in which the employ
participates in this Plan. The Company shall autarally suspend the payroll deductions of any jggséint as necessary to enforce such
provided that when the Company automatically resusueh payroll deductions, the Company must apyayate in effect immediately prior
such suspension.

(c) No more than two hundred percent (200%) ofrthmber of shares determined by using eidiwg-percent (85%) of tt
fair market value of a share of the Company's ComBtock on the Offering Date as the denominator beapurchased by a participant on
single Purchase Date.

(d) If the number of shares to be purchased onrehBge Date by all employees participating in Bien exceeds the num
of shares then available for issuance under tlis,Rhen the Company will make a pro rata allocatibthe remaining shares in as unifor
manner as shall be reasonably practicable andeaSdmmittee shall determine to be equitable. Imswent, the Company shall give writ
notice of such reduction of the number of shardsetpurchased under a participant's option to padicipant affected.




(e) Any payroll deductions accumulated in a pgptait's account which are not used to purchase siaeho the limitations
this Section 10 shall be returned to the partidipsnsoon as practicable after the end of the egdpk Purchase Period, without interest.

11. Withdrawal.

(a) Each participant may withdraw from an Offerfgriod under this Plan by signing and deliverintheoCompany a writte
notice to that effect on a form provided for suchigmse. Such withdrawal may be elected at any tiriee to the end of a Purchase Perioc
such other time period as specified by the Commitirethe Company.

(b) Upon withdrawal from this Plan, the accumulafed/roll deductions shall be returned to the wigstwdr participan
without interest, and his or her interest in thisnPshall terminate. In the event a participanuntdrily elects to withdraw from this Plan, he
she may not resume his or her participation in Bi&n during the same Offering Period, but he ermslay participate in any Offering Per
under this Plan which commences on a date subsetpusanch withdrawal by filing a new subscriptiogreement in the same manner a
forth in Section 6 above for initial participatiomthis Plan.

12. Termination of Employment. Termination of a participant's employment for amason, including retirement, death or
failure of a participant to remain an eligible emme of the Company or of a Participating Subsydianmediately terminates his or |
participation in this Plan. In such event, the pdydleductions credited to the participant's ac¢auil be returned to him or her or, in the ¢
of his or her death, to his or her legal represgestawithout interest. For purposes of this Settl®, an employee will not be deemed to |
terminated employment or failed to remain in thatomous employ of the Company or of a ParticigatBubsidiary in the case of sick lec
military leave, or any other leave of absence apgudy the Board; providetthat such leave is for a period of not more tharetyi (90) days «
reemployment upon the expiration of such leavaiagnteed by contract or statute.

13. Return of Payroll Deductions. In the event a participant's interest in thisnPig terminated by withdrawal, termination
employment or otherwise, or in the event this Réaerminated by the Board, the Company shall éelie the participant all payroll deductit
credited to such participant's account. No inteshatl accrue on the payroll deductions of a pigiat in this Plan.

14. Capital Changes Subject to any required action by the stockhaddrthe Company, the number of shares of Commook
covered by each option under this Plan which hasymb been exercised and the number of shares ofn@m Stock which have be
authorized for issuance under this Plan but hatgetdbeen placed under option (collectively, tHeeserves), as well as the price per shart
Common Stock covered by each option under this Rlsinh has not yet been exercised and the maximumber of shares of Common St
purchasable per participant on any one Purchase, Blaall be proportionately adjusted for any inseear decrease in the number of issuec
outstanding shares of Common Stock of the Compeaswylting from a stock split or the payment of aktdividend (but only on the Comm
Stock) or any other increase or decrease in thebrurof issued and outstanding shares of CommonkSifiected without receipt of a
consideration by the Company; providedowever, that conversion of any convertible securitieshef Company shall not be deemed to |
been “effected without receipt of considerationlicB adjustment shall be made by the Committekose determination shall be final, binc
and conclusive. Except as expressly provided hergnissue by the Company of shares of stock ofdags, or securities convertible i
shares of stock of any class, shall affect, an@djastment by reason thereof shall be made witheststo, the number or price of share
Common Stock subject to an option.

In the event of the proposed dissolution or ligtima of the Company, the Offering Period will terrate immediately prior to tl
consummation of such proposed action, unless otsemrovided by the Committee. The Committee mayhe exercise of its sole discrel
in such instances, declare that this Plan shatiitexte as of a date fixed by the Committee and gaeh participant the right to purchase st
under this Plan prior to such termination. In thvere of (i) a merger or consolidation in which tBempany is not the surviving corporat
(other than a merger or consolidation with a whollyned subsidiary, a reincorporation of the Compeng different jurisdiction, or oth
transaction in which there is no substantial changbe stockholders of the Company or their relastock holdings and the options under
Plan are assumed, converted or replaced by theessmccorporation, which assumption will be bindamgall participants), (i) a merger
which the Company is the surviving corporation aftér which the stockholders of the Company immiedljgprior to such merger (other tt
any stockholder that merges, or which owns or aistanother corporation that merges, with the Camipa such merger) cease to own t
shares or other equity interest in the Companiy,tie sale of all or substantially all of the a@ssaf the Company or (iv) the acquisition, sal
transfer of more than 50% of the outstanding shafé¢ise Company by tender offer or similar trangactthe Plan will continue with regard
Offering Periods that commenced prior to the clggihthe proposed transaction and shares will behased based on the Fair Market Valt
the surviving corporation’s stock on each Purchaae, unless otherwise provided by the Committee.

The Committee may, if it so determines in the eiserof its sole discretion, also make provisionddjusting the Reserves, as we
the price per share of Common Stock covered by eatstanding option, in the event that the Compeifigcts one or more reorganizatic
recapitalizations, rights offerings or other inaes or reductions of shares of its outstanding Com8tock, or in the event of the Comp
being consolidated with or merged into any otheporation.
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15. Nonassignability. Neither payroll deductions credited to a par8cifls account nor any rights with regard to the@se of al
option or to receive shares under this Plan magdséggned, transferred, pledged or otherwise digpoéén any way (other than by will, t
laws of descent and distribution or as provide8éation 22 below) by the participant. Any suchrafieat assignment, transfer, pledge or ¢
disposition shall be void and without effect.

16. Reports. Individual accounts will be maintained for eadhrtripant in this Plan. Each participant shalleige promptly after tk
end of each Purchase Period a report of his cad@yunt setting forth the total payroll deductiamsumulated, the number of shares purch
the per share price thereof and the remaining baknce, if any, carried forward to the next PusehBeriod or Offering Period, as the «
may be.

17. Notice of Disposition. Each participant shall notify the Company in imgt if the participant disposes of any of the sk
purchased in any Offering Period pursuant to thas i such disposition occurs within two (2) yeétem the Offering Date or within one |
year from the Purchase Date on which such shares pitechased (th* Notice Period”). The Company may, at any time during the N¢
Period, place a legend or legends on any certifiogtresenting shares acquired pursuant to thisrBtaesting the Company's transfer age
notify the Company of any transfer of the shardse ®bligation of the participant to provide suchiec® shall continue notwithstanding
placement of any such legend on the certificates.

18. No Rights to Continued Employment Neither this Plan nor the grant of any optioneueider shall confer any right on
employee to remain in the employ of the Companwmy Participating Subsidiary, or restrict the rigitthe Company or any Participat
Subsidiary to terminate such employee's employment.

19. Equal Rights And Privileges All eligible employees shall have equal rightsl qumivileges with respect to this Plan so that
Plan qualifies as an “employee stock purchase plattiin the meaning of Section 423 or any succepsovision of the Code and the rele
regulations. Any provision of this Plan which igdmsistent with Section 423 or any successor piavisf the Code shall, without further ac
amendment by the Company, the Committee or thedBdmr reformed to comply with the requirements eft®n 423. This Section 19 st
take precedence over all other provisions in thas P

20. Notices. All notices or other communications by a part&ipto the Company under or in connection with #ian shall b
deemed to have been duly given when received irfdim specified by the Company at the locationbgrthe person, designated by
Company for the receipt thereof.

21. Term; Stockholder Approval. This Plan shall be approved by the stockholderthefCompany, in any manner permittec
applicable corporate law, within twelve (12) montiedore or after the date this Plan is adoptedhbyBoard. This Plan shall continue until
earlier to occur of (a) termination of this Planthg Board (which termination may be effected by Board at any time), (b) issuance of a
the shares of Common Stock reserved for issuangderhis Plan, or (c) the Company’s annual medtirp22.

22. Designation of Beneficiary

(a) A participant may file a written designation afbeneficiary who is to receive any shares anth,casany, from th
participant's account under this Plan in the ewérstuch participant's death subsequent to the éadRurchase Period but prior to deliver
him of such shares and cash. In addition, a ppditi may file a written designation of a benefigiarho is to receive any cash from
participant's account under this Plan in the eeéstich participant's death prior to a Purchase Dat

(b) Such designation of beneficiary may be chargethe participant at any time by written notice the event of the dee
of a participant and in the absence of a beneficialidly designated under this Plan who is liviaigthe time of such participant's death,
Company shall deliver such shares or cash to theudar or administrator of the estate of the pagpict, or if no such executor or administri
has been appointed (to the knowledge of the Conpémy Company, in its discretion, may deliver ssblares or cash to the spouse or tc
one or more dependents or relatives of the padtitipor if no spouse, dependent or relative is kmtmthe Company, then to such other pe
as the Company may designate.

23. Conditions Upon Issuance of Shares; Limitatih on Sale of Shares Shares shall not be issued with respect to a@nrophles
the exercise of such option and the issuance alinedeof such shares pursuant thereto shall comygth all applicable provisions of la
domestic or foreign, including, without limitatiothe Securities Act, the Securities Exchange Ad3¥4, as amended, the rules and regule
promulgated thereunder, and the requirements olstogk exchange or automated quotation system which the shares may then be lis
and shall be further subject to the approval ofhselifor the Company with respect to such compéanc




24. Applicable Law. The Plan shall be governed by the substantives I@xcluding the conflict of laws rules) of the tStat
Delaware.

25. Amendment or Termination of this Plan. The Board may at any time amend, terminate arekthe term of this Plan, exc
that any such termination cannot affect optionsiptesly granted under this Plan, nor may any amerdmmake any change in an op
previously granted which would adversely affect tight of any participant, nor may any amendmentniede without approval of t
stockholders of the Company obtained in accordavitte Section 21 above within twelve (12) monthstod adoption of such amendment
earlier if required by Section 21) if such amendbwould:

(a) increase the number of shares that may bedsswer this Plan; or
(b) change the designation of the employees (@saéemployees) eligible for participation in tRi&n.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board may makehsamendments to the Plan as the Board deterrurtes advisable,

the continuation of the Plan or any Offering Penalld result in financial accounting treatment fioe Plan that is different from the finan
accounting treatment in effect on the date this Badopted by the Board.



EXHIBIT 10.19

August 29, 2012

Mike Slessor
Dear Mike,

We welcome the opportunity to offer you a salariedempt position with FormFactor, Inc. (the “Comyanr “FormFactor”) as :
Senior Vice President and General Manager of th€ B@siness, subject to the completion of the adéprnsof Astria Semiconductor Holding
Inc. and its subsidiaries including MicroProbe,.I(mllectively, “Astria”) by the Company (the “Aaggition”) pursuant to a merger agreen
expected to be executed by the Company and cextia@r parties thereto (the “Merger AgreemenYdur starting date will be the closing d
of the Acquisition (the “Closing Date”)f you remain employed by Astria until such dafethie Acquisition is not completed, this offer wlié
null and void.

You will report to the Chief Executive Officer obFmFactor and will receive an annual salary of $2@6, which will be paid bi-
weekly in accordance with, and subject to, the Camy{s normal payroll procedures. Additionally, you vk eligible to participate in a c¢
incentive plan at an annualized target rate of @3%our earned annual salary, subject to meetirggifipd performance objectives. Reg!
full-time employees of the Company are eligible¢oeive certain employee benefits, which may franetto time change at the Company’
discretion. These currently include:

» Medical, Dental and Vision Insurance Bent

» Short-Term and Londerm Disability Insurance Covere
e Group Life Insuranc

« Paid TimeOff (or vacation and sick leave, as applica

* 401k Plan with matc

e Section 125 Flex Spending P

 Employee Assistance Progr

» Employee Stock Purchase F

Employee and dependent contributions are outlimedur Benefit Plan Summary. Please note that fostnpoirposes under t
FormFactor benefit and compensation plans, yowicedate will be reflected as your hire date atrids Prior to the Closing Date, you v
receive further information about continuation aftda benefits and of applicable FormFactor besefit

We will recommend that the ComparyCompensation Committee approve the following tggaivards, which will be subject to
terms and conditions of the Company’s Equity IncenPlan and award agreement:

*  On or following the Closing Date, a restrictédck unit award for 60,000 Company shares, whidhwest in three equal
annual installments from the grant date.

* On or following the Closing Date, a performanmgsed restricted stock unit award for 30,000 Comsnares at target, ti
will be earned (between 0% and 125% of such tafggedd on 2013 performance, as set forth on ExAibiereto. If earne
the award will be eligible for servideased vesting in an amount equal to 50% of theedaaward in the first quarter of 2(
after the Compensation Committee determines whetieer2013 performance criteria were met and 50%henoneyeal
anniversary of such determination.

* In addition, at a later date, we expect thatGenpensation Committee will grant you a perforngdmased restricted sta
unit award for 50,000 Company shares at target, Mlilabe earned based on 2014 performance, aosét on Exhibit £
hereto. If earned, the award will be eligible fendcebased vesting in an amount equal to 50% of theegaamvard in th
first quarter of 2015 after the




Employment Offer Letter
Mike Slessor
Page 2 of 2

Compensation Committee determines whether the pédférmance criteria were met and 50% on theywa-anniversary
such determination.

Your agreement to accept this offer is continggyaruyour ability to show proof of your legal rigtat work for the Company in tl
United States as well as successfully completihgakground check required for all new hires.

As a condition of your employment you are requitedsign and return to the company our standard égent Regardir
Employment, Confidential Information, Invention Agisment, and Arbitration (the “Confidentiality Agrmment”).A copy for your signature
enclosed. We will not be able to commence your egment until we have received a signed copy of doisument. If you accept this off
please return a signed copy to me, along with g@med Equityholder Non-Compete Agreement.

You should be aware that your employment with tlen@any is for no specified period and constitutewith employment. As
result, you are free to resign at any time, for mgson or for no reason. Similarly, the Comparfyeis to conclude its employmemgationshi
with you at any time, with or without cause.

By accepting this offer and if the Acquisition isnspleted, you agree that any existing offer letteemployment agreement betw
you and Astria, including without limitation the &osutive Employment Agreement dated August 6, 20B@ “Existing Employmer
Agreement”), will terminate and will be supersedtthis offer letter and the Confidentiality Agreent.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if, prior to thedfiranniversary of the Closing Date, you are teriteithdoy the Company without Cal
(as defined in the Existing Employment Agreememtyau resign for Good Reason (as defined in thestixg Employment Agreement), tt
you will be eligible to receive severance benedijsial to six months of your base salary, payabkelimp sum on the 4"day following you
“separation from service” (within the meaning oftBen 409A of the Code), if you sign and let becoaffective on or before such 4%lay ¢
general release of claims, releasing all claimsykmor unknown, that you may have arising out ofagny way related to your employmen
termination of employment with the Company, Astiatheir affiliates, and if you continue to compijth the Confidentiality Agreement (
defined below) and the Equityholder N@ompete Agreement that you are executing in coioregtith the Merger Agreement. The foregc
severance shall be in lieu of any severance prdvitheler any other Company or Astria plan, policyagreement and shall be reduced by
notice period (or pay in lieu thereof) requireddpplicable federal or state law. You acknowledge agree that this offer by the Company
the closing of the Acquisition do not constituted@él Reason” under this offer letter or your ExigtEmployment Agreement.

If you accept this offer and remain employed byriasuntil immediately prior to the closing of thecduisition, we will consent
Astria accelerating your unvested Astria stock api immediately prior to such closing. After the rigler Agreement is signed, you \
separately receive further information about thesideration you will receive under the Merger Agneat for your Astria shares and/or ve:
stock options, as applicable.

You hereby agree that if any payment or benefigdeunhis offer letter or any other agreement wittria or the Company would
subject to any excise tax pursuant to Section 4%9he Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended “@ode”), such payments and
benefits shall be reduced (to the least extentilple3sn order to avoid any “excess parachute payender Section 280G(b)(1) of the Cc
unless Astria obtains shareholder approval of agments and/or benefits in compliance with Sec80G of the Code.

As a FormFactor employee you are required to conaplall times with the Comparsg/various rules, policies and procedt
including those set forth in our Statement of Coap® code of Business Conduct (the “Codaf)d our Statement of Policy Regarding Ins
Trading (“Policy Statement”). Copies of these doeuis are available via the Corporate Governanadgoseaf www.FormFactor.com Pleas
accessvww.FormFactor.comand select Investors, Stockholder Information, @ompe Governance. As a condition of employment sce
required to sign and return to the Company theomecl Acknowledgement relating to the Policy Statgraed the Code.

You should understand that, while referenced in dffer letter, the Company rules, policies andcpdures are not incorporated
reference into this offer letter, and they can ha&nged, replaced or withdrawn at any time at teerdtion of the Company.




Employment Offer Letter
Mike Slessor
Page 3 of 3

To indicate your acceptance of the Comparffer, please sign and date this letter in treceprovided below and return it with
other new hire forms in the enclosed envelope. plidate original is enclosed for your records. Tlaer, along with the Confidential
Agreement, set forth the terms of your employmeith the Company and supersede any prior represemsadr agreements, whether writtel
oral. This letter may not be modified or amendedegx by a written agreement, signed by an offiédhe Company and by you. This offel
not accepted, will expire five (5) days from théeofdate. Please call me if you have any questions.

We look forward to your favorable reply and to aguctive, fun and exciting work relationship.

Sincerely,

“Vou H Dewwa

Tom St. Dennis
CEO
FormFactor, Inc.

M:W. 79— this  _31% day of___August 2012

R
NAME — Y

Enclosures:

- Agreement Regarding Employment, Confidential infation, Invention Assignment, and Arbitration
- Equityholder Non-Compete Agreement

- Acknowledgements




Exhibit A
Performance RSU Goals

The Performance Goal Multiplier for FY 2013 perf@amece (measured on the current MicroProbe productsteeir derivatives) iboth
Revenue and Gross Margin goals are met as follows:

Revenue Gross Margin % PRSUs Earned Gross Margin |% PRSUs Earned
$115M 40% 30% 43% 50%

$120M 40% 80% 43% 100%

$125M 40% 105% 43% 125%

Below $115M Revenue@r below 40% Gross Margin, results in 0% of the PR8elag earne

If a Revenue goal in the table above is achigtrezh for Gross Margin achievement between 40%4&84, linear interpolation
will be used to determine the percentage of PR3ldseel between the amounts set forth in the appéidate item in the table
above.

125% is the maximum Multiplie

The Performance Goal Multiplier for FY 2014 perfamece (measured on the current MicroProbe productdteeir derivatives) iboth
Revenue and Gross Margin goals are met as follows::

Revenue Gross Margin % PRSUs Earned Gross Margin |% PRSUs Earned
$130M 40% 30% 43% 50%

$135M 40% 80% 43% 100%

$140M 40% 105% 43% 125%

Below $130M Revenuer below 40% Gross Margin, results in 0% of the PR8giag earne:

If a Revenue goal in the table above is achigtrezh for Gross Margin achievement between 40%4&84, linear interpolation
will be used to determine the percentage of PR3ldseel between the amounts set forth in the appéidate item in the table
above.

125% is the maximum Multiplie




EQUITYHOLDER NON-COMPETE AGREEMENT

August 29, 2012

Mike Slessor

This letter agreement (thisBgreement”) between you and Form Factor, Inc. (th&cuiror ") is being entered into in
connection with the Agreement and Plan of Mergem(ay be amended, thélerger Agreement™) dated on or about August
31, 2012 among Astria Semiconductor Holdings, (tie "Company"), Acquiror, and certain other parties (thlérger

Agreement").

You understand that the Company will become a whmNned subsidiary of Acquiror (the "Acquisitiorifand when
the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agre¢are consummated (the effective date of the Asitijom, the "Closing
Date"), and that you are entering this Agreemegbimr capacity as an equityholder of the Comparih wikey and significant

role with the Company.

In order to induce Acquiror to enter into the Marggreement, and to preserve the goodwill and petgy rights of thi
Company for Acquiror's benefit, you hereby coverard agree as follows:

1. Commencing on the Effective Time and continwingl the first
anniversary of the Closing Date, you shall not oassist or have any interest in, whether alones @r gartner, officer, director,
employee, consultant, agent, independent
contractor, stockholder or equity owner of any campor business organization, any business orpigerengaged in the
Company's business (such business, together wytbther business of the Company reasonably contgatphs of the Closing
Date being collectively referred to herein as ti@ompetitive Business'). Notwithstanding the foregoing, you may own,edgl
as a passive investment, securities in any coriporat other business entity whose securitiesragetl on a national securities
exchange stong as you do not beneficially own, directly or inditlgc 1% or more of the equity securities of anyrsuc
corporation or business entity.

2. If any restriction set forth in this Agreemesnfaund by a court to be unenforceable, then yoeeag@nd hereby
submit, to the reduction and limitation of suchipbition to such area, time period or other exenshall be deemed enforcea

3. You acknowledge and agree that Acquiror's rena¢dgw for a breach or threatened breach of papdgr above would
be inadequate. In recognition of this fact, in¢went of a breach by you thereof, you agree thatddition to Acquiror's remedy
at law, Acquiror shall be entitled to obtain eghitarelief in the form of specific performance, fmmary restraining order,
temporary or permanent injunction or any
other equitable remedy which may then be availdidghing herein contained shall be

construed as prohibiting Acquiror from pursuing arlyer remedies available to it for such breacthgatened breach.

4. This Agreement may be amended or altered ordimiting signed by you and Acquiror. This Agreershall be
construed and interpreted in accordance with tvs (af the State ofCalifomia. In case anyone or nobie provisions or parts
ofa provision contained in this Agreement shall,doy reason, be held to be invalid, illegal ornfoeceable in any respect,




such invalidity, illegadity or unenforceability $haot affect any other provision or part of a pigion of this Agreement; and this
Agreement shall, to the fullest extent permitteddwy, be reformed and construed as if such invaliflegal or unenforceable
provision, or part of a provision, had never beentained herein, and such provision or part refarseethat it would be valid,

legal and
enforceable to the maximum extent possible.

5. This Agreement may not be assigned or deledatgu, but may be assigned or delegated by Acg(éoto an affiliat:

of Acquiror, (b) in the event that Acquiror shadl merged with, or consolidated into, any other cmapon, to the surviving
corporation, or (c) in the event that Acquiror $lsall and transfer substantially all of its asgetr shall become a subsidiary

another entity, to such entity.
If the Merger Agreement is terminated without cansuation of the Acquisition, this Agreement will bell and void.
Please sign and date this Agreement below andrétto me.
Sincerely,
FormFactor, Inc.

Nou St Do

Name: Tom ST, Dennis
Title: CEO

I agre.e to the te nditions in this Agreement.

Date: ?/:- [



EXHIBIT 21.01

LIST OF REGISTRANT'S SUBSIDIARIES

SUBSIDIARY NAME JURISDICTION OF ORGANIZATION
FormFactor Electronics Trading (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. People's Republic of China
FormFactor Germany GmbH Germany

FormFactor Hungary Licensing Limited Liability Coanupy Hungary

FormFactor International, Inc. Delaware, United States
FormFactor, KK Japan

FormFactor Korea, Inc. South Korea

FormFactor Pte. Ltd. Singapore

FormFactor Singapore Pte. Ltd. Singapore

Astria Semiconductor Holdings, Inc Delaware, United States
Micro-Probe Incorporated California, United States
Microprobe HongKong Limited Hong Kong

Microprobe Technology (Suzhou) Limited People's Republic of China
Microprobe Pte. Limited (Singapore) Singapore

The Micromanipulator Co., Inc Delaware, United States



EXHIBIT 23.01

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémtlee Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N8-B3043, 333-115137, 333-
125918, 333-139074, 333-148198, 333-149411, 33B1%,7333-165058, 333-172318, 333-179589 and 3338®@1of FormFactor, Inc. of
our report dated March 13, 2013 relating to tharitial statements and the effectiveness of intewratrol over financial reporting, which
appears in this Form 10-K.

/s/ PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

San Jose, California
March 13, 2013

1



EXHIBIT 31.01

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 15 U.S.C. SECTION 7241, AS
ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Thomas St. Dennis, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed the Annual Report on FormKl6f FormFactor, Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ort@amstate a material fact necessary t
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nistadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemems other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

€) Designed such disclosure controls and proesgor caused such disclosure controls and proesdarbe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifg prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over finanogdorting, or caused such internal control oveaifirial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atamuce with generally accepted accounting princjples

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsatitclosure controls and procedures and preséentai report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period coveyehis report based on
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thastegnt's internal control over financial reportithgit occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regis's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, the registrant's internal control over finahceporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer antllve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataumnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@ispersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal oboirer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant's ability to record, process, summaaizé report financial
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inved management or other employees who have aisamtifole in the
registrant's internal control over financial repugt

Date: March 13, 2013 /sl THOMAS ST. DENNIS

Thomas St. Dennis
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer and Director)




EXHIBIT 31.02

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 15 U.S.C. SECTION 7241,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Michael M. Ludwig , certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed the Annual Report on FormKl6f FormFactor, Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ort@amstate a material fact necessary t
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nistadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemems other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

€) Designed such disclosure controls and proesgor caused such disclosure controls and proesdarbe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifg prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over finanogdorting, or caused such internal control oveaifirial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atamuce with generally accepted accounting princjples

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsatitclosure controls and procedures and preséentai report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period coveyehis report based on
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thastegnt's internal control over financial reportithgit occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regis's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, the registrant's internal control over finahceporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer antllve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataumnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@ispersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal oboirer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant's ability to record, process, summaaizé report financial
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inved management or other employees who have aisamtifole in the
registrant's internal control over financial repugt

Date: March 13, 2013 /sl MICHAEL M. LUDWIG

Michael M. Ludwig
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accoumty Officer)




EXHIBIT 32.01

CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report on Annual Répa Form 10K of FormFactor, Inc., a Delaware corporation, tfog period ende
December 29, 2012 , as filed with the Securities Bxchange Commission, each of the undersignedenffiof FormFactor, Inc. certifies
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adoptedipnt$o Section 906 of the Sarbar®@sley Act of 2002, that, to his respective knowledg

(1) the annual report fully complies with the regments of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Secwgizchange Act of 1934, as
amended; and

(2) the information contained in the annual refaily presents, in all material respects, thaficial condition and results of
operations of FormFactor, Inc. for the periods enésd therein.

Date: March 13, 2013 /sl THOMAS ST. DENNIS
Thomas St. Dennis
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer and Director)
Date: March 13, 2013 /sl MICHAEL M. LUDWIG
Michael M. Ludwig
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accoumig Officer)




